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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed
to accommodate companies to which a higher
investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks
of investing in such companies and should make
the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration. The greater risk profile and other
characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market
more suited to professional and other sophisticated
investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on
GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility
than securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be
a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for
the contents of this report, make no representation as to
its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any
liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or
in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of
this report.

This report, for which the directors of Asian Capital
Resources (Holdings) Limited collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in
compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited for the purpose of giving information with
regard to Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited.
The directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief: (1)
the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading; (2)
there are no other matters the omission of which would
make any statement in this report misleading; and (3) all
opinions expressed in this report have been arrived at after
due and careful consideration and are founded on bases
and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EFHRE

Dear Valued Shareholders,

INTRODUCTION

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Asian
Capital Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | wish to
summarise hereunder, the recovery process undertook
by Management together with the guidance provided
by the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 18t
January, 2022, regarding the “resumption guidance for
the Company”. GEM Rule 17.26 imposes a continuing
obligation on Issuers:

It was communicated to the Company that “an Issuer”
shall carry out, directly and indirectly, a sufficient level of
operations or have tangible assets of sufficient value and/
or intangible assets for which a sufficient potential value
can be demonstrated to the Stock Exchange to warrant
the continued listing of the Issuer’s securities”,

GEM Rule 9.04 states that:

“...the Exchange may direct a trading halt or suspend
dealings in an Issuer’s securities regardless of whether or
not the Issuer has requested the same and may do so in
any circumstances”,

Listing Decisions (LD35-2012 and LD88-2015) described
the purposes behind the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Main Board Rule”)
13.24 (which is equivalent to GEM Rule 17.26) and provide
guidance on the application of the Rule, being:

“...Rule 13.24 is intended to maintain overall market quality,
Issuers that fail to meet this Rule are “blue sky companies”
where public investors have no information about their
business plans and prospects. This leaves much room
for the market to speculate on their possible acquisitions
in the future. To allow these Issuers’ shares to continue
to trade and list may have an adverse impact on investor
confidence.”

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited | Annual Report 2021
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When applying Rule 13.24 to Issuers whose shares are
trading on the Stock Exchange, the Stock Exchange
generally allows their shares to continue to trade as long as
they have an operation and meet the continuing disclosure
obligations. If the Stock Exchange were to suspend these
Issuers because of their low level of activities or asset
values, public shareholders would have no access to the
market for trading the Issuers’ shares. To balance the
public shareholders’ interests with the need to maintain
market quality, the Stock Exchange suspends trading only
in extreme cases,

Guidance from HK Stock Exchange:

Accordance to the guidance letter issued by the Stock
Exchange - Guidance on sufficiency of operations (HKEX-
GL106-19 (dated 1 October 1, 2019) relating to Main
Board Rule 13.24 and GEM Rule 17.26, the background
and purpose were stated as follows:

“...1. On October 2019, amendments to Rule 13.24 came
into effect. The amended Rule 13.24 imposes a continuing
listing obligation on a listed Issuer to maintain a business
with a sufficient level of operations and assets of sufficient
value to support its operations to warrant its continued
listing.”

“...2. In recent years the prevalence of backdoor listings
has resulted in a substantial increase in the value of a
listing status, leading to extensive activities related to
investors acquiring controls of listed issuers for their listing
platforms (rather than the underlying business) for eventual
backdoor listings, and listed Issuers undertaking corporate
actions (such as disposals of businesses) to facilitate the
sale of their listing platforms....” (the reasoning for the
Guideline).

CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EFHRE

ANALYSIS PREPARED BY THE COMPANY FOR
CONSIDERATION OF THE LISTING COMMITTEE

The Board had humbly submitted the Company’s own
analysis of compliance to the Listing GEM Rules, for
consideration of the Listing Committee in 2021 as follows:

(@) Rules’ compliance:

The Company had, for the past periods, in full
compliance to the GEM Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Exchange as set out in Appendix
7, Part A relating to the listing agreement, and in
particular the Company had informed the Stock
Exchange and shareholders any information relating
to its group which is necessary to enable them and
the public to appraise the position of its Group,
irrespective of the negative impact over the share
price of the Company, as illustrated from the historical
share values of the Company, and at no time,
attempts to avoid the establishment of a false market
in the Company’s securities;

(b) The continuous pursuits of business opportunities
and consulting and services agreements by the
Group’s management (the “Management”) over
the period, and in particular the rolling out of the
Bohu e-commerce and media platform (the “media
platform”) demonstrates that the Management has no
plan, nor the intent as stipulated under the Guideline
Letter HKEX-GL-106-19 to carry on minimum volume
of business for management and shareholders’
changes. Please be advised that Mr. Xie Xuan, the
principal shareholders and, the chairman and chief
executive of the Company has tirelessly, endeavor to
the best of his ability, together with his management
team, to improve over the value of the Company for
the interest of shareholders;

(c) As explained and illustrated as follows, the business
activities of the Company were severely affected by
the various regulatory changes in the industrial sector
that prohibited engaging in the services without the
risk of government’s action over the entrusted loan
and consultation services for grey area structures that
impacted foreign direct investments into China, vis-
a-vis foreign exchange compliance and regulatory
implementation.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited | Annual Report 2021
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Since 2018, the geopolitical, foreign investment
controls over PRC companies going overseas and
on the property sector together with the social
movements affecting Hong Kong for an extended
period as well as the covid-19 pandemic had caused
disruption to the Company to embark into the various
rejuvenated business plans of the Company without
delayed.

In order to recapitalize the financial base of the
Company, the Company commenced the share
consolidation exercise in February 2020. Due to the
pandemic, the final completion of the consolidation
was only finalized in December, 2020, even with
lawyers’ assistance, and by then, the Stock Exchange
issued directive to prevent the company engaging
in any share placements or share issuance exercise
until the GEM Rule 17.26 issue be resolved, this
had definitely serious impact over the maintenance
of sufficient assets to support the expansion of the
business in pursuit.

Consultancy Business businesses pursuits:

Based on the disclosures made in the Circular dated
10 September, 2014, in relating to the “Acquisitions”
of equity interest in investment and management
and consultancy business, of which the transaction
Acquisitions were approved by the shareholders with
the view that the Acquisitions were in line with the
diversification strategy of the Group, by using the
IPTV and media value-added services as feeder to the
consultancy and management advisory agreements,
which was in line with the growth strategy of the
Company at that time.

As further discussed in the circular, “according to
the 2013 Annual Report, the Group has faced with
intensified competition and increased concentration
in the IPTV industry as well as the challenging macro-
economic conditions in the PRC in 2013 and the
management was able to focus on its strategy of
diversification”.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EFHRE

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited |

The Acquisitions which Such acquired licensed
entity’s business in 2014 by the Group, can be
summarized as provider of the various stages
of financing, comprising of entrusted loan and
consultation, described as follows:

() The consulting entities (i.e. the target companies
of the Acquisition and subsequent formation of
new entities in compliance to the applicable rules
on private equity and consultancy operations)
shall, acted as the private equity investment
manager, initiates set up private equity
investment entity based on limited partnership
and raising funds from high net-worth investors
and their operating entities, through private
equity, of which the consulting entity will act as
General Partner for the Partnership Fund; and

(i) The consulting entity shall provide entrusted
loan to target enterprises to achieve interest and
benefits.

The financing, consultancy and management model
had provided the Company with reasonably growth
following the acquisition until major regulatory
changes in PRC which forced the Group to modified
the revenue model in order to comply with the various
measures and directives, in order as to protect the
Company and her the directors (the “Director(s)”) of
the Company from Regulatory breaches if any, which
will have detrimental effects over the business in
pursuits.

Based on the report from Anjie Law Firm issued in
PRC on year 2018 titled “China Issue New Rules
to Regulate Shadow Banking - an interpretation
of CBRC’s Measures on Entrusted Loans”, it
reconfirmed the needs of strategy and structural
change, in order to comply with the Regulatory
modification that affects the consultancy business of
the Company and the modification is clearly for the
best interest of the Shareholders of the Company as
a whole.
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It was reported that “China Issue New Rules to
Regulate Shadow Banking - an interpretation of
CBRC’s Measures on Entrusted Loans”, and the
modification is clearly for the best interest of the
Shareholders of the Company as a whole.

In January, 2018, China Banking Regulatory
Commission (“CBRC”) released the Measures for the
Administration of Entrusted Loans by Commercial
Banks to regulate entrusted loans and monitor risks
thereof. In order to enhance the Governance of
the Company, the Board had tirelessly endeavored
to seek alternative legally acceptable structure to
ensure that the consultancy and asset management
businesses can be sustainable and growth,

On 30 August 2017, The State Council of the
People’s Republic of China’s State Council released
another consultation paper for Interim regulations
for Administration of Private Investment Fund and
once adopted, will would afford the China Securities
Regulatory Commission (“CSRC”) with sufficient
statutory grounds to enact further detailed rules
involving administrative penalties and to take
enforcement actions to issue these administrative
penalties to violators and was recommended in
2017/2018 periods, foreign managers as ACR Capital
Management Limited would need to assess their
current PRC presence continue to be in compliance.

At the end of 2019, Asset Management & Venture
Capital Association of China (“AMAC”) issued another
critical document, the Notice for the Recordation
of Privately Offered Investments Funds, which aims
to enhance compliance operations and improve
industry integrity by strengthening the requirements
for participants of private investment funds and
standardizing the fund manager’s fund raising
activities.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EFHRE

Corporate Compliance:

In strict compliance to the Notice for the Recordation of
Privately Offered Investment Funds issued by AMAC on 23
December 2019, and to be specific, the following behaviors
are prohibited:

— Engage in credit and loan business of financial
institutions in disguise, or directly invest in the credit
assets of financial institutions;

— Engage in regular and operational private lending
activities, including above activities, through entrusted
loans and trust loans;

— By setting up unconditional rigid repurchase to
engage in borrowing or saving lending activities
in disguise, the fund income is not linked to the
operating performance or income of the investment
object;

— It is not allowed to invest in enterprises that involving
private lending ending, private financing, capital
allocating, micro-financing, micro-lending, P2P/P2B,
crowdfunding, real estate development, and

— Engage in the above activities indirectly or in disguise
by investing in partnerships, companies, asset
management products, etc.

The Company Executives with full understanding of the
limitation for non-organic growth model under the Listing
GEM Rules, managed to embark, with full compliance
to the Regulatory directives, explored alternative asset
management structure in Singapore, (i.e the Variable
Capital Company structure) in 2018 for the continuation
of the Company’s business. In addition to the search
for best structure for the consultancy business, the
Company recognized that the Hong Kong Government
was contemplating to encourage the Asset Management
sector in the City financial services, for legislating a new
Ordinance under the ambit of Limited Partnership Funds,
which offer favorable choice of venue for engaging in such
business, very much in line with the business pursuit of the
Company.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited | Annual Report 2021
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Unfortunate for the Company, the legislation process
was only completed on August 2020, and throughout the
year 2018-2020, the Company encountered tremendous
challenges due to the City’s social movements throughout
2019, and the World economic disputes and the upsurge
of covid-19 Pandemic. All these factors had seriously
disrupted the consummation of sustainable management
contracts for revenues.

The Company has always respected the governance and
regulatory compliance over her business pursuit. The
Group remains continuously prudent notwithstanding that
the performance of the Company had been subjected
to criticism by both Shareholders and the Regulators for
slow progress. The Management considered that adopting
a conservative approach, is far more favorable than to
engage in risky prepositions that might end up with legal
and regulatory breaches, detrimental to the operation of
the Company as a whole.

As discussed in three quarterly financial reports in 2021,
the Group’s management and consulting business;
nevertheless, was only able to navigate through the most
challenging years of 2020 and 2021 with steady services,
especially in respect of the assistance provided to our
Company’s clients on social responsibility obligations
during the pandemic years. McKinsey’s article stated
that McKinsey & Company doesn’t believe this is down
to weaker fundamentals of the industry, and the global
consulting group predicts the industry opportunities will still
be there and is expecting more growth going forward.

Growth in the Chinese private equity market is mainly
driven by three trends: a continuous growth in average
deal size, a shift from minority deals to control investments,
and a concentration of LP investments in the top 10 funds,
in McKinsey'’s view.
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Nevertheless, the Board engaged whole-heartedly, ever
since the introduction of the Limited Partnership Fund
Ordinance in Hong Kong, the advisory, private equity and
value enhancement approach in contract, in line with the
encouragement given by both the Financial Secretary, and
Mr. Christopher Hui, Secretary for Financial Services and
the Treasury of the SAR Hong Kong Government at the
Asian financial forum 2021, reiterated that Hong Kong is
a premier asset and wealth management center and the
Hong Kong Government is promoting the development
of more real estate investment trusts and family office
business. To propel Hong Kong to be a preferred fund
domicile, an open-fund company and limited partnership
fund regime was introduced in 2018 and 2020 respectively.
Further tax concession for carried interest issued by private
equity be extended, which will provide substantial attractive
return to the revenue model under the registered fund,
administered by the Company.

Regrettably, despite all the efforts made during the last two
years on re-positioning of the consultancy business to a
more solid ground, with strict compliance to the changing
legislations, the Stock Exchange divisional views still held
that the Company had failed to maintain a sustainable
business to maintain listing, and that the reduction of
revenue was not in fact temporarily, as determined by the
Management, with the various new business diversification
resting under the same line of business. The Board firmly
considered that with the successful registration of the two
Limited Partnership Funds (“LPF”), as illustrated under
the MDA of the report, the Group is again well position
to ascertain steady and sustainable management fees
from the developments and successful launching of the
operations.

Based on the deals tracker maintained, the Company also
is at the critical juncture, to capture the feeder advantages
of the Media Platform that the Company is actively in
pursuit in Guangzhou and Yancheng, which enable the
Company to secure more major services contracts as
those announced in December, 2021 on the award winning
“eSports MCN system”, to expand on the solutions to KOL
operations.
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Media and multi-channels marketing services:

In recognizing that digital migration is necessary to provide
the value-added services within the media sector to the
Group’s enterprise clients, the Group had initiated and
proceeded to upgrade the marketing and enterprise
relationship management from radio only platform to a
more robust, multi-channel platform throughout the year.

The Company’s executives, following a careful review of
the rejuvenation plan for the Group, had observed the
importance of the paradigm shift of the market to a more
vibrant e-commerce sector, with more customer awareness
of quality, service and customer’s online shopping
experience. The Company therefore had embarked since
the fourth quarter of 2020, in building up a supply-chain
and management platform to re-engineer the management
of the Company’s digital risks and suppliers’ credit control
aimed to provide services within the e-commerce market
place, with the ability to fully adopt the livestream business
by promoting the services of the Influencers in livestream
e-commerce.

E-commerce marketplace is extremely dynamic and fast-
paced. Hence, businesses should and must always track
the results and finetune in a data-driven manner in addition
to the traditional trading business model, and required the
Company to offer omnichannel customer support, engaging
with your consumers at every stage of their purchase
journal, and build a customer centric culture, and provide
analyses to the sourcing executives on merchandise with
customer data and provide personalized contents. The
strategy adopted was clearly not with the intent to maintain
minimum level of operations in order to facilitate the sale of
the Listed Entity with ease.

E-commerce businesses are shifting from the selling the
product itself (Revenue model) towards the holistic services
that come with the sales of the merchandise. Online
shoppers now emphasis on the overall digital shopping
experience a brand and the Shop Platform hosted at the
technology platforms, instead of the simple usability of
a product. The transformation is particularly distinctive
within the retail and e-commerce industry in China, which
the Company is actively engaged upon based on the
rejuvenation plan instigated.
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Since many of the small SMEs in the Guangzhou region
experienced difficulty to compete with major producers
of merchandise with their e-commerce platforms, due
to lack of funds to invest, lack of skills on supply chain
management and lack of scalability when volume growth.
This is catastrophic when the PRC Government started
to regulate on the e-commerce beginning in March 2021,
and each e-commerce stakeholders are to observe very
stringent regulatory rules, and the Shops organized must
be able to attain the Principal status, instead of the agency
role in the past, when technology companies just recorded
GMV for their e-commerce Sales, and the KOLs’ shop only
played the role of marketing agents without obligations,
and the suppliers or manufacturers of merchandise had
no control over the products’ authenticity, quality and
representation and disclosures necessity.

With the rise of new business models as “social media
e-commerce” and “livestream e-commerce”, the PRC
Government realized the limitations of the existing
regulatory rules, which are increasing exposed to
bypassing. On 15th March 2021, the State Administration
for Market Regulation promulgated the Measures for the
Supervision and Administration of Online Transaction. The
Measures reiterate the legal principles of personal data
protection and the obligation of protecting consumer rights
and interest. The following compliance which imposed
Principal status for all e-commerce online shops, when
selling merchandise, to register with the competent SAMR
authority and to review and improve the procedures for
enterprises sending and dissimilate marketing and sales
material, as well as the final products to customers.
The measures would require the multi-channel platform
operators to be subjected to penalties and credit-worthy
downgrading as a business unit, and not as Agent for
Principal.

I wish to thank on behalf of the Shareholders and the Board
of Executive Director to the management of the Group
for their tireless effects working towards the tightening
regulatory oversights, volatile world political environment
and the social and economic crises brought by the covid
pandemic, to maintain sufficient level of operations for the
interest of investors under the revised business model.
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According to the McKinsey & Company “China Consumer
Report 2011, the report being issued in November 2020
reaffirmed the strategic findings of the Company that in
order to have sustainable and profitable future for our
Growth Enterprise, we must adopt:

(a)

To accelerate online and omni-channel operations

(b)

To built a resilient and balanced supply chain and
(c) To improve the Group’s agility in the e-commerce
pursuits;

To the Management, we are confidence that China shall
continue to be the engine that powers global consumption
growth and with the revised focus by the Group on
consultancy and media and marketing pursuits, the
Investors should find the operations of the Group are
of value, and there is clearly the intention of the major
shareholders to be committed to re-engineer a sustainable
Growth Enterprise.

APPRECIATION

| would like to take this opportunity to express, as
Chairman, my sincere gratitude to our shareholders,
customers and business partners for their continuous
supports and trust, and extend my heartiest thanks and
appreciation to our fellow directors for their guidance and
to all staffs for their hard work and contributions, during
these challenging periods. Looking ahead, we will continue
our endeavor to overcome the future challenges and
enhance the value of our business.
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As a result of continuous applications of the Listing Rules
by the Hong Kong Exchange, where the Company is
listed, the Management had taken such opportunity to
clarify and communicate a much clearer company vision
and purpose both internally and externally, thought
without much success with the Committees of the Listing
Regulators, but the Company find that in doing so, the
initiatives had deepen trust with employees, business
partners, customers and consumers, a must attributes
for sustainable developments, and irrespective of the
end results that the Management can achieve over the
resumption application, the Board believes that such
policy has tremendous improved internal operational
control, and ultimate attainment of the ESG directives for a
investable entity. The resilient efforts that management and
major shareholders devoted has nevertheless improved
stakeholder engagement and competitive advantage to the
Group in her business pursuits.

Xie Xuan
Chairman

Hong Kong
14 April 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue and loss attributable to shareholders

The total revenue including merchandise sold by Bohu
shops, and consultancy services income of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2021 was approximately
HK$31,695,000 (2020: HK$14,354,000) which increase by
approximately 120% as compared to that of the previous
financial year.

The increase in total revenue is attributed to the increase
of the management services provided by consulting
and media services. The audited consolidated loss for
the year ended 31 December 2021 was approximately
HK$16,210,000 as compared with the loss of
corresponding period last year of HK$13,813,000. The
increase was mainly attributed to increase in administrative
and operating expenses and impairment loss on goodwill.

Finance costs

The finance costs of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021 was approximately HK$577,000 (2020:
HK$574,000) which had increased by approximately 0.5%
as compared to that of the same period of last year.

Liquidity, financial resources and capital structure

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s
borrowing consists of amounts due to associates of
HK$3,021,000, amount due to the Company’s substantial
shareholder of approximately HK$2,781,000, and an
amount due to a director of approximately HK$6,254,000.
Due to the decision of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, the
Company was unable to recapitalize the financial resources
and relied for the year of 2021, the operating cash flow
and when necessary, apart from consultancy services, the
financing from a major shareholder.

The Group had a cash and bank balance of approximately
HK$4,681,000 (2020: HK$7,061,000). The Group
continues to adopt a prudent treasury policy to maintain
its cash and bank balance either in Hong Kong Dollars,
or in the local currencies of the operating subsidiaries,
maintaining a minimum exposure to foreign exchange risks
and to utilise surplus cash to expand the operation of the
Group.
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EIRET R & 54T

The issued share capital of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021 was HK$20,090,204(2020:
HK$200,902,041 before a 10 share to 1 consolidation), as
the capital reduction of HK$1.0 per share to HK$0.1 per
share was effective on 14 January 2021.

Gearing ratio

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the gearing ratio of
the Group, expressed as a percentage of net debt divided
by the total capital plus net debt, was 122.25% (2020:
71.87%).

Employee and remuneration policies

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
employed a total of 33 employees (2020: 65), of which 5
were located in Hong Kong, 27 were located in the PRC
and the remaining 1 in USA. The Group’s remuneration
policies are in line with the prevailing market practices and
formulated on the basis of performance and experience
of the employees. The salary and related benefits of the
employees are rewarded on a performance related basis
and the general remuneration structure of the Group is
subject to review annually.

Material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and
affiliated companies

Deregistration and winding-up of various subsidiaries
in the Group

The Board has resolved that, in order to reduce the
operating costs of the Group, those subsidiaries within
the Group which no longer add value to, nor generate any
income attributable to the Group, should be deregistered,
or voluntarily wound up or ceased operations and the
disposed of at par to improve governance and compliance.

The subsidiary which is currently in the deregistration
process is: Sinobase Asia Limited.

Those subsidiaries which are currently being sold or
voluntarily wound up are: Asian Information Investment
Consulting Limited, BuyCollection.com Limited, and
Myhome Network Limited.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OPERATION REVIEW

The management had been aware that the major
customers of the Group have an intention to change the
consultancy services into assets management services.
Therefore, lost on major customers in consultancy services
segment is the key factor that led to the recognition of
further impairment. During the past year, as the result of
recent success in transforming of the media and marketing
services, under the legally registered e-commerce and
internet sales and marketing service platform of the Group,
there was an increase in the revenue as defined in HKFRS
15 and turnover of the Group from HK$14,354,000 of 2020
to HK$31,695,000 of 2021, and the loss for the year was
HK$16,210,000. Reposition the Group assets by engaging in
the Private Equity business of General Partner’s entitlements,
which should yield considerable good asset appreciation
opportunities to the Group, and to build a more sustainable
tangible assets for the company in the years to come.

Consultancy businesses:

As reported in the previous disclosures under section
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of Annual Reports
and the various submissions to the Stock Exchange, while
continuously review of the Group’s operations had been
instigated based on Rule 17.26 on matters relating to
“Sustainable assets and sufficient operations” enquiries.
Despite the tireless effects made to the General Partnership
consultancy services provided to clients under the newly
enacted Limited Partnership Ordinance, Chapter 671, the
Company was unfortunately as most industries during this
crises period, continuous being disrupted by the resurgent
of the Covid pandemic governmental policies, which made
rolling out of the fund syndications, and the registrations
and opening of bank accounts for the Limited Partnership
entities, having extensively delayed. Nevertheless, we
are pleased to report that two of the Registered Limited
Partnership Fund entities already received approval for
account opening by licensed bank in Hong Kong, and the
Group is currently exploring two other major opportunities,
as illustrated below and proper announcement made before
the end of year, which should yield sustainable consultancy
fees and management fees for the Private Equity Pursuits
with certain level of consistency and comfort.
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Management sincerely hopes that “wave-5" of the
Covid-19 pandemic that Hong Kong encountered, and
the resurgence of cases within China will be substantially
died down shortly, giving more room for and normal
pursuit to the consultancy sector, which forms a major and
continuous operational contribution to the Group in future
years.

Needless to state, the pandemic is having profound
negative impacts, especially due to the prolongment of
the preventive measures adopted by the governments’
worldwide. But the difficulty of meeting people in person,
due to travel restriction and risk associated with such
travel, is having significant consequences because the
private equity deals are in a field that fundamentally relies
on trust, the pandemic is consolidating private equity
fundraising among the PRC’s general partners with
lucrative funding base as limited partners may shy away
from investments into such partnership they have yet
to meet face-to-face. Furthermore, the major impact is
that the source of value creation is shifting from possible
multiple expansions. Nowadays, private equity deals have
become more complex and increasingly resource intensive.
In terms of fundraising, investors dig deeper to understand
how the general partners invest for the private equity, and
whether their strategies will be sustainable in future.

As disclosed, private equity (PE) transactions in China
which was pursued by the Company, include growth
capital investments, syndication of fund(s) and buyout
transactions. One unique aspect is that transactions,
depending on future exit flexibility, may be structured as an
onshore transaction or offshore transaction.

One of our committed clients GuangDong New South
Group (GNSG), within the group, Denglao Herbal Tea
was founded in 2003 and has been operating in Africa
and China with assets in excess of RMB2 billion. The
major products of Denglao Herbal Tea are herbal teas
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

based on the formula created by Professor Deng Tietao,
a Chinese medicine master, with more than 80 years of
profound Chinese medicine theory and clinical experience
and the scientific researches from Guangzhou University
of Traditional Chinese Medicine. Nine of the herbal
tea formulas of Denglao Herbal Tea were elected as
confidential formulas under The National List of Intangible
Cultural Heritage of China in 2006. Denglao Herbal Tea has
established a national Good Agricultural Practices (GAP),
which is the certified pharmaceutical production base
and the first domestic herbal tea research institute in the
PRC to enhance the quality of the products, innovate and
research on new products.

At present, Deng Lao herbal tea has more than 300
chain stores which are located in 5 provinces of the PRC
including Guangdong, Guangxi, Hainan, Fujian and other
major cities with more than 10 kinds of products.

In addition, an associate of Deng Lao, Guangdong New
South Group (“GNSG”), consisting multi-operations that
has complete synergy with the Company’s media and
sales operations, which aims to leverage upon the PRC
Government policy to promote “Chinese medical system”

& gty A

with the concept of homology of medicine and food, “#&

R

The New South Group has around 3 years of business
relationship with GNSG. The Group generated revenue
in the amount of RMB11.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2021, from GNSG.

GNSG'’s subsidiary, GNS Artesunate Pharmaceutical Co.
Ltd. (“GNS Artesunate Pharmaceutical”’) was established
in 2004 and co-founded with the Guangzhou University
of Chinese Medicine and the Guangdong New South
Group (GNSG). GNS Artesunate Pharmaceutical is
principally engaged in production, management, research
and development of artemisia annua, southern medicine
plantation and Chinese herbal medicine and is elected as
the top-500 private technology enterprises in Guangdong
province.
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The major product of the GNS Artesunate Pharmaceutical,
namely “Artemisinin-piperaquine (Artequick®)”, is a new
drug proven by international multi-center clinical study
indicating that it is an efficient, quick, low cost, low side
effects, and performance stable drug for prevention
and treatment of falciparum malaria. It has obtained
national patent protection in 40 countries and trademark
registration in 36 countries. Artequick is a new artemisinin-
based combination therapy (ACT) that combines
artemisinin, piperaquine and a small dose of primaquine. Its
main ingredient artemisinin, now at the front of the world’s
battle with malaria, was discovered by renowned Chinese
scientist Tu Youyou, 2015 Medicine Nobel Prize winner,
from sweet wormwood, a herb mostly grown in China.
It has won many certain awards, and garnered many
certain accolades. It was also listed as the first choice for
prevention, treatment and basic medication of falciparum
malaria by Ministry of Health of the PRC in 2009 and drugs
for Africa’s anti-malaria by the Ministry of Commerce of
the PRC in 2010 and has became one of the main drugs
for falciparum malaria in Nigeria, Tanzania and Kenya.
Furthermore, Deng Lao together with her associates, which
were under consultancy by ACR’s strategic division, has
been in support of the social assistance by the Government
of Guanzhou, following the 5th wave of the pandemic in
Hong Kong, by donating over HK$10 million of the herbal
supplement (& & #X) for the needed of the SAR.

As discussed in prior reports, the Group’s consultancy
business which includes services related to private equities
transactions; nevertheless, was able to navigate through
the most challenging year of 2020 with steady services,
especially in respect of the assistance provided to our
clients on social responsibility obligations during the
pandemic years. The Company has been able to remain
stable by carrying out private equity value added services
and activities. However, regrettably, the Company was
unable to perform much of the value enhancement strategy
to enable the Group to re-capitalise into a healthier financial
position. Moving forward the Company will endeavor to
rebuild the assets and value improvements throughout
2022, when the post-pandemic economic condition
improves.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Despite all the above obstacles, the Group is pleased to
report additional consultancy contracts were secured,
or under negotiation, in the media and supply chain
sector, with registration of the “supply chain fund” Limited
Partnership under Chapter 637, and a letter of intent for
strategic cooperation with Shanghai Zhongwo Cultural
Communication Co. Ltd, as announced in 3rd December,
2021. The company is of the view that the strategic
Cooperation and consultancy business agreement is in
line with the business development strategies and plans of
the Group under the normal course of business, and that
the Strategic Cooperation with Shanghai Zhongwo will be
complimentary to the Group existing multi-media business
in particular the valued-added marketing services of the
KOL platforms.

Furthermore, a consulting contract to an Al technology
Limited Partnership Fund for the media and broadcasting
sector in south East Asia with a high-tech group in
Singapore and Hong Kong, with supporting technologies
support from PRC is under finalization recently. The
Company shall made further disclosures when the
confidentiality clause is lifted.

Nevertheless, the Group’s focus in private equity
investments, consultancy and multi-channel marketing
value-added services are beginning to take shape as
a result of the changes in Hong Kong by the Limited
Partnership Ordinance, and on 31 July 2020 the CSRC
issued consultation papers on Measures for the Supervision
and Administration of Public offered Securities Investment
Fund Managers. The Measures and Implementation
Provisions aim to revise and improve the old measures
for fund management companies issued in 2012. The key
amendments include improving the approval process for
fund management companies, strengthening on-going
supervision, optimizing the public fund management license
mechanism, and enhancing the government structure
of fund management companies, all of which provides
better and a clearer legislative supports that the Company
operates under, and be beneficial to the strategic growth
plan of the Company, as a whole. The Board is confident
that our business pursuits be return to normal which will be
beneficial to our application for resumption of trading, after
the result’s announcement was made.
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Digital Marketing and digital platform service and
operation:

According to the Web Intelligence & Distributed Computing
Research Lab, (debajyoti.mukhopadhyay.sangeeta.

BBEHRMBEERBUREE

IRIBHHEE B M0 st B AT T B 52 = (debajyoti.

mukhopadhyay.sangeeta.mishra@gmail.com) °

mishra@gmail.com), e-commerce is an emerging technology,
and not similar with the ordinary trading business activities
of the past where it is relatively easy to enter and exit.
Impact of this new technology is getting clearer with time
and results are tangible to the user community.

E-commerce, as illustrated by the Hong Kong over the
prospects of KOL and e-commerce activities which rely on
paradigms, infrastructure integration and security, which
is not as easy to duplicate and manage, leading to not so
success within Hong Kong PRC, but has been successfully
implemented in the People’s Republic of China, due to
supports and integrations possible on logistic, media and
communication developments, digitize payments and
programming and Abb-applications.

E-commerce basically means using network (internet) to
carry out all activities involved in business management
and operation: buying and selling of products and services,
technology and partner search, dealing with counterparts,
choosing the most convenient transportation and
insurances, performing financial settlement transaction,
paying and billing, communication and virtual-shop design,
displaced and risk management over receivables, unlike the
old trading practices of simply using Bank’s letter of credit
supports and relatively bulk buy and sales operations.

The Company had since 2019, engaging in perfecting the
e-commerce operations by investing and testing over the
direct marketing system over the ability to generating and
qualifying leads, using both internet and physical events
to promote products and services, executing instant
fulfillment on the Bohu management systems, generating
orders through the internet and media with the ability to
enhancing the extended customers relationship with the
internet.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Company is pleased to report that the Channel
Management System from the e-commerce platform
demonstrated encouraging growth in the operational
pursuits with results significant improved and can be
confidently stated of sustainable developments as
attributes, according to the summary illustrated as follows:

EEESTR R 5T

RARIRARRE - BEETFENREEEESAN
MEXEHR2HENE AR - ZEKNBIRA
AREHEEEEY ARFERE  BERE
FIRuN

E-commerce sales volume for the year (Per PRC records)

EETTHTHERIRIBE M RHMEHE)

2021
T4
Q1 Q2 Q3
E—FE E-FF BT
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$ 000
FET FHET FHET
_ 23,757 17,388

Number of customers served for the year (Per PRC records)
Z2ERBEFE (RIBE MR EHIECER)

2021
T4
Q1 Q2 Q3
£ St $=3F
= 64,043 83,293
Revenue from e-commerce operations

Recognizing the important of the paradigm shift over
a more regulated, supervised and license mandatory
operating environment for the multi-channel marketing
sector, the Company had assisted and established a range
of effective practices and tools to ensure compliance and
sustainable business pursuits in the sector KOL marketing
in China is now indispensable for brands. The systems and
securities and risk management programmes developed
over the platform which secure electronic transaction
are therefore provide: (1) confidentiality, (2) integrity (3)
availability (4) authenticity, (5) non-repudiability and (6)
auditability consist of huge intangible value to the Company
in her future operations and pursuits, with great attributes
to the best interest of the Company’s shareholders, as a
whole.

Q4 Aggregate Total

EHIE T A3

HK$'000 HK$ 000

T T

50,226 91,371

Q4 Aggregate Total

EHIE S A3t

157,013 304,349
EHEEmARE
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Optimism was further boosted by our media subsidiary
achieving third place in the “Kuaishou” technology
platform as illustrated in the report, and the recognition
was clearly helpful to give management and staff the
necessary recognition of their committed effort to turn-
around the Group’s operation in a sustainable manner.
Changing market scenario puts pressure on business
persons, particular SME Enterprises to adopt new and
smart strategies to reach the pinnacle of success. The
Management has been unfettered in improving and
revitalizing the Company’s operations, to serve our clientele
to demonstrate that business strategies followed would
satisfy both Listing Rules compliance, as well as yielding
best possible interest to Investors and stakeholders
over the confident they have placed with the Company
to turnaround the adversity faced over the last couple
of years, both due to regulatory and market conditional
changes.

The Management further observed towards the year ending
2021 that PRC Government is tightening scrutiny of its
tech-development enterprises operating within China. In a
sign that regulators are now bolstering their punitive muscle
to rein in tech companies, the Management decided to
approach the multi-channel marketing businesses with
great care and as a Listed Company, full compliance
and responsibility for studying the new development and
regulatory trend of the internet space mindset were taken
in order to provide sustainable return to the shareholders.

Future Prospects:

The Company would also like to note that the major
shareholder of the Company, Asian Dynamics International
Limited (“Asian Dynamics”) and majority owned as to
67.18% by Mr. Xie Xuan has remained the same for no less
than 16 years, and the management of the Company has
remained intact since Mr. Xie Xuan, the current chairman
and executive director, elected to the Board in June 19,
2002. The Company believes that continuous support
from the major shareholder, representing over 70% of
current liabilities and stable management team are critical
in pursuing and improving the business development and
sustainability of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In addition, the major shareholder Asian Dynamics has
provided interest in participating a possible Rrights issue
that the Group is considering. The expected use of
proceeds from the right issue will be used to finance the
development and growth of the Group’s businesses.

The prospect of 2022 might still be clouded by the
uncertainties with the global economy still affected by
the ongoing political issues and a growing corona virus
pandemic particularly in Hong Kong during the 5th-wave
by the omicron virus. However, the Board feels that it is
only for a short-term basis and it has provided the Group
with an opportunity to reposition itself to achieve better
return for shareholders in the long run. More specifically,
the corona virus has served as proof that the vision of the
Group to focus on the health and wellness sector to be of
an accurate path. With the emphasis on the health focused
partnership as well as big data management and value
enhancement preposition offered by Company, it all points
towards a mutually promising business for 2022 and years
to come in future.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Xie Xuan
Chairman

Mr. Xie, aged 52, joined the Group in 2002. Mr. Xie holds
directorships in various subsidiaries of the Group. Before
joining the Group he has over 20 years of successful
investment and management experience in the areas of
property and logistics in the People’s Republic of China.
He graduated from Jinan University, the PRC with a degree
in International Economics.

Dr. Feng Ke

Dr. Feng, aged 50, joined the Group in October 2008. Dr.
Feng holds a Ph.D. in Economics from Peking University,
People’s Republic of China. He is currently the deputy
director of Peking University’s Center for Financial
Innovation and Development. Dr. Feng currently serves as
an independent non-executive director of China Huirong
Financial Holdings Limited (stock code: 01290) and
Zhuguang Holdings Group Company Limited (stock code:
01176).

Mr. Huang Haitao

Mr. Huang, aged 43, has more than 20 years of large-
scale real estate projects engineering construction
and management experience. In recent years, he has
been involved in investment and financing and resource
integration practices in industrial investment.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited | Annual Report 2021
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Wu Jixue

Mr. Wu, aged 76, holds a Master degree in Economics.
He is currently a professor, guest lecturer and visiting
scholar at a number of colleges and universities in the
PRC and abroad. He has published more than 262 papers
and 18 books in the areas of economics, finance and
management.

Mr. Zheng Hongliang

Mr. Zheng, aged 63, was graduated from the Department
of Economic of Renmin University of China with a Master
Degree in 1987. Currently Mr. Zheng is a researcher of
the Institute of Economics of the Chinese Academy of
Social Sciences and a doctoral student supervisor of
the Graduate School of the Chinese Academy of Social
Sciences. Mr. Zheng'’s field of research mainly covers the
areas in respect of microeconomics, comparative study
of corporate system, theory of corporate governance, and
revolution of state enterprises. Meanwhile, Mr. Zheng is
currently the Executive Vice-Editor-in-Chief and the director
of editorial office of Economic Research Journal (“ (£
JERTZT) ), which is a leading PRC journal in economic
theory research published by the Institute of Economics of
Chinese Academy of Social Science. Mr. Zheng currently
serves as an independent non-executive director of C.
banner International Holdings Limited (stock code: 01028).

Dr. Wang Yi

Dr. Wang Yi, aged 51, professor of Beijing Technology
and Business University, doctoral supervisor, Ph.D. in the
School of Economics and Business Administration, Beijing
Normal University, his main research fields are business
management, labor economics, and macroeconomics. Dr.
Wang concurrently serves as a council member of China
Business Economics Association, China Labor Economics
Association, China Educational Economics Association and
China Disabled Persons’ Federation.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Ying Yuk Sim

Ms. Ying has over 20 years of experience in accounting,
financial control, corporate finance and personal financial
planning. She had previously served in a number of
Hong Kong listed companies and private companies with
investment in China, in the fields of banking, construction,
trading and manufacturing, property management and
insurance company. Ms. Ying holds a Master Degree
in Business Administration from Manchester Business
School, University of Manchester. In addition, she is a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

VICE PRESIDENT
Mr. Tsao Ke Wen

Mr Tsao joined the group on 16 December 2021, he holds
a Bachelor of Science Degree (Econ.) in Accounting &
Financial Management from University of Buckingham
(UK), he had 25 years of experience in advisory, corporate
planning, merger acquisition and restructuring. He had
previously served a number of Hong Kong listed companies
with multi-investments and real estate business in Mainland
China and Hong Kong.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

| Annual Report 2021

EREEAS

ABIWE

B E /A

MBMBEEEE &5 MBEE &%
BEREAVBRIER - REERNZEE
TEBEEREZBEE LM RARNMMARE %
BRESRRITE 28X BHREEX
WMEEEMRBRARE o A/MARKE S BT
FHABHTFHERREIHERRLE
7 o N - BRRBERALREIMAG2E
REERBBEFMAEEE -

LGS
ERXRE

B R2021F12 A 16 B IMMAKREB - 5
BREOSZEREGHUENKERRESB L2
(BRI DERE - HEFEER
HEB2FEH -  ERBERERBEELTA
AMTETREAREEEREFBERLRE
7 o



=}

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) submit their
report together with the audited financial statements of the
Company and the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set
out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. An
analysis of the Group’s revenue and loss before taxation for
the year ended 31 December 2021 by principal activities is
as follows:

EEEHRE

RARTEE(EE)ENHEREETEREUR
AAFRAERHEE-_E-_—F+_A=+—
BIEFE 2 S EZM R -

REBREBRBEI S 2EEDT

RRBZ FBEBRIREER - GHEKEB LR
TEXBZHFRBHNGEE W ERRMEI6 -
AEBHE-E-—F A=t —AILFE
REBRBE 5 2 W MR AT EE DT
™

Profit/(loss)
before
Revenue taxation
BxBimEaF
W #s (E548)
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#ET FH&T
By Principal activities: BEEZEBES :
Consultancy service income fBE AR TS U A 26,019 5,267
Media services income A RIS WA 5,676 (10,363)

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and loss before taxation
for the year ended 31 December 2021 by geographical
areas is as follows:

AEEBE—T_—F+-_A=+t—HILFE
S 2 Wk KRB ATE RO T

Profit/(loss)
before
Revenue taxation
BrBiRiEEF
W is (E518)
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT THET
By geographical areas i & 5
PRC Y 31,695 (13,321)
Total 5T 31,695 (13,321)
TMNEEGER)BRAE | —T=—FFR
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The loss for the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021 and the financial position of the Group at that date
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on
pages 98 to 223 of this Annual Report.

The Directors do not recommend payment of a dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page
224,

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note
14 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of sales and purchases for the year
attributable to the Group’s major customers and suppliers
are as follows:

RERIRE
AEBBE—_T-_—Ft-A=1+—HLFE
ZE B RAREBRZ B 2 SRR B R ANE R
98 E 223 H ZERA MM °

EETERRBERE_T_—F+_A=1+—
HIEFERS(ZZE_ZF &) -

MHEREE

AEBRNBEREAYRFEZFREREERR
EMETHNE 2248 -

Yk - BEXRRE
REBRFAZNE  BERREEDFER

KA EHMARMEE 14

EEERRHER
AEBEEES RHEREE TR HE KRB
ARHMT ;

2021 2020
—B-—F —T-ZTF
Sales HE
The largest customer BAREP 42.57% 89.95%
Five largest customers combined hAREFPER 89.90% 99.06%
Purchases g
The largest supplier BAHERY 47.40% 33.37%
Five largest suppliers combined hARHEREE 95.17% 95.45%

None of the Directors or any of their close associates,
or any shareholder (which to the best knowledge of the
Directors, owns 5% or more of the Company’s issued
shares) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s above-
mentioned customers and suppliers.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year ended 31 December 2021.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands
which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a
pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Based on information which is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as
at the latest practicable date prior to the issuance of this
annual report, the Directors can confirm that at least 25%
of the Company’s total listed issued share capital has at all
times been held by the public, as required by Rule 11.23 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group
during the year is set out in note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements and the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the Company has no reserves
available for distribution to shareholders (2020: Nil) in
accordance with the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands
and the Company’s articles of association.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Xie Xuan (Chairman)
Dr. Feng Ke
Mr. Huang Haitao
Mr. Liao Haifei
(resigned on 29 November 2021)
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DIRECTORS (Cont’d)
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wu Jixue
Mr. Zheng Hongliang
Dr. Wang Yi

In accordance with Article 87(1) and 86(3) of the articles
of association of the Company, Mr. Wu Jixue, Mr. Zheng
Hongliang and Dr. Wang Yi shall retire from office by
rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company. The retiring Directors, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

None of the Directors to be proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
has an unexpired service contract that is not determinable
by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year
without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensations.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed, none of the directors had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, in any contract of
significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the
year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Group was entered into or subsisted during the year.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Particulars of retirement benefit schemes are set out in
note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

(A)

Interests and short positions of the Directors in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short
positions of the Directors and chief executive of
the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares,
or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance, Cap. 571, (“SFQ”)
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) were
required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model
Code”) contained in the GEM Listing Rules, to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange,
were as follows:

(i) Long Positions in the Ordinary Shares

EEEHRE

i 5E

(A)

ESERAATI RAEBEEZIRG - 48
ARG REEESZEERRE

R-_ZE-_—F+-_A=+—8 ' AQ7
BERITRABHRARR REEEEE
(EERFBHFRBEGRI(TEFESLBERK
1) - E571ZEXVES) 2 -
RN SKEEBZTRIES (@ BEREZSF R
EEPIEXVIET7 RS EBHE AR A
MR 2 S RAR (BEREEER
HEGIZEECERIESEERE 2
BHMRR)  H(b)ERBERZESLHPE
16151 25 352 (& AT BRI RZ I FT 48 B 2L M I
ZHEZFNKR ¢ 3 (c) BREGEM TR
IS EMBITABESETELRSZ
ERESFRI([EESFR D AE AR R KB
RETZ R MARIAT

() RELAEHEREE0I1I0ETZE

of HK$0.10 each (the “Shares”) of the BIR([RG])ZIFE
Company
Number of issued shares held,
capacity and nature of interest
FRERTROBE  SHRERLE
Percentage
of the
Company’s
Through issued
Directly spouse Through Shares as at
beneficially orminor  controlled  Beneficiary 31 December
owned children  corporation of a trust Total 2021
EAAFR
—§--%
+ZA=+-H
BRERY ZEBTRY
HEEGHT ARETY BEXEEE EEEHEA @t Batt
Directors B2
Mr. Xie Xuan HELE - 51,801,478 - 51,801,473 25.78%
(Note 1)
(MizE1)
TMNEEGER)ERAR | —ZE-—FFR
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS (Cont'd) ERikEZ)
(A) Interests and short positions of the Directors in the (A) EERAATREEEEEZRG - 4

shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (Cont’d)

(i) Long Positions in the Ordinary Shares
of HK$0.10 each (the “Shares”) of the
Company (Cont’d)

Note 1: The controlled corporation is Glamour House
Limited, which is accustomed to acting in
accordance with Mr. Xie Xuan’s instructions
who is its sole director and shareholder, and
which is the beneficial owner as to 67.18% of
Asian Dynamics International Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December
2021, none of the Directors or chief executive of
the Company had any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including any interests or short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO), or which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein, or which were
required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Interests and short positions of the Substantial
Shareholders in the Shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company

As at 31 December 2021, so far as was known to
the Directors or chief executive of the Company, the
following persons (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company) had, or were deemed
or taken to have, an interest or short position in the
Shares and underlying Shares which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, were as
follows:

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited | Annual Report 2021
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS (Cont’d)

(B)

Interests and short positions of the Substantial
Shareholders in the Shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company (Cont’d)

(i)

(i)

EEEHRE

HEiReE (7

(B)

FERRNEFATZiG - HEARY R

BEEZERRXA(E)

International Limited, which is beneficially
owned as to 67.18% by Glamour House
Limited.

Long Positions in the Underlying Shares
Nil

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December
2021, the Directors of the Company were not
aware of any other person (other than the
Directors and the Supervisors of the Company)
who had an interest and short position in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
notified to the Company pursuant to Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section
336 of the SFO and/or were directly or indirectly
interested in 5% or more of the issued share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances
at general meetings of the Company.

(ii)

TMEEGER)ERRA |

Long Positions in the Shares () RREZFE
Percentage of
the Company’s
issued
Shares as at
Number of 31 December
Name of Shareholder Capacity shares 2021
HEATR
—g-—%F
+=A=+-H
ZEBTRG
B2 5 & E Bkt
Glamour House Limited Interest of a controlled 51,801,478 25.78%
corporation (Note 1)
—RAXEEE RS (a7 1)
Asian Dynamics International Beneficial owner 51,789,613 25.78%
Limited
BEmEEA
Century Field Limited Beneficial Owner 27,630,666 13.75%
EmBEEA
Note 1: The controlled corporation is Asian Dynamics Mizk1: 3%z = ¥ & & Asian

Dynamics International
Limited * B Glamour House
Limited Bz 5 67.18% ©
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the period
were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares or debentures in the Company or any other body
corporate granted to any Directors or their respective
spouse or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or their
respective spouse or minor children to acquire such rights
in any other body corporate.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or management shareholders of the
Company or their respective associates had an interest in a
business which competes or may compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group nor any
conflicts of interest which has or may have with the Group.

MANAGEMENT SHAREHOLDER

As far as the Directors are aware of, other than Asian
Dynamics International Limited, Glamour House Limited
and Mr. Xie Xuan, there was no other person as at 31
December 2021 who was directly or indirectly interested
in 5% or more of the shares then in issue of the Company
and who was able, as a practicable matter, to direct or
influence the management of the Company.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year have
been audited by CHENG & CHENG LIMITED. CHENG
& CHENG LIMITED retired and offers themselves for
reappointment as auditor of the Company at the next
annual general meeting of the Company.

By order of the Board

Xie Xuan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 14 April 2022

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited | Annual Report 2021
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining
a high standard of corporate governance. The Board
recognises that such commitment is essential in upholding
the accountability and transparency and to achieve a
balance of interests between the shareholders, customers,
creditors, employees as well as other stakeholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

To ensure compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM
Listing Rules, the Board will continue to monitor and revise
the Company code to bring our corporate governance
practices in line with the changes in the environment and
requirements of the Code. In the opinion of the Directors,
the Company has complied with all the provisions of the
Code, for the year ended 31 December 2021, except:

()  under code provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be
separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. The division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive officer should be clearly
established and set out in writing. The Company has
set out in written terms the responsibilities between
the chairman and chief executive officer. At present,
Mr. Xie Xuan, the chairman of the Company, also
undertakes the responsibilities of the chief executive
officer until a replacement for the chief executive
officer is found. The Company considers that under
the supervision of its Board and its Independent Non-
executive Directors, a balancing mechanism exists so
that the interests of the shareholders are adequately
and fairly represented.

(i)  under code provision A.4.1 of the Code, non-
executive directors should be appointed for a
specific term and subject to re-election. None of the
existing Non-executive Directors of the Company
are appointed for a specific term. This constitutes
a deviation from the code provision. However, all
the Non-executive Directors of the Company are
subject to retirement by rotation at annual general
meetings pursuant to the articles of association of the
Company.
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EXREGRE

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the required standard of
dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors.

The Company has made specific enquiry to all Directors
and the Directors have confirmed that they have complied
with all the required standard of dealings as set out in
Rules

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for managing the Company on
behalf of the shareholders. The Board is of the view that
it is the Directors’ responsibility to create value for the
shareholders as a whole and safeguard the best interests
of the Company and the shareholders by discharging its
duties in a dedicated, diligent and prudent manner on the
principle of good faith.

The Board comprises a total of six Directors, with three
executive Directors, namely Mr. Xie Xuan (Chairman), Dr.
Feng Ke, and Mr. Huang Haitao; and three independent
non-executive Directors namely Mr. Wu Jixue, Mr. Zheng
Hongliang, and Dr. Wang Yi. They are professionals in
different areas and provide independent opinions based on
their expertise.

BOARD PRACTICES AND CONDUCT OF
MEETINGS

Proposed regular Board meeting dates for a year are
informed to each Director at the beginning of the year.
Formal notice of at least 14 days will be given in respect of
a regular meeting. For special board meeting, reasonable
notice will be given. Directors participated, either in person
or through other electronic means of communication
in the Board meetings. The Board of Directors meets
regularly at least 4 times a year. The Directors participated
in person or through other means of communication. All
notices of board meetings were given to all Directors,
who were given an opportunity to include matters in the
agenda for discussion. All Directors are kept informed on a
timely basis of major changes that may affect the Group’s
businesses, including relevant rules and regulations.
Directors can also seek independent professional advice
in performing their duties at the Company’s expense, if
necessary. Minutes of each board meeting will be kept and
are open for inspection at any reasonable time on request
by any Director.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited
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DIRECTORS’ INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of the legal action against the Directors.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

The Company has established formal, considered and
transparent procedures for the appointment of new
directors. The procedures and process of appointment,
re-election and removal of directors are laid down in the
Company’s Articles of Association. According to the
Company’s Articles of Association, at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or,
if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number
nearest to but not greater than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation provided that notwithstanding anything
herein, the chairman of the Board shall not, whilst holding
such office, be subject to retirement by rotation or be
taken into account in determining the number of Directors
to retire in each year. Accordingly, as at the date of this
report, Mr. Xie Xuan, being the chairman of the Company,
is not subject to retirement by rotation. Other relevant
Articles state that all Directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy should be subject to re-election by shareholders
at their first annual general meeting after appointment,
a retired Director shall be eligible for re-election. All
Directors should retire by rotation at least once every three
years. The nomination committee is mainly responsible
for reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board, identifying individuals suitably qualified to become
members of the Board, assessing the independence of
the independent non-executive Directors and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors.
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During the year, 11 Board meetings and 1 annual general

RER > HBET+-REFTEER N RAER

meeting (‘“AGM”") were held. Details of the attendance of BFEAXE((RRBAFAE]) -EF2@RLFE
the Directors are as follows. FLERLNT o
Annual
Board of Audit Nomination Remuneration general
Directors Committee Committee Committee meeting
Directors Bz EEE EHKEEET REZEE FHEEE RFEEXE
Executive Directors WiTES
Mr. Xie Xuan (Chairman) HERE(LE) 1111 NATER 11 11 11
Dr. Feng Ke EREL 1A NARER  NATER N/A R -
Mr. Huang Haitao 2EELE 1011 NATER  NATER N/A TE A -/
Mr. Liao Haifei BEREE
(resigned on 29 November 2021) (RZF-—%
T—HAZFHEHE) 811  NATER NATER N/A i@ F -
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIFHTESE
Mr. Wu Jixue TREEEE 10/11 414 N/ATER 11 -/1
Mr. Zheng Hongliang Hasiht 10/11 4/4 1/1 1 -1
Dr. Wang Yi THEL 10/11 4/4 1/1 N/A TE A -/
BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY EEEZ LB

The Board adopts a board diversity policy and discusses
all measurable objectives set for implementing the policy.
The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of
diversity of Board members. It endeavours to ensure that
the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company’s business. All Board appointments will continue
to be made on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits
of diversity of the Board members. Selection of candidates
will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, experience (professional or otherwise), skills
and knowledge. The ultimate decision will be made upon
the merits and contribution that the selected candidates
will bring to the Board.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited |
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
OF DIRECTORS

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a director of
the Company and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company. Every newly appointed
director will receive formal, comprehensive and tailored
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure appropriate understanding of the business
and operations of the Company and full awareness of
director’s responsibilities and obligations under the GEM
Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Besides,
Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the
Board remains informed and relevant. Internally-facilitated
briefings for Directors will be arranged and reading
materials on relevant topics will be issued to Directors
where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend
relevant training courses at the Company’s expenses.

According to the records maintained by the Company, the
current Directors received the following training with an
emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a director
of a listing company in compliance with the CG Code on
continuous professional development during the Year.
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Directors BE RasE MR = i E GEE RS
Executive Directors PITES
Mr. Xie Xuan (Chairman) S LA (FE) Y/ Y/ Y/ Y/
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Under code provision A.4.1 of the Code, Non-executive
Directors should be appointed for a specific term and
subject to re-election. None of the existing Non-executive
Directors of the Company are appointed for a specific
term. This constitutes a deviation from the code provision.
However, all the Non-executive Directors of the Company
are subject to retirement by rotation at annual general
meetings pursuant to the articles of association of the
Company.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

The Company considers all of the Independent Non-
executive Directors to be independent based on the annual
confirmations received.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee has been established.
The current chairman of the committee is Mr. Wu Jixue,
an Independent Non-executive Director, and the other
members are Mr. Zheng Hongliang, and Mr. Xie Xuan.

Under the code provision B.1.1, a listed issuer should
establish a remuneration committee with specific written
terms of reference which deal clearly with its authority and
duties. The Company, has established a remuneration
committee as required under the code provision B.1.1. The
role and function of the remuneration committee includes
the determination of the specific remuneration packages
of all Executive Directors, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including
any compensation payable for loss or termination of their
office or appointment, and to make recommendations to
the board regarding the remuneration of Non-Executive
Directors. The remuneration committee should consider
factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors,
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and
desirability of performance-based remuneration.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited |
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

it comprised of namely Mr. Zheng Hongliang, Dr. Wang
Yi and Mr. Xie Xuan. The chairman of the committee is
Mr. Zheng Hongliang, an Independent Non-Executive
director. The committee considers the past performance,
qualification, general market conditions and the Company’s
articles of association in selecting and recommending
candidates for directorship during the year.

The nomination committee is mainly responsible for
reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board, identifying individuals suitably qualified to become
members of the Board, assessing the independence of
the Independent Non-executive Directors and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors.

During the year, the committee considered and resolved
that all the existing Directors shall be recommended to be
retained by the Company. Further, in accordance with the
Company’s articles of association (subject to the proposed
amendments at the forthcoming annual general meeting),
except Mr. Xie Xuan, the Company Chairman, those who
have served the Company for more than three years will
retire, and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

During the year under review, CHENG & CHENG LIMITED
have been appointed as the external auditor of the
Company.

The audit committee of the Company is responsible
for considering the appointment of the external auditor
and reviewing any non-audit functions performed by
the external auditor, including whether such non-audit
functions could lead to any potential material adverse effect
on the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the total fee
paid/payable in respect of audit and non-audit services
provided by the Company’s external auditor is set out
below:
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2021 2020
—E=-—§ —ZT-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Type of Service i gk
Audit Service EETRE 1,100 900

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of
the Company for the year, which give a true and fair view
of the financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2021 and of the Group’s financial performance and cash
flows for the year ended 31 December 2021 and are
properly prepared on a going concern basis in accordance
with the applicable statutory requirements and accounting
standards. The Directors were not aware of any material
uncertainties which may affect the Company’s business
or cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

Statements of Directors’ responsibilities for preparing
the financial statements and external auditor’s reporting
responsibilities as set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report.

REMUNERATION POLICY FOR DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The remuneration policy of the Group is to ensure the
fairness and competitiveness of total remuneration.
The emoluments of executive Directors are determined
based on the skills, knowledge, individual performance
as well as contributions, the scope of responsibility and
accountability of such Directors, taking into consideration
the Company’s performance and prevailing market
conditions. The remuneration of the executive Directors
and senior management is subject to review and approval
by the remuneration committee. The remuneration policy
of independent non-executive Directors is to ensure that
they are adequately compensated for their efforts and time
dedicated to the Company’s affairs. Their emoluments
are determined with reference to their skills, experience,
knowledge, duties and market trends. The remuneration
of the independent non-executive Directors is subject to
approval by the Board.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors of the
Company as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue
of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the GEM Listing Rules of at least 25% of
the Company’s total number of issued shares which was
held by the public.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SHARES OF THE COMPANY

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
listed shares of the Company.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

On an annual basis the internal control process was
performed periodically, while the Directors have reviewed
and are satisfied with their ability to comply with the
policies installed as part of the Group’s internal control
system, including, in particular, financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management functions.
Furthermore, the Directors are satisfied with the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
Group’s accounting and financial reporting functions, and
their training programs and budget.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary, Miss Ying Yuk Sim, maintains a
high standard of corporate governance and has complied
with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year under review, there is no changes in the
Company’s constitutional documents.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, a separate
resolution is proposed for each substantially separate issue
at shareholder meetings, including the election of individual
directors.
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According to the GEM Listing Rules, all resolutions put
forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on by poll
and poll results will be posted on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company after each shareholder
meeting.

Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to
propose new resolutions at the general meetings under
the Cayman Islands Companies Law (2012 Revision).
However, pursuant to the Articles of Association of the
Company, general meetings shall be convened on the
written requisition of any two or more shareholders of the
Company deposited at the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have
such a principal office, the registered office specifying the
objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists,
provided that such requisitionists held as at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company.

General meetings may also be convened on the written
requisition of any one shareholder of the Company which is
a recognised clearing house (or its nominee(s)) deposited
at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in
the event the Company ceases to have such a principal
office, the registered office specifying the objects of the
meeting and signed by the requisitionist, provided that
such requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company which carries the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the
meeting, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings
may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three
months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to
them by the Company.
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Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a director of the company

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, if a
shareholder wishes to propose a person (the “Candidate”)
for election as a director of the Company at a general
meeting, he/she shall deposit a written notice (the “Notice”)
to the Company Secretary at the Company’s head office.

The Notice (i) must include the personal information of
the Candidate as required by Rule 17.50(2) of the GEM
Listing Rules; and (ii) must be signed by the shareholder
concerned and signed by the Candidate indicating his/her
willingness to be elected and consent of publication of his/
her personal information.

The period for lodgment of the Notice shall commence on
the day after the dispatch of the notice of general meeting
and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such
general meeting.

In order to ensure the Company’s shareholders have
sufficient time to receive and consider the proposal of
election of the Candidate as a director of the Company
without adjourning the general meeting, shareholders
are urged to submit and lodge the Notice as early as
practicable preferably at least 15 business days prior to the
date of the general meeting appointed for such election.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the board

shareholders may send written enquiries to the Board
of Directors/Company Secretary at the Company’s
head office. For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s)
must deposit and send the original duly signed written
requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case
may be) to the Company’s head office and provide their
full name, contact details and identification in order to give
effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed
as required by law.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at
the general meetings of the Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has disclosed all necessary information to
the shareholders and investors in compliance with GEM
Listing Rules and uses a number of formal communications
channels to account to shareholders and investors for the
Company.

These include (i) the publication of quarterly and annual
reports; (ii) the annual general meeting or extraordinary
general meeting providing a forum for shareholders of the
Company to raise comments and exchanging views with
the Board; (i) the Company replying to the enquires from
shareholders timely; (iv) updated and key information of
the Company available on website of the Company; (v)
the Company’s website offering communication channel
between the Company and its shareholders and investors;
and (vi) the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong
serves the shareholders regarding all share registration
matters. Also, the chairman of the board would attend
the annual general meeting and he would also arrange for
the chairmen of the other committees to attend. In case
of the absence, of the chairman of such committees, he
would invite another member of the committee to attend.
These persons would be available to answer questions
at the annual general meeting. The chairman of the
independent board committee would also be available
to answer questions at any general meeting to approve
a connected transaction or any other transaction that is
subject to requires independent shareholders’ approval.
The external auditor would also be arranged to attend the
annual general meeting to answer questions about the
conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of the
independent auditor’s report, the accounting policies and
auditor independence.

LOOKING FORWARD

The Company will keep on reviewing its corporate
governance standards on a timely basis and the Board
endeavour to take the necessary actions to ensure
compliance with the required practices and standards
including the provisions of the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices introduced by the Stock Exchange.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited and its
subsidiaries (the “Company”, the “Group”, “we” or “our”)
engages in private investment fund management and
consulting services in China, Hong Kong and internationally.
This report is prepared by the Group in compliance with
the Environmental, Social and Governance (‘ESG”) Report
Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) set out in Appendix
20 to the GEM Listing Rules by making general disclosures

on environmental and social information.

The ESG Report discloses the Group’s performance and
initiatives implemented regarding environmental, social and
governance issues and relevant key performance indicators
(“KPIs”) between 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021
(the “Reporting Period”). The ESG Report demonstrates
to both internal and external stakeholders its efforts on
sustainable developments and is prepared based on the
information available and the best knowledge of the Board
of Directors (the “Board”).

This report has been approved by the Board of the
Company.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The Group has prepared the ESG Report in accordance
to the following reporting principles stated in the ESG
Reporting Guide.

— Materiality: The Group communicates with our major
stakeholders groups on a regular basis to identify
and assess ESG-related issues that matter most from
stakeholders’ perspectives. Key ESG issues identified
through stakeholder engagement and materiality
assessment.
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IR - HEREGWRE

— Quantitative: Quantitative information/KPI presented
in this ESG Report is accompanied by narrative,
explanation and comparison wherever applicable.

— Balance: The Report aims to disclose data in an
objective way, which aims to provide stakeholders
with a balance overview of the Group’s overall ESG
performance.

— Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the Group
adopts consistent methodologies and retrieves social
and environmental KPIs from the Group’s internal
record system. The scope of reporting and KPIs are
consistent with those of the previous report to allow
meaningful comparison over time.

BOARD STATEMENT ON ESG GOVERNANCE

The Board takes the overall responsibility for the Group’s
sustainability strategy and reporting, evaluation and
determining the Group’s ESG-related risks and ensuring
that appropriate and effective ESG risk management and
internal control systems are in place.

The Board has established an ESG committee which
comprises directors and senior management. The ESG
committee evaluates, prioritizes and advises on the
effectiveness of the Group’s sustainability strategy and
policies and reports regularly to the Board for reviewing on
its operations and the progress made against ESG-related
goals and targets.

REPORTING BOUNDARY

In order to preserve a meaningful comparison, there was
no material change to the methods or KPIs used by the
Group in the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31
December 2020.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

For this ESG report, in order to identify the most significant
aspects for the Group to report on, key stakeholders
including investors, shareholders and employees have been
involved in regular engagement sessions to discuss and
to review areas of attention which will help the business
meet its potential development and be equipped for future

challenges.

Stakeholders
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Regulatory or voluntary disclosures
Updating of website and
announcements

Seminars and training
BB B RREE

BEHAEM RS

Bl R

Regulatory or voluntary disclosures
Statutory filings and notification
Tax return including Profits Tax
Returns and Employer’ s Returns
EELAREEE

EE IR KB A

AR (BEFISH R S B =)

Shareholder’s general meetings
Financial reports and Company
announcements

Company website

REBERE

M mERARAE

NGIE DA

Company website
Contract signing
E-mail and phone
YNGIF R

VAN /a2
El:ﬁ\‘\‘éu

BEHLER

T —FFH
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Stakeholders Topics of concern Methods and channels
FirE FRERYRRE FiERRE
Employees e  Remuneration and benefit e  Employee activities
= e  QOccupational health and safety e  Training, seminars and workshops
*  Training and development * |Interviews
e Working hours * Internal memorandum
o HEIRAEFN e [REED
o BEREEZE o B EHERIIED
o BIIRERE o mal
o TI{ERE o NEMESER
Business Partners e Fairness and justice e  Contract and agreement
and suppliers e  Payment schedule e  Business meetings
R R ER e RFRARAIE e Company website
o [tERErEI e  E-mail and phone
s SRRWmME
s XBKe=:

NS
. THRES

Community and society e  Environmental protection e Community activities
fE Rt g e Employment e Company website

e  Social welfare e  Email and phone

o IRIFERE o HEREH

s B o NEAYUA

o =R o BHRBE
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ESG-RELATED BUSINESS RISK

The following table is the environmental rating risks by
industry quoted in “Courtesy: CDC Toolkit for ESG — adding
value for effective environmental, social and governance
management by World Green Organisation”. It indicated
that the Company’s business advisory assignments
industry is in low risk category.

Rating Risks: the Environment

=}

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

IRIE - HEREGWRE

RE - HEREGHEMAEBER
TRANES B HEREARNWCDCTA
B- At RGEAMBRNER HERER
B MEE | 3 RIRITERD NIBHTR
R - HRAARD B EBHBIRRTEBRME
RRIER] -

SRR © HOR

Risk category Description of category Examples

R BREE R =R Epad BilF

Category A A proposed investment is classified ®  Large dams and reservoirs
High risk as Category A if it is likely to have o REUKIBKRIKE

AfE significant adverse environmental e  Forestry (large scale)
=] impacts that are sensitive, diverse or o  ME(KRIE)

unprecedented.

W—IARENIRE AR - K
HBIFAARBENEATNRRZE - Al
REWBRAARE -

e  Agro-industries (large scale)

e BRIE(KHEE)

* Industrial plants (large-scale)

o  IXKE(KHE)

e Major new industrial estates

o FEMIEN

° Extractive industries, including
mining, major oil and gas
developments and major pipelines

o RIEZE - BERE - FEhEABK
FEETE

e Large ferrous and non-ferrous

metal operations

AAUREBEREERBIESE

TMEEGER)ERRR | —E-—F&F§
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Risk category Description of category
[ EEE R =R Epad

Examples

BlF

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

| Annual Report 2021

Large port and harbour
developments
REBOREGBERE
Developments with large
resettlement components
AEBRZEEBNER

Large thermal and hydropower
development

RELNE RKE

Projects that include the
manufacture, use or disposal

of environmentally significant
quantities of pesticides or
herbicides

PREHE  CRAMEEHRRAEXN
FENR BB ERIEB
Manufacture, transportation and
use of hazardous and/or toxic
materials

BE - BRRERAERE AN
#

Domestic and hazardous waste
disposal operations
KERBEREEMRIRIESE



Risk category
E R

Description of category
=R Epad

=}

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

IRIE - HEREGWRE

Examples

Category B
Medium risk
B

oh 2 B3

A proposed investment is classified
as Category B if its potential
adverse impacts on environmentally
important areas including wetlands,
forests, grasslands and other natural
habitats are less adverse than
those of Category A investments
but more adverse than Category

C investments. These impacts

are site-specific; few if any of

them are irreversible and in most
cases mitigating measures can

be designed more readily than for
Category A investments.

W — AR ZENIRE Y BERM « ZRA
EREEMBAERMEANNRIFEE
EBEETFZEERNARRERERNC
BIRE  RIZIRERBER/RBE - %F
TERMEE  RO(WA)BITAFE
B BERZHIEATRABRERNE
R 5 6 E & RIEE °

Agro-industries (small scale)
ERIECNRE)

Electrical transmission

BEEH

Aquaculture

KEEHE

Renewable energy (except large
hydroelectric power projects)

Al A REIR (KREUKEIE B BRIM
Tourism (including hotel projects)
MR (BIEBEEE )

Rural water supply and sanitation
BREK R R4

Rehabilitation, maintenance and
modernisation projects (small scale)
&1 - EERBRIBEE (NEEK)
Manufacture of construction
materials

BEMEIELE

General manufacturing

— s

Telecommunications

B

Greenfield projects in existing
industrial estate

WA ENRAMIER

TMEEGER)ERRR | —E-—F&F§
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RIE - HER

W&

Risk category Description of category Examples

[ EEE R =R Epad BilF

Category C A proposed investment is classified e  Advisory assignments

Low risk as Category C if it is likely to have o  EMMER

CH# minimal or no adverse environmental ¢  Media and information technology
KA impacts. o (EFEREMEH

W—ERBENRE AR SHRITELR
PREINTE  AIRRERFEARC

B

Life insurance companies
ASRRAF]

Securities underwriters and broker/
dealers
BHBHEPIRELARHE
Technical assistance

FTRED

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited | Annual Report 2021
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In formulating operational strategies and ESG measures,
our employees were involved in helping us better
understand our sustainability performance in those
environmental and social issues.

The following table summaries the Group’s material ESG
issues identified by the Group:

IRIE - HEREGWRE

ERMIH

ABIRE AT RS SR AR RE R HE
EESEEHRMERAL T BRONZEZR
SR R BRI -

i3
ot

p=I113

AEEEARE HEREABZEWI TR
gb -
=

Materiality to the

The ESG Reporting Guide Material ESG aspects of the Group Group
B - HERELEEES FEENEXERE  HEREHHE HEREHEEN
A. Environment
A BRIE
A1. Emissions Air Emissions and Greenhouse Low
Gas Emissions
HERR REEHE R ERAEHEN &
Wastes Management Low
REY)ERIE &
A2. Use of Resources Energy Consumption Medium
BIREM BEIRERE H
Water Consumption Low
FkE &
Paper Consumption Medium
HORIEFE H
A3. The Environment and Environmental Impact Management Low
Natural Resources
RIEMBAER RIETEER 1K
A4. Climate Change Climate Change Low
RIREL RIREL &

TMEEGER)ERRA |

T —FFH
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IR - HEREGWRE

Materiality to the

The ESG Reporting Guide Material ESG aspects of the Group Group

IRIE - HEREBREES] ARENEXRE - HEREESHE HAEEMHEEH

B. Society

B. #E&

B1. Employment Employee Benefits and Career Development High
ME BTRAMEBEER =

B2. Health and Safety Employees’ Health and Workplace Safety Medium
[EdERir e BTREETERRELZS H

B3. Development and Training Employee Development and Training Medium
R EE| B TR UE G

B4 Labor Standards Prevention of Child Labor or Forced Labor ~ Medium
BIRAE P71EE T oksadlss T H

B5. Supply Chain Management Supplier Practices High
HrEgEER e 1E fl =

B6. Service Responsibility Services Quality and Satisfaction High
i =gaa REEERMEE =

Protection of Privacy
FLER{RE

B7. Anti-Corruption Anti-corruption High
R&5 RESG =

B8. Community Involvement Contributions to Society Medium
R Hirer R Gy

Based on the material ESG issues, the Group shall
strategise and plan resources accordingly to promote
environmental and social issues, and address related
concerns. Additionally, the Group continues to look for
ways to engage in different stakeholders such as investors,
customers or local communities, so as to gain a wider
understanding of ESG material issues.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited | Annual Report 2021

EREXRE - g RERZE  AEEAR
LEHETEREE KRB ER - AEBRR AL GH
8 WHRIARMRE - Rt 25 AEBEEE
BHREAEERNEWEREE FPAEM
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CONTACT US

The Group welcomes any feedback on our ESG approach
and performance. Please give your suggestions or share
your views with us via email at info@acrnet.com.hk.

ENVIRONMENT

We pay close attention to the environmental responsibilities.
As a management consulting advisory service provider, we
focus on the conservation of energy, reduction of paper
usage and reduction of waste by recycling and we have
been devoted to protecting environment by seeking to
reduce the impact to the environment by incorporating
environmental-friendly measures into our business
operations. In order to help our employees understand
the potential impact on the environment brought by each
individuals, we have taken various actions to facilitate
behavioral changes, setting up related policies with an aim
to reduce environmental footprint.

We monitor mainly Scope 1 and 2 greenhouse gas
(“GHG”) emissions according to the international standard
of Greenhouse Gas Protocol, and also make reference
to guidelines published by Hong Kong's Environmental
Protection Department, Electrical and Mechanical Services
Department and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited.

We are not aware of any significant impacts of activities on
the environment and natural resources.

Emissions

In the Group’s business activities, business travel
emissions (Scope 1 direct emissions), electricity
consumption in office(s) (Scope 2 indirect emissions) and
paper consumption (Scope 3 indirect emissions) are the
major sources of all pollutants and GHG emissions of the
Group.

IRIE - HEREGWRE

BRI
AEEBODE S RBRE LG RER T
REAEHEER - #F MTEBEHM

BMREEZZINEFER EHHMU R

info@acrnet.com.hk °

IRIR

BBBIREEE - (ER—HEBEEAE
RARFS L IERS - RIVEEERRE - R AR NE
BEYORAIRE - BRMABHRERR - HE
FHERRIE TR AZI R M RBEE - R HIR
BERNTE - REDRENTE—EEAY
RESRNEEZE  RACKRSERET
REENHRE  YRIBEERE - SRR
BRY -

HARBORERBREZTE )ONBEERFRE

BERGB1IR2EEREB(DEERE M
W M2ERBREREE HETIRELE
BRH MEEMERAREMIOES -

BPATNEE LB HRERRAERENX
MERERTE -

B

RAREEBRED  BFIKRTHR(EE
BEEHER)  BAERE(HE2MER X
MoORRE(RESREEER) R ANKBAA ISR
Y EREREHRAEZ KR -

TMEEGER)ERRR | —E-—F&F§
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Detailed summary of the GHG emissions were shown as REREBHROMEFALAT

below:
2021 COz2e 2020 CO:e
Scope of greenhouse Source of greenhouse emission emission
gas emissions gas emissions (in tonnes) (in tonnes)
—EB-—% —ECEE
&1Lk k1 45
i A R R i A R EERHROE) BRHR0OK
Scope 1
EHEA
Direct emission Business travel 0.00 0.22
IERE3 ) RIS IRTT
Scope 2
#HE2
Indirect emission Purchased electricity 6.12 6.40
B BEE
Scope 3
#E3
Other indirect emission Paper consumption 0.84 0.48
Hith A BERR R EFE
Total emission 6.96 7.10
B
Intensity (kg per employee) 953.42 898.73
mE(BEEETR)
Intensity (kg per sq.ft.) 9.97 9.86
HEBEBFARTR)
Note: Pt s
1.  Scope 1 includes direct GHG emissions from the 1. #HE1BRERAEERNFKRITVEDERNER
consumption of business travel fuels of the Group. RERBEE o (BT A http://calculator.
(the figures has been computed from http://calculator. carbonfootprint.com/ st &)
carbonfootprint.com/)
2. Scope 2 includes indirect GHG emissions from consumption 2. #HE2EFEEEEEBENE ) REBHHEA
of purchased electricity, heat or steam. MEAREEREREHEN -
3. Scope 3 includes other indirect emissions, such as the 3. #EISEEMEE R - Hla0FEEM B &

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited | Annual Report 2021

extraction and production of purchased materials and
fuels, transport-related activities in vehicles not owned or
controlled by the reporting entity, electricity-related activities
(e.g. transmission and distribution losses) not covered in
Scope 2, outsourced activities, waste disposal, etc.

MBI ERRNAEE  WIFAREEEHEE K
ERIMERmNEREREE  BE2RKRE
VENHEEE (IERE REXEX) I
mE)  WIFRESE -
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4, The weighted average number of employees during the year
for Hong Kong and Guangzhou office was 7.3 (2020: 7.9).

5. During the Year, the Hong Kong’s office area was
approximately 720 square feet (2020: approximately 720
square feet).

As an environmental-friendly company, we have undertaken
various energy saving measures (refer to section headed
“Use of Resources” below for details) to reduce energy
consumption, improve energy efficiency and reduce
environmental impact associated with global warming,
pollutions and environmental diversity. During the Year, the
GHG of the Group is estimated to be 6.96 tonnes of carbon
dioxide equivalent (“C0O2e”) which has been decreased by
2% with that of around 7.10 tonnes for the corresponding
period of last year. The decrease was mainly attributed to
decrease in consumption of fuel during the year.

The Group will monitor and document its greenhouse gas
emissions and/or other environmental data annually and
compare it with last year’s data to aid the Group in further
developing emission reduction targets in the future.

Wastes Management

Our operations are office-based and the amount of waste
generated is not material. The Group takes action to reduce
waste by encouraging waste reduction and recycling, keep
educating our employees and provides relevant support
in order to enhance their skills and knowledge on waste
management.

Hazardous waste handling method

Due to the Group’s business nature, no hazardous waste
is generated during the Reporting Period.

Non-hazardous waste handling method

The non-hazardous wastes generated by the Group mainly
comes from office wastes and other domestic wastes
such as waste paper which will be discussed below in the
section “Paper consumption”.

IRIE - HEREGWRE

4. FRFBREMNRDERESGNEFHES
7T3(ZETF7.9)

5, RAFEE EERAETEEH720F TR
(ZE=ZF : Y720FFR)

ER—RRRRFEE  BRAD RIS EEGE
EiE(FHER2H T X[ ERER | —8) LR
BEE - IRFTRER R B2 IRER )5 KIR
BEZEEUABNRETE - RAFE - HBFHA
EEMAERERCBHE _SlikEgE([=
SLHEE ) REFHEHAENH7.100]
D 2% o BB RN ARRELEFER D PTER

AEBEBFEE RO EREHEMR R
s E M RF BRI A F O BURETTHLER A
B AR B — B E R AR B AR

BEEMEE

BRPNEBERDEET  MEENERYE
WAEK - AREREIE R BB D BEREY K
Bl - RIFHE & B RIRHAERE SR AR T
FHREREYE AL R AN - (TR R
37/

AEEREYEE T A
HRAKENERHEE - RREHAALEES
BEBEREY -

BEERYEET %
AEBELNEEEZEN I ZRAMAEER

MREAM AR R - MERSE - FAR TX
[ WRSRIBFE | —&f o
TNEEGERBRAR | —T-—FFH
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Emission Sources and Use of Resources
Direct Emissions

Due to the boarder lockdown caused by coronavirus
pandemic for the Year, the Directors and senior executives
have actively engaged in telephone conference meetings
rather than the traditional face-to-face meetings for all
non-essential meetings. This has decreased the travel for
the Board and the senior executives hence reducing the
corresponding carbon emission produced from travelling,
which is the major source of air pollutants generated by
the Group and the air pollutants emission is shown in the
following table.

Air Pollutants

As the boarder lockdown has been lasted for the past two
years, there was no business travel for the year of 2021.
The Group anticipated that the boarder lockdown might

BERURIR R &R fE R

V=374

HREAFEERES ARTEHEE  EF
REBITHRABRAEILENGHRERER
BHEEE - MFERMEZ - - EREESEER
BRITHRA B EIRE - #EMR D B Z K
MERELZWYE > WIAREEEZERITR
M EBEWIR - ZRISRMBEBIIRK T °

RESEY

HRBEMFHERE RS- —FLER
BHRTT - AR B TEFT HBE AL S8 — B
- BME RS - AR BN EESREIEINK

be continued for some time and even it is released, the 17  ZBEFEIEFFELEESE B2 Y
Group will plan its overseas travelling cautiously in order — Z&IEEIRTT °

to avoid unnecessary business travel by encouraging the

teleconferences and internet-meeting.

Energy consumption BERHFE

During the Year, the Group’s consumption in electricity RAFE @ XAEENHEEIBLSE

was:

Electricity 2021 2020
£ e M e
Consumption (Kwh) JEFE(TEE) 8,613.00 8,098.00
Intensity (per sq.ft.) BE(ETERR) 11.96 11.25

The total electricity consumption was slightly increased of
approximately 6.4%. The Group adopted various energy
conservation measures to ensure the most efficient usage
of electricity, reduce emission of GHG and demonstrate
our determination to protect our environment, including but
not limited to:

1) Procure energy-efficient appliances, with Grade 1 or
2 energy efficient labels;

2)  Turn on the power saving mode for office equipment
if not in use;

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited | Annual Report 2021

RIEBESEMILINL6.4% c NEBEDHNZ
R RREREa AT  RABREREH
MERAZRMREREZEARD  BREEDR
A

1) HETEI1RS2REEEZENEELESE
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3)  Switch off air conditioning and lighting systems after
office hours;

4)  Advise employees to put their computers in hibernation
mode and turn off all other office equipment when not in
use;

5)  Keep all the doors and windows closed when the air
conditioners are in operation;

6) Set the air conditioning at 25°C in the summer; and

Target

The Government of Hong Kong on October 8 announced
Hong Kong Climate Action Plan 2050, setting out the
vision of “Zero-Carbon Emission Liveable City-Sustainable
Development, and outlining the strategies and targets for
combating climate change and achieving carbon neutrality.
The Company, operating in Hong Kong as a Listed
Enterprise and will be endeavor within our best of ability,
to commit to set up Climate Action Plan to coincide with
the Government directives in order to participate with the
decarbonization target of reducing Hong Kong’s carbon
intensity by 65% to 70% by 2030 using 2005 as the base.

Water consumption

Water is one of the most basic necessities in life. We
encourage consumption of refillable potable water and
reduce wasteful uses of water. The Group’s water usage
payment has been included in the management fee to
the landlord, thus related consumption data cannot be
obtained and we do not have any issue in sourcing water.

Paper consumption
During the Year, the Group’s paper usage was:

IRIE - HEREGWRE

3) THHRRAIRZ=F NIRRT

4) BRFEINEHENKEEN  LED
AR BRI AT B B AR

e

BIEBR - (RISFTAFIERE

5) %

6) FEERERER25°C &

i

BiZ
EEBFRTANBAMEBRBTHER
2050)  A[ZHRBEM e X B EHE o 48 5
RIBRES  RESBERURESCMEIRMR
PARRBEMEIE - AREEALETOEES
BEEERE  BIBETAE S T RIRTHE
BIARRABAES - LM2EFIREE  U=F
TRAFEAEEE _T=TFHIHLEBNRE
JE65% & 70% °

IKHFE

KRR RERN VAR —  RIFISEIE
AR BEFNFAKIR D BAORE - RNEE
MAKBEFARRNERES - Fih X
SHRBEREUE - TFIEEBUKERS BT &I
A o

HRIEFE
RAEE » REBMWRRRES

Paper 2021 2020
45k e I
Consumption (kg) EEE(TR) 175.0 100.0
Intensity (per employee) RE(BHEER) 24.0 12.7

The increase in consumption of paper is mainly due to
submissions to regulatory who requested documents to be
submitted in paper form instead of electric form.

MFOERIEMEZRERAEEAMIEE T
AR PR EE BB R S 3 A -

TMEEGER)ERRR | —E-—F&F§
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In order to uphold our core value of environment
protection, the Group has also implemented a number
of resources saving and efficiency measures to promote
paperless office, including but not limited to the below:

1)  Advises employees to handle documents electronically;
2)  Encourages to communicate electronically;

3) Setting default on printers, photocopies and/or fax
machines (if applicable) to print in double-sided; and

4)  Collect single-sided paper for reuse purpose.

Due to the nature of the Group’s business, the Group does
not have physical products for sale and does not consume
packaging materials during its operations. Therefore, the
data on total amount of packaging materials does not
apply to the Group.

Target

Reduce the paper consumption back to last year
consumption standard.

The Environment and Natural Resources

Since our business is mainly office-based, the impact
on the environment is minimal. The main environmental
impact of the business is the impact of direct and indirect
emissions generated by vehicle travel, electricity and paper
usage in the daily activities of the business.

The Group has taken steps to reduce its impact on the
environment by adopting energy saving measures as
mentioned in Emission Sources and Use of Resources.

In this Reporting Period, the Group has complied with
relevant laws and regulations and did not find any cases
of breach of regulations relating to emissions and the
environment. Going forward, the Group will continue to
assess environmental risks in our business operations to
formulate responsive measures as well as regularly review
and update our environmental protection policies.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited |

Annual Report 2021
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Climate Change

Global warming has been one of the utmost concerned
issues in recent years, which might indue extreme weather
conditions such as storms, flooding and earthquakes, etc.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has not been
seriously affected by the extreme weather conditions as
the Group adopted various emergency plans to prevent the
disruption of our operation such as working arrangement in
black rainstorm warning and/or typhoon signal 8 situation.

Even though the Group expected that potential extreme
weather condition, sustained high temperature do not have
a material impact on the Group’s operations, the Group will
continue to monitor the climate-related risks and implement
relevant measures to minimize the potential impact of
climate change.

SOCIETY

The Group is committed to endeavoring to enhance
consideration towards the environment, social contributions
and corporate governance to improve the sustainability
of society. We recognise that this is an important social
responsibility for a Hong Kong public listed company to
assume.

Employment

Employees are the Group’s most valuable assets and
the success of the business depends on the Group’s
workforce. The Group highly appreciates the contributions
from employees and are determined to reward and maintain
our employees through provision of attractive remuneration
package and a safe working environment. During the Year,
we complied with the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57),
the Employee’s Compensation Ordinance (Cap. 282), the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap.
485), the Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608) and did
not find any violation of laws and regulations relating to
employment.

IRIE - HEREGWRE

mEEME
PHRERSAFRXEINEEZ — AJEE
Sl HZRM « MK R EE IR KT

RBEHA - AEE R AZ R R RN EE

TE - Iﬁﬁgﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁ%uﬁtﬁ
PEETE  WRMEERECRNEER /X8

SRR SRIER TR TARRHE -

REAEEBBEGGERAIMN HESR
U AEENKEEEEATE EKEI
1% 2 4 25 R) /A AR B R\ B N SR AR R FE B
AT REPR IR R IR B B ERE o

HE

AEBHRINBHRESHIRE R DE
%Emm%i,bWﬁJfAmTﬁﬁﬁf H
MRABLTIEBRAR L RIAEEN—IAE
EneEf-

&%

EBENAEEREENEE - MEFHKINTY
BURRAEELE S - AEB DB TEED
R WAEBBREAERS DO FER
ZEMTHEREN TN BEEEBHEMY
B8 - RAFE - BB TFURBIEFINE 57
) (EEREKRLNE282F) - (RBHMEA
FEEETENERINE485F)  (RIETEIEH)
((65608%) B EERE BREENERERZ K
VAR o

SMNEEFEBOBRAR | —F——FFH
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The Group is also dedicated to implementing equal
opportunity employment practices by maintaining a diverse
workforce that includes age, gender, family status, sexual
orientation, disability, ethnicity and religion, which are in
compliance with the requirements of the legislation on anti-
discrimination in Hong Kong, including Sex Discrimination
Ordinance (Cap. 480), Disability Discrimination Ordinance
(Cap. 487), Family Status Discrimination Ordinance (Cap.
527) and Race Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 602).

As the operation of the Group is in Hong Kong, all
employees are located in Hong Kong and all are in full
time service. The following table sets forth the number and

AEETBROIREBERZ TSN (BRE
Fie MR FEAMR - ERR - BIK - TRk
RRB)EBEREEHENREBED  TAEE
BRAREEAEERE - BREUERBARED)
(£480F ) ~ CRIR R IE I )(FE487F ) »
(R EE LSRR DI 527 T ) RCE MR 5048
fEPINZEB602F) -

AR AEENERBUNEL - =REEHURN
FEMMAEBORERRY - TREIN_-F
F+H-A=t—HNAKE

——FRZE-F

breakdown of the Group’s employees as at 31 December {EE AZUNAAA :
2021 and 2020:
Total number
(percentage)
of employees
EEEAY
(&%)
2021 2020
Summary of Employee Data EESSERHE —ET-—F —T-FTF
Gender TR
Male Bt 19 (58%) 40 (62%)
Female pog:3 14 (42%) 25 (38%)
Age distribution of present employees BRIEEM T D
30 or below 30 BRI TR 13 (39%) 40 (62%)
31 - 40 31 E 405 8 (24%) 14 (22%)
41 -50 41 E5075% 5 (15%) 5 (8%)
51 - 60 51605 6 (18%) 5 (8%)
60 or above 60 pR3k A £ 1 (3%) 1 (2%)
Employment type TEfREER
Full-time 28 33 (100%) 65 (100%)
Geographical region b 72 [ 33
PRC i 27 (82%) 60 (92%)
HK B85 5 (15%) 4 (6%)
us EE 1 (83%) 1 (2%)

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited | Annual Report 2021
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Employee remuneration and benefits

The management regularly reviews the Group’s
remuneration and benefits policies in reference to the
market standards and is committed to safeguarding the
rights and interests of the employee including but not
limited to policies regarding compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare. Remuneration and benefits
have been adjusted in accordance with the employees’
individual performance, contribution and market conditions.
Remuneration packages include holidays, annual leave,
medical scheme, group insurance, mandatory provident
fund and discretionary bonus.

Promotion and Career Development

The promotion of the Group’s employees is subject to
review regularly. The Group has established objective
performance indicators for annual performance evaluation.

During the Year ended 31 December 2021, the employee
turnover rate of the Group was 34% (2020: 26%) due
to company restoring and streamlining the operational
process. The Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with laws and regulations relating to
employment and labour practices that had a significant
impact on the Group relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination,
and other benefits and welfare for the Year.

The following table sets for the turnover rates of the
Group’s employees for the Reporting Period.

IRIE - HEREGWRE

ESFHMREF

ERESEMISIRE - F IR AN B
KEHNEE  2HRERENENLMNE B
RETRNEREAEELRE  BELAR - T
TEESE ~ BRE - PERE - 20 - RERR
Hip#as MEMOEEK - AREEREREEN
BARE - BRSNS H M AR AT
- HFEenty /K BETE
Rk - Bt ATEE MERBTEA -

Bt REBELELER
AEBRENEFATHWE - AEECIF
BAAMEHE IR T B AR RUER ©

REBEE-_E-_—F+-_A=+—HIEFE K
EBEERKRE34% (20204 : 26%) © H
RAREE RECER TR - RAFE -
AREETANBIMNEREREHAEEGE
AVENEBREHNEBERE BERSA T
B KB - FE#E - 2o RIBEMN
MEMFBRENNERRS TEREENE
BRERIER

TR AKENHEMNRERAE -

2021 2020
Summary of Employee Data ESEIEHE —B-—8F —EZ-FTF
Gender R
Male 5 354% 20%
Female 8 467% 35%
Age distribution of present employees B RilfE B W F#e 2 h
30 or below 30BRBAT 675% 22%
31 - 40 312407 370% 35%
41 - 50 41 E505% 101% 0%
51 - 60 51 £ 60 5% 40% 39%
60 or above 60 Rk A £ 0% 67%
TMNEEGER)BRAE | —T=—FFR
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Note: The staff turnover rate is calculated by dividing the number
of employees who left during the Year by the weighted
average number of the Group employees during the Year.

Health and Safety

The business operation of the Group does not involve high-
risk activities. The Group attaches great importance to
occupational safety, hygiene and health of our employees
and makes all efforts to build a safe and comfortable
working environment for employees. We are not only
uphold the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap.
509) but also provide regular briefings for all employees,
on occupational safety and health policy and workplace
safety.

As for insurance, in addition to employee compensation
insurance, the Group also provides medical insurance and
other benefits such as purchasing air purifier to improve
air quality and working environment for our employees.
During the coronavirus outbreak period, we provided
protective and disinfection products such as face masks
and alcohol-based hand sanitizer to employees and visitors
as a measure to protect the health and safety of everyone.
All employees and visitors are requested not to smoke in
the office in order to achieve a healthier and pleasant work
place, safeguard non-smokers from the risks to health of
passive smoke and protect the office sites from increased
risk of fire. The building management office also arranges
rescue, fire and evacuation drills to improve staff safety
awareness. In addition, we have enough first-aid supplies
to be available to all employees in office for handling
injuries. This first-aid kit is maintained in convenient and
accessible locations. Supplies items are replenished as
they become depleted. Refills are also available for all
supplies.

During the past three years, the Group did not record any
work-related injury or fatality of employees, nor any lost
days due to work injury. We are not aware of any material
non-compliance with Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance that have a significant impact on the Group
relating to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards.
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Development and Training

The Group believes that trainings help improve
competency, work skills, expertise and performance of
employees and so that they can deliver the high quality
of service that safeguards the public and meets the
expectations of customers and the requirements of
their profession. Trainings also help employees to raise
environmental awareness and build capacity, as well as
support a diverse human workforce and flexible work
styles. The Company is securing qualified tutor to educate
the Directors on sustainable business and leadership, and
Dr. Feng is continuous promoting corporate governance
and corporate social responsibility through his research
institute affiliated with the Peking University of China.

Meanwhile, the Group is subject to various ordinances,
rules and guidelines for both Hong Kong and China
such as, but not limited to, the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance, the GEM Listing Rules and the Hong Kong
Securities and Futures Commission’s Guideline on Anti-
Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing.

In addition, the Group Executives also provide ESG policy
awareness to our engaged clients, and customers and
SMEs in China to the knowledge of sustainable compliance,
in connection with the Supply Chain management process
and logistic management.

The Group supports and sponsors employees to
participate in personal and professional training to obtain
relevant regulatory qualification for conducting private
equity management in the PRC.
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Labour Standards

The Group strictly prohibits the use of child and forced
labour. Through the well-established recruitment policies,
including verifying the identity documents of all applicants
by human resources department during the recruitment
process to ensure that our employees are all above the
minimum legal working age and no forced labour is hired.
In case any irregularities in ages, identities and/or validities
of employment status were found, employment will be
terminated immediately and the Group will report the
incident to relevant authorities. The Group has complied
with all applicable laws and regulations in relation to
employment matters during the Year.

Supply Chain Management

Due to the nature of our principal business activities, the
Group had no major suppliers during the year ended 31
December 2021 (2020: Nil). To integrate the environmental
vision into the procurement of office supplies, the Group
have a green procurement policy (i.e. reuseable, repairable,
durable) and make a conscious effort to not be wasteful
when using or ordering supplies. With this in mind, we have
purchased refillable pens, environment-friendly paper and
refillable potable water. During the procurement process,
the Group evaluates and assesses the suppliers’ quality of
services and products, their experience and track record,
and review from public domain as to any reporting violation
to ESG rules and regulations. In order to minimize the
carbon emission, suppliers engaged by the Group are local
suppliers.

According to McKinsey Report, for most products, 80 to
90 percent of greenhouse-gas emission are “Scope 3”:
indirect emissions that occur across the Company’s value
chain, such as embedded emission in purchase of goods
and services, the primary function of the supply chain
ecosystem. As the primary interface with the upstream
supply chain, the procurement function has a decisive
role to play in shaping an organization’s ESG footprint,
both directly through purchase decisions and indirectly by
influencing product selections.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited
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Exhibit 1 as per illustration by McKinsey & Company:

Since sustainable procurement starts with greater
understanding the starting point and path, as illustrated
below by McKinsey. The Company’s sustainability
committee is mindful to the recommendations and shall
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be addressing the Plan to adhere to Cop 26 directives by 5| °
2050 along the defined path as indicated.

Exhibit 1

Sustainable procurement starts with understanding
the starting point and path, and then addressing

BEF*1

selected core value-creation themes.

Sustainable procurement plan

How good could we be?
MRS E?

8-12 weeks

8E 123

g -

HERELGRE

Bl& 1 R AR

MR AT B R IB R N SR B SR IE M R AT
B ITEERRRR - ARRIAIFBERE
BEIEREER
FEIRETE -

AP FE IR BR AT R MO BT TE RS

MR ZZEREFFESF Cop 2645

O FHEIRIRIG I T AR R R BR1E - ARIRMRIRIE
ERRLEEREEE -

RECE 2 g

How do we get there?
FFanfariEpat &l 2
20-24 weeks

20E 2438

Make it happen
B E

10+ months
10f@A LKL E

Determine the baseline

Understand overall business
sustainability context,
strategy, and goals

Perform benchmark on
sustainability performance vs
peers and leaders

Assess the upstream
environmental, social, and
governance (ESG) footprint

BEER

TRBEEERTREESS
ﬂ%&ﬁ%
HRTTREEERL - $1T7
SEMEREE
AHE EFRE  re hER
By

Establish the core

e Set up all internal and
external policies and
guidelines to meet
regulatory, customer, and
public demands (both
current and future)

e Implement principles
and initiatives for
conscious consumption
(eg, rightsizing of specs
and volumes to reduce
footprints)

FEIIAZ

. ﬂi%ﬁm%&%%ﬁ%&
BB UmEEE
ﬁ&@%%Iﬁm&*X)

s EMARHHEENRAILE
B (Pl S IBAERENEE
VAR R B )

Shift the organization

Continuously sharpen
policies and guidelines

in line with market
expectations

Structurally embed
conscious-consumption
principles into all category
strategies

Strengthen core value-
creation themes

BREE

HEMSES - THTER
Rig3l

KA BB HE RR GBI
o ER AP an SRR RS P
st EEEEEE
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How good could we be?
PRS2

8-12 weeks

8E 123

How do we get there?
F o foriEpat &l 2
20-24 weeks

20E 2438

Make it happen
B E

10+ months
10f@A LKL E

Determine how far to go

° Define vision on where to
lead, to match, and to follow;
distill core value-creation
themes

e Assess value at stake

e  Set concrete sustainability
ambition for procurement:
Where, when, and how far?

BEREZE

s TEEWVE - TENRBEAA
= RBRZOEEAEEE

o FHMEEREE

s ARBEREARNUKELRR
BAR : A - BERE S RERE ?

Drive value-creation initiatives

e Pilot priority initiatives

that enable differentiation
beyond foundational
requirements, eg:
Zero-carbon supply
base

Circularity and waste
reduction in supply
chain

Zero tolerance on
human-rights violations
at suppliers

HEEHEERIER S
AFELFE - BERBEEN

EkmEE(L - Hlan
- THRHEEEN
- HEBNBEREEDR

B
B EERILAEOTT

==l
BRERR

e Deploy at scale

External: embed

in category-

management and

supplier-management,

-development, and

-collaboration programs

Internal: formalize

in cross-functional

product- and corporate-

development projects

e  Track external and internal
sustainability performance,
communicating on impact
with stakeholders

o KRHREEHE

HNER - ERABERIE IR R

HEFER - BB

st 2l

WEB - IERC SRR

EmkArRREIER

o EMMIMNEB R AR ERRAE

M EREARE AR E

Source from Mckinsey & Company
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Service Responsibility

The Group aims at delivering a high quality of services
to its clients at all times. The Group believes that market
reputation and clients’ confidence in the services are
critical to its success. As the Group with clients of PRC
companies, the Group is in an unique position to leverage
our expertise to promote sustainable business practices
and help customers capitalise on opportunities to a
more sustainable economy. In achieving this aim, we are
committed to providing them with prompt, competent and
unbiased professional services who seeks for financial
private equity management and consulting services. This
is guided by our services delivery process and services
quality standards. This covers everything from assessing
the suitability of services to ensuring we fulfil our duties.
Engagement of these services is not subject to any recall
for safety and health reasons, and no service related
complaints has been received by the Group during the
Year. The Group has been devoted to improving its
management in every aspect of its operation to create
greater value for our customers and the shareholders of
the Company.

The Group is committed to protect intellectual property
rights and not to infringe any third-party interests. We
protect intellectual property rights by ensuring licensed
software is used for our business operations.

During the Year, we are not aware of any incidents of
non-compliance with regulations and/or voluntary codes
concerning the Group’s service information and labelling,
as well as marketing communications including advertising.

Protection of Privacy

The Group places the highest priority on protecting the
privacy of our customers and employees in the collection,
processing and use of their personal data in compliance
with Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486).
The Group adheres to the applicable data protection
regulations and ensures appropriate technical measures
are in place to protect personal data against unauthorised
use or access. The Group also ensures that customers’
personal data are kept confidential and securely to prevent
against loss, unauthorised access, use, modification or
disclosure, and processed only for the purpose for which
it has been collected. No non-compliance or complaints
from customers regarding personal data privacy has been
received during the Year.
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Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to upholding the highest ethical
standard. The Group has set forth in our staff’s code for
the required conducts of our employees as well as anti-
fraud and whistleblowing policies to prevent, detect and
report each and every form of bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering. Any such kind of fraudulent
acts is prohibited and the Group will not tolerate any
fraudulent business activities. In particular, all directors and
employees should avoid conflict of personal interest relating
to their professional duties and are required to declare any
conflict of interest by disclosure form to ensure appropriate
assurance for the Group in matters of conflict of interest,
professional and scientific integrity, and to protect the
Group from avoiding regulatory and reputational risk.

The Group operate a whistleblowing policy, which allows
employees to report matters of concern about privacy
and confidentiality, conflicts of interest, bribery and anti-
corruption to the financial controller. If it is a possible
criminal offence case, financial controller will bring the case
to the Group, who will refer to audit committee to decide
further action with consultation from our legal advisers.

The Group promises that whistleblowers will not be
dismissed or mistreated due to the reporting. Investigation
work for whistleblowing reports will be handled with
strict confidentiality under any circumstances to preserve
anonymity.

To ensure the staff is aware of the regulatory obligations
and the possible consequences of breaching the
obligations, the Group provides regular training to staff on
anit-corruption. The Group also send notice to all staff in
order to ensure they are fully aware with the compliance of
law and regulations.

All staff members of the Group are required to comply with
Anti-Money Laundering and Counter- Terrorist Financing
(Financial Institutes) Ordinance (Cap. 615) and follow the
AML/CTF guideline laid down by the Group.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited |
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During the Year, no directors and employees obtained or
provided benefits to customers, suppliers, or people with
business relationship with the Group, no whistleblowing
disclosures were received and no litigations relating to
matters of bribery, extortion, fraud or money laundering
were brought against the Group or our employees.

Community Investment

During the year, the Group’s advisory division, was actively
engaged with our consulting client, Denglao, in supporting
the covid-protection initiatives with the People’s Republic
of China for Social Interest prospectus on Covid-reduction
process.
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Details on the Group’s corporate governance practices set out
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ENVIRONMENTAL Section Reference
85 HHEAZ=E

Aspect A1: Emissions

BEA1 : HEi

Al

A1.1

General Disclosure

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to air
and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.

—RHEE

BHAZRIORERBIN - FOK KT E R

NRBEREEEDMNELENER

(@ BR:XK

(o) BEFHBITABEATZENHMWERE
e

The types of emissions and respective
emissions data.

BEREE RS B EIE -

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect
(Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

Hiz(HE1) MHZER(EE2) =R EH
HE (LAMEAEAL) K (@A) % (Filan -
BES  TERME) -

Total hazardous waste produced (in
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

EENEAZEEYHE (ABEAER) M (HER)
REfIN - GENES - BERHE) °
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° Emissions

e B

° Emissions
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° Emissions

e B

e Wastes Management/not
applicable as no hazardous
waste was generated in the
Group’s operation
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Section Reference

R

HHEAE &

Aspect A1: Emissions

EEA1 : HEl

Al1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in e Wastes Management
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).
ErNEEEES (UREL)R(MER)  BEEDER
BE(HIm - FEMES - SRERE) °

A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) setand ®  Emissions
steps taken to achieve them.
HILERENFHRERLBRZZAREMA o BN

A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non- e  Wastes Management

hazardous wastes are handled, and a
description of reduction target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve.

R INRIERIR B B R EEEEY - U KREHAE R
FHIR A BERERZE B ERRRH TR -

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

EBHA2: EiRER

REZEY)E IR

A2

A2.1

General Disclosure

Information on:

Policies on the efficient use of resources,
including energy, water and other raw
materials.

—REIEEE

BRALATER -

BN BN AERNEER - BIEEIR - KA
fth ER#1 8 o

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption
by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total
(kWh in ’000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit
of production volume, per facility).
RERE DN ERE R SKEEERERE (G
B meulm)BE(TRE
E(flan - GENES - GERE)

TMEEGER)ERRA |

B{74°000s) &

Use of Resources

BIREM

Use of Resources

BIREEA

T —FFH
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ENVIRONMENTAL Section Reference

R HHEAE &

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
BEA2 : HiR{ER

A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity e  Use of Resources/not
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per applicable as no data
facility). available
BFEKERTE(BIN  BENES - 5@ o ERER/TER - TIERYT
i) OIS EUE

A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency e  Use of Resources
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

WD RENERERZXEZEZELERZEFR » BRER
R R -

A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue e Use of Resources
in sourcing water that is fit for purpose,
water efficiency target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.
MAERBEAKRRESFEAFaENE « FREA
7 ERENAKREBRERERZ
£ IR PR -

A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished ®  Use of Resources/not
products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with applicable as no packaging
reference to per unit produced. material was used in the

Group’s operation
AREENBEME@E(ANEAER) - Uk o  BERER/TEM - JHEPA
(WER)2EGEEBMERE - SEZEWEFABEME

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EEAS : IRIEEBRER

A3 General Disclosure e  The Environment and Natural
Resources
Policies on minimising the issuer’s
significant impact on the environment and
natural resources.

—RRIRE s RBEHEANRER
HIEBETAHREMBERERENEATZE
HIERER ©
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Section Reference

R

HHEAE &

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EEAS : RIFEBAER

AS3.1 Description of the significant impacts of
activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to
manage them.
HAUEBERBENEAERNEATERER
NEEREHMTENTE -

Aspect A4: Climate Change
[EH A4 : RIREE

Emissions

Use of Resources

The Environment and Natural
Resources

BERR

BIRE A

RIREBFARER

Ad General Disclosure
Policies on identification and mitigation of
significant climate-related issues which
have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer.
— MR EE
Bnl BOR S B A8 K %@E%ﬁAFiwam
BERRIREEEENBE

A4 A Description of the significant climate-
related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the issuer, and
the actions taken to manage them.

Climate Change

Climate Change

DB R AIRESHBETAEEFENER R (g
RIEEHEEERERNEERFALENTE -
SMNEEMRBR)ARAR | —T=—FFH
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SOCIAL Section Reference

R HHEAE &

Aspect B1: Employment
EBEB1 : &%

B1 General Disclosure e  Employment
Information on:
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to
compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and
welfare.
— R EE s [BE
BRAMENERE - BEREN - TESH - &
B FEKE - St RIERUAREAMFS
NAg ) & xL -
@ BE: K
(b)) BEBTHBETATEAZENEREEN
VERR o

B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment e  Employment
type, age group and geographical region.
RIER - EEE - FIRARI BRI E D o  (ERE
BB 5B 1 o

B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age e  Employment
group and geographical region.
RtR - FiRARMMIBEHE DN E TRER » (ERE

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited | Annual Report 2021
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SOCIAL Section Reference

RE HEAE

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
[EmB2 : @FHZE

B2 General Disclosure e  Health and Safety
Information on:
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to
providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

—RHEE o [EEHZR
BRARELZ 2O TIERBTREE TR THE
EERER
@ B X
(o) BETFHETABERZENERNER
B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities ®  Health and Safety

occurred in each of the past three years
including the reporting year.

BE=F(BEREFE)SFHLEETIER RBEEZSE
RIS T A B L o

B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. e Health and Safety
EATHBEXRTIEAS - o REHEZE

B2.3 Description of occupational health and e Health and Safety
safety measures adopted, how they are
implemented and monitored.
HMFTREABERER T 2ER - KRB o [EEHEZSE
MEm&EETA -

Aspect B3: Development and Training

BT B3 : %Rl

B3 General Disclosure e  Development and Training
Policies on improving employees’
knowledge and skills for discharging duties
at work.
Description of training activities.
Note: Training refers to vocational training.
It may include internal and external
courses paid by the employer.
— MR o ERHEEI
BEERA B TEIT T/EBE A M R B AE A
% o

ERIEERREA
BIAE - BB IEB IR - HAleefEhE
I AER R SMEBRAZ

TMEEGER)ERRR | —E-—F&F§
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SOCIAL

Section Reference

R

HHEAE &

Aspect B3: Development and Training

[EEB3 : BRI

B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by
gender and employee category (e.g. senior
management, middle management).
BMRRETEMNPINESRERAS

BEEABEIWETADL -

B3.2 The average training hours completed
per employee by gender and employee

category.

BRI R 8 TR S 8 T e T

S

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited
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SOCIAL

IRIE - HEREGWRE

Section Reference

R

HHEAE &

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[EH B4 : & T #8|

B4 General Disclosure

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to
preventing child and forces labour.

— R EE

B ILET KA LFHHNER

(@ BE: &

(b) ETFTHBEITABEAZENRBEERE
e

B4.1 Description of measures to review
employment practices to avoid child and
forced labour.

R BB E R A AR R E T K& K%
T o

B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate
such practices when discovered.
R IR E RIBE R ERR B BB R PR ALY

WK

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EH B5 : HiESEEE

Labour Standards

Labour Standards

=

AT HER|

=

N

Labour Standards

& TR

B5 General Disclosure

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to
preventing child and forces labour.

—RIXE

BEER IEE T ko8 655 TEVEHL -

@ BE: K

(o) BEFHBEBITABEAZENHMEEREK
Rl o

Supply Chain Management

HrERER

TMEEGER)ERRR | —E-—F&F§
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SOCIAL Section Reference
= tHEAZER

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EEBS5 : #EHEE

B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical
region.
i@ S D HEREE -

B5.2 Description of practices relating
to engaging suppliers, number of
suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, how they are implemented
and monitored.
BRI AHERRIEN - MERITEHIE
DIRHERENE - U RBBENRHITRESR

FE e

ol

B5.3 Description of practices used to identify
environmental and social risks along
the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
A SR RS ERS R IRE Rt g R
BEVER - A RABRAIT REER K ©

B5.4 Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and
services when selecting suppliers, and
how they are implemented and monitored.
R SRR R R (8 2 MR IR E an KR TS
EVEHI - ARIBBANIT RERNTE

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited | Annual Report 2021
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SOCIAL Section Reference

HE HHEAE &

Aspect B6: Service Responsibility
[BHEB6 : RFFS{E

B6 General Disclosure *  Service Responsibility
Information on:
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to health
and safety, advertising labelling and
privacy matters relating to products
and services provided and methods
of redress.
—RRHEE e RBEE
BREFREEMNMBHBOREEELZ S  BEIR
KRB EEARMRTENEHR

@ BE: R
(o) BEBITHBTAGEAZENHEBEZER
Rl
B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or *  Service Responsibility

shipped subject to recalls for safety and

health reasons.
EEXRCEXERBHTALLERFEIEAT » REEE
AR B D

B6.2 Number of products and service related *  Service Responsibility
complaints received and how they are
dealt with.
REBRERMRGHIRGFEE AREHS o REEE
V% o
B6.3 Description of practices relating to e  Service Responsibility

observing and protecting intellectual
property rights.

L8 <7 RARPE AR EE B B BB - o BRI

B6.4 Description of quality assurance process e  Service Responsibility
and recall procedures.
o 2t o B A E BT N B on MR T o s RBELE

B6.5 Description of consumer data protection e  Service Responsibility

and privacy policies, how they are

implemented and monitored.

HAUH B EEURIRE RALBEUR - ARIEES o REER
TRERFGE -

SHEEER)BRAR | —T-—%%&8 g7
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SOCIAL Section Reference

HE HHEAE &

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
[E®EB7 : RE/S

B7 General Disclosure
Information on:
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and e  Anti-corruption
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money

laundering.
—RHEE s REF
BRI - 91R - BEFROLRENER
@ BE:X&
b) BTHETABEAZENRBEERZK
Rl e
B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases e Anti-corruption

regarding corrupt practices brought

against the issuer or its employees during

the reporting period and the outcomes of

the cases.

RBERRHBTASHESRHTEERZDN » KBS
BT RARMGHEE REFAER -

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
E®B7 : RES

B7.2 Description of preventive measures and e Anti-corruption
whistle-blowing procedures, how they are
implemented and monitored.
SR ERRRIZT AREEHTRE « RES

BIE e

B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training e Anti-corruption
provided to directors and staff.
MAmEENE IRENREISFEI - s REF
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SOCIAL Section Reference

HE HHEAE &

Aspect B8: Community Investment
[EHBS : #HERE

B8 General Disclosure e Community Investment
Policies on community engagement to
understand the needs of the communities
where the issuer operates and to ensure
its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.
— R EE o  HEIE
RN ESHETRETALEMNECLETE
PAR W (R B R B) & et [ F 2= BB ©

B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. e  Community Investment
education, environmental concerns, labour
needs, health, culture, sport).
EIEREE(IHE  REEH - BITE o (EIEE
koo @B - Xt - BBE) °

B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or e Community Investment
time) to the focus area.
EHETHBEMBABR(NSEIRHE) o o HERKRE

SHEEGER)ERAR | —2-—558 g9
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CHENG & CHENG LIMITED

Certified Public Accountants

55 0 o 65 B P A AR F)

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ASIAN CAPITAL RESOURCES (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out
on pages 98 to 223, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter
described in the Basis For Qualified Opinion section of our
report, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

As disclosed in Note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements, the carrying amount of goodwill which has
been allocated to consultancy services segment after
impairment is HK$5,000,000 as at 31 December 2021.
During the year ended 31 December 2021, impairment
loss on goodwill allocated to consultancy services
segment of HK$18,900,000 and media services segment
of HK$143,000 were recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (Cont'd)

As reported in the auditor’'s report on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2020, we were unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves as to the
reasonableness of assumptions made by the directors
in the estimation of recoverable amount of the related
cash-generating unit for consultancy services segment
(the “CGU”) as at 31 December 2020 and hence we
were unable to satisfy ourselves by alternative means
concerning the recoverable amount of goodwill as included
in the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2020 and the Group’s impairment loss of
goodwill included in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended
31 December 2020.

In respect of the audit for the current year, we have not
been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
provide a basis for an audit opinion on whether the above-
mentioned impairment loss of HK$19,043,000 should
be recognised for the year ended 31 December 2021 or
earlier in prior years by the Group. As a result, we were
unable to determine whether the amount of impairment
loss recognised in the current year and the prior years are
free from material misstatements.

As the figures in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2020 formed the opening
balances of the respective elements of the current year’s
consolidated financial statements, any adjustments that
might have been found to be necessary in respect of the
above would have a significant effect in the impairment
loss on goodwill on the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of cash flows and the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021.

Any adjustments to the figures as described above might
have a consequential effect on the Group’s financial
performance and cash flows for the years ended 31
December 2021 and 31 December 2020 and the financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2020 and the
related disclosures thereof in the consolidated financial
statements.

IR AN R &

REBRZE®R 2

MEBAERBEE S _EF+_A=+—8
iifﬁ %ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ%%ﬁiﬁp 5
KREMB R A B BREEENESHTR
:;_7¢+ A=+—BEBEMRE DS
MIReEEEM((RESELEN MK
SHETRABRZAEN - At FBAREUE
m%&%&@&ﬁﬁmm:$_$¢+_ﬁ
=+ —BMEAER AR R EE R E K
CHEURHE-_Z-_TF+_A=+—HLHF
EHGABEEREME2mRERMEREELN
B E T8 -

MERFEMNEZNS  TFERENEREE
W2 F%RFEE £t 19,043, oooﬁ%nmmﬁ
EEECRAAEBEREHE_ST-_—F
TZA=T—HLEFEINERFEREEZ
ER - Fitt RAFEEIECHREEINFERL
BEFEMNREBECEERWEERNERE
;,;ﬁo

Am - R_F_FTF+_A=1T—HHEUH
ARRRBFERE R FEFEEMBTROSIA
B HFRE - (EREM s Ll S B LA
HEOAREEFARRREMEEAKER &
EHERERNBEREBRARBEE-ZT
——FtZ A=t BULEFENGEEWHRR
RHERARBEELERTE

HEFEH DGRE - ARt eRETEAER

(2R —F+ _A=+—RAR-T_FTF
"f——ﬂ :+ H Eﬁﬁﬁﬁ%i’%fﬁﬁfﬁi/;|h§LA&Z’S
SER-_Z_TF+-A=+—HHOHBIKR
AR R 6 ek A B Ll AR EE -

SMNEEFEBOBRAR | —F——FFH
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (Cont'd)

Our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021 is also modified
because of possible effect of our scope limitation on the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2020 on the comparability of the related 2021
figures and the 2020 figures in the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
qualified opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements which indicates that the Group has incurred
losses for a number of years. The Group has incurred a net
loss of HK$16,210,000 for the year ended 31 December
2021 and sustained net current liabilities of HK$8,897,000
and capital deficiency of HK$5,332,000 at 31 December
2021. These events or conditions, along with other matters
as set forth in Note 2, indicate that a material uncertainty
exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified
in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the
matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section
and the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern
section, we have determined the matters described below
to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our
report.

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited
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How the matter was EENER
Key audit matter addressed in our audit FAREZEE T ERERRAEIE
Impairment assessment of Our procedures in relation to BZREMEWEE HEH RHEAmERIER
trade and other receivables impairment assessment of trade  ZJs{EF{E BEMGEZEFEE
notes and other receivables included:
Refer to notes 21 and 31(b)(i) — Assessing the grouping of 2E4 A B EmEKMT

to the consolidated financial  trade and other receivables & 21 & 31(b)(i) — BEREBREEANMKE

statements

As at 31 December 2021,
the trade and other
receivables (net of
impairment) of the Group
amounted to approximately
HK$21,509,000.

The expected credit
losses model involved
management’s estimate
of the expected credit loss
to be incurred, which is
estimated by taking into
account various factors
including the credit loss
experience, ageing of
overdue receivables,
customers’ or debtors’
repayment history and the
ability of the customers
or debtors in fulfilling their
repayment obligation, as well
as the current estimation
involved a significant degree
of management judgement.

by considering the nature of
the debtors and credit risk
characteristics;

— Testing the accuracy and

completeness of the data
used by management to
develop the historical loss
rates and assessing the
sufficiency, reliability and
relevancy of the data;

Assessing the appropriateness
of the impairment loss
methodology, testing the
calculation of the historical
loss rates and evaluating the
reasonableness of the forward-
looking adjustments made to
reflect current and forecast
future economic conditions;

— Testing the ageing of trade

debtors and other receivables
on a sample basis;

— Testing the calculation of

expected credit loss provisions
considering the amount due at
the reporting date, creditability
of customers and debtors and
other qualitative factors; and

Checking, on a sample basis,
the subsequent settlement of
trade and other receivables by
customers and debtors after
the reporting period.

R—E-_—F+=H

=+—H  B£H
ZE 5 NE MR

KON E) /4
21,509,000 7T °

BHREEBHRENY
REREHBELN
BHEEBEMNMG
it Ty mE RE IR
Hx - BRiEEERR
& B YRR
MRl - BPE
ANEFCHEREPH
BHEABRITEREME
FIBE 1 A R IR B 35 Ko
EREEEHEHOMG
it

EMEEGER)BR AR

B REERBRE

AHEE 5 R E MR
RAREES

BB IR B A AR 3
BIEERLXPER
B BRIR B ERE 1 N 5
B - WRHEREIE
AN - AT R
HHEAE

AHERERETTAN
BAME  ARBERE
B R EL G
ShRBRE AT R FAHR
B A R 5L EY AT RE
MR AEE
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B
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. As described in the Basis for
Qualified Opinion section above, we were unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves
as to the carrying amounts of goodwill as at 31 December
2020 and impairment loss on goodwill for the years ended
31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, as disclosed
in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.
Accordingly, we are unable to conclude whether or not the
other information is materially misstated with respect to
this matter.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont'd)

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

— |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B RNET R &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Cont'a)

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

— Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, ZHZHREZZE ST (HTBE)BHNTEI8
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the - AR ERESERETER  %ZF
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant ~ ##IR G 3EE S EEHATZH 35 R R 2B ES 121
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our  {F{aJ& Kk

audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Cont'a)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

CHENG & CHENG LIMITED
Certified Public Accountants

Lam Chun Sing

Practising Certificate Number P06998

Hong Kong

14 April 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeEnRIt2ElRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_Z-—4F+-_A=+—ALEFE

98

Note 2021 2020
Lk —¥-—F —ZT-%T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHERT FAT
Revenue Wz 6(a) 31,695 14,354
Cost of services BRASAK AN (2,606) (2,617)
Cost of sales SHER A (1,614) (79)
Other revenue and net income EAth iz R A FRE 6(b) 243 254
Administrative and operating expenses 1T & & @557 (22,304) (11,153)
Impairment loss on goodwill BB ERE A 16 (19,043) (17,900)
Loss on disposal of plant and HERE RERE s EE
equipment (23) (43)
Written off of plant and equipment WSERR S K R - 9)
Written off of other receivables i S5 L b FE LS BR 3R = (61)
Written off of rental deposit WHEESEE (177) -~
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries B A F 2 Ei8 (129) )
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & — R B QR R dEs 33 589 4,822
Loss from operations KL BB (13,369) (12,435)
Finance costs BhE R 8 (577) (574)
Share of profit/(loss) of associates DIGEE R REF,(EE) 625 (199)
Loss before taxation BRELATE IR 9 (13,321) (13,208)
Income tax expenses Friefif sz 11 (2,889) (605)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR REERE (16,210) (13,813)
Other comprehensive loss: Efh 2 mEIE
Item that will not be reclassified to TeENHIBEEBREREN
profit or loss: HH .
Fair value loss on financial AT ER A HA
assets at fair value through other 2EWE([1BRATE
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) FFAHMEERES )
BB EE 2 ATE
&1 (30) (44)
ltems that may be reclassified B gEmoEE
subsequently to profit or loss: EmcIEE
Exchange difference arising on BMEBINEBESLZ
translation of foreign operations PE =% 478 (604)
Exchange difference reclassified to BN O BEETFHE—M
profit or loss on deregistration of D EE /N i =t o
a subsidiary e H Z5E (473) -
Other comprehensive loss ANEFHMEHE
for the year, net of tax B8, MBkFIE (25) (648)

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeEnRIt2ElnR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-_-H+-A=1+—HILFE

Note 2021 2020
B &E ¥ —T-FTHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT FAT
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE FEEXEEIEEE
LOSS FOR THE YEAR (16,235) (14,461)
LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO: THANLTELEE :
— owners of the Company R /NEIEZZ =N (9,927) (12,521)
— non-controlling interests — JEPR AR A RS (6,283) (1,292)
(16,210) (13,813)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE THIANLEWS
LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO: 2HEEBESE .
— owners of the Company —ARREHERA (9,896) (13,231)
— non-controlling interests — IEIE AR S (6,339) (1,230)
(16,235) (14,461)
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Loss per share: HRREE 13
Basic and diluted BEARNES (0.05) (0.06)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these Bl ZBisEBRZEHR AT HRE 2 —315 °
consolidated financial statement.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FEMBRAR

As at 31 December 2021
RZZE-_—F+-A=+—H

Note 2021 2020
B e B —F —Z-ZTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FHEIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FERHEE 14 1,301 1,848
Property, plant and equipment Wz - BB MERE
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 388 158
Goodwill S 16 5,000 24,041
Interests in associates i NI Fs 17 5,392 4,758
Financial assets at fair value through BN ERIAEM
other comprehensive income FHKGE BBEE 18 - 30
Amount due from an investee JEI — I E S5
company NAEIFIR 19 596 578
Rental deposit Heke 72 -
12,749 31,413
CURRENT ASSETS RENEE
Inventories FE 20 152 582
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H A R AR SR 21 21,509 7,543
Cash and cash equivalents Re MRSEEY 22 4,681 7,061
26,342 15,186
Assets classified as held for sale DERFHEHEEE 24 5,854 —
32,196 15,186
CURRENT LIABILITIES RENEE
Trade and other payables B 5 REMERIRFK 25 21,531 14,270
Amounts due to associates JES B2 A RIFUA 17 3,021 2,340
Lease liabilities HEaE 26 244 163
Tax payable FESBETR 3,494 605
28,290 17,378
Liabilities directly associated with BRHEHEEERE
assets classified as held for sale HEmaE 24 12,803 =
41,093 17,378
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES mEEEFE (8,897) (2,192)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERREERE
LIABILITIES 3,852 29,221
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EREEE
Amount due to a director of AN AYNG]
the Company —HBESFHIR 30(a) 6,254 7,066
Amount due to a substantial JEN —ZEEARERFUA
shareholder 30(b) 2,781 11,252
Lease liabilities HEBFE 26 149 -
9,184 18,318

100 Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
GEMBRAR

As at 31 December 2021
RZZT-_—F+-A=+—H

Note 2021 2020
B &E —B-—F —ZT-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
NET (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (&f§) EEPE (5,332) 10,903
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR R fE
Share capital N 27 20,091 200,902
Reserves e (21,583) (191,798)
(Capital deficiency)/Equity attributable AR FIHEA AFELL
to owners of the Company (BB, (1,492) 9,104
Non-controlling interests FEIE R A = (3,840) 1,799
TOTAL (CAPITAL DEFICIENCY)/ (BAXEH) EisiEE
EQUITY (5,332) 10,903

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these Bl ZHisEBRZSHEA T BHREK 2 — 885 -
consolidated financial statements.

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of R-ZE-—FA+HAEEESHERFE

Directors on 14 April 2022. FzE -
Xie Xuan Feng Ke g BE
Director Director EFE EFE

SHEEGERERART | —2-—5%8 {01



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GEEmBERER

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FATRBNES
Issued Convertible Non-
share Share Capital ~ Translation  Fairvalue bonds equity Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium  reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
ThkRS
Bk RBEE GARE  ERBRE  ATERR  ERRRE 2ithR B HeRER  ReE
HKS000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HKS$'000 HKS'000  HKS$'000
T T T T TET T TEL  TER TET TET
Asat 1 January 2020 R-E-%%5-5-A 176,183 304,371 26,020 (3,566) 162 3,091 (686,395 (80,134) ) (80,139)
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - - (12521)  (12.521) (129 (13813
Other comprehensive loss TEEENRERE:
for the year, net of tax MEHE - - - (666) (m - - (10 62 (648)
Total comprehensive KEE
loss forthe year 2FERLE - - - 1666 m S %) {3m) (20 (4460
Conversion of convertble bonds - BT ARES ARG
into shares 24719 80,841 - - - 3,001) - 102469 - 102,469
Release of non-controling HE-ANELEE
interests upon deregistration (3 2
of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - 1 1
Acquisiton of subsidaries with ~ WEEMBAFER
non-controling interests FrRER - - - - - - - - 3029 3029
Disposal of financial assets HERATETALR
at fair value through other 2EpEABAE
comprehensive income - - - - (252) - 252 - - -
As at 31 December 2020  Qut -3
and at 1 January 2021 +ZR=1-B%
R-F--F-F-B 200002 385212 26,020 (4,232) (134) - (598,664) 9,104 1,799 10,903
Loss for the year TEEER = = = - - - Q%1 P2 (6283 (16210)
Other comprehensive loss FEFEMREER
for the year, net of tax il - - - 61 (30) - - 3 (56) 25
Total comprehensive loss TEE2EERLE
for the year - - - 61 (30) - (9927) (9,89%) (6,339) (16,235)
Acquistion of YEREAR
non-controling FihiEs
interests in subsiciares (note 36 (Ff3£36) - - - - - - (700) (700) 700 -
Capital reduction Tl (180811) - 180811 - - - - - - -
As at 31 December 2021 WZFz-F
+-A=t-A 20,091 386,212 206,831 [@171) (164) - (609.291) (1,49 (3,840 (5,332)

The accompanying notes form an
consolidated financial statements.

integral part of these
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GEESMER
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—Ft+-_A=t—RHIEFE

2021 2020
—E-—4f —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THER FAT

CASH FLOWS FROM WEEHEECHERE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before taxation BRELRIEE (13,321) (13,208)
Adjustments for: AT ZIEFE
Share of (profit)/loss of associates DMEBE AR CaF) B8 (625) 199
Interest income FEUA (19) (42)
Finance costs BhE KA 577 574
Depreciation of property, V. BELRBZITE

plant and equipment 881 405
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEECITE 709 269
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment HERRE k&2 A 23 43
Impairment loss on goodwill EE R E RS 19,043 17,900
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—ENB AR Z W (589) (4,822)
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries TIEMT B AR 2 EE 129 3
Written off of other receivables i 55 L A FE AR 3R - 61
Written off of rental deposit WEE ke 177 -
Written off of plant and equipment WEH R K s - 9
Operating cash flows before changes EEEREEAIZ

in working capital BERSRE 6,985 1,391
Increase in trade and B 5 Ik Fo A MR X

other receivables 0 (17,223) (10,959)
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories TERD,(38N) 430 (582)
Increase in trade and B 5 I E M BR K

other payables 0 8,587 6,536
Cash used in operations KEFTAZIRE (1,221) (3,614)
Interest received B HFILE 1 2
Net cash used in operating KEEBFTA 2

activities & F58 (1,220) (3,612)

SHEEER)ERAR | -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

nv \éiﬁﬁ;ﬁg

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

2021 2020
—B-—F —Z_FTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FAT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING BRESHEECHERE

ACTIVITIES
Net cash inflow from acquisition of Wi —REB A

a subsidiary (note 34) Zfﬁium)\%gﬁ(wufwf) - 22
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets &R AT EFAH M2 EKEE

at FVTOCI (note 18) W T5 B ERPTIS 5IE

(BfzE18) 57 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEwE - JF%E%&

plant and equipment BRI TSR 30 9
Purchase of property, plant and equipment B E %2 W%&nx{% (712) (883)
Advances to associates Bl VNEP (9) (10)
Net cash used in investing activities REEESMA RS T (634) (862)
CASH FLOWS FROM RETHEEZRESRE

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
(Repayment to)/Advance from a director aia)/i@%lzli

of the Company —ZEER (900) 1,128
(Repayment to)/Advance from ai@)/ﬁﬂﬂl %Ixﬂx%

a substantial shareholder FRIEFER (8,975) 4,898
Advances from associates ke l/N Tim 681 480
Cash advances from third parties F=H 2RSSR 8,865 -
Lease liabilities repayment HEABEN (200) (494)
Interest paid for lease liabilities HEBEDMFE (73) (39)
Net cash (used in)/generated from BMEEB(FTR) EEZ

financing activities RE F8 (602) 5,973
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH R&RIELZEMGEL)

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS W hniEEE (2,456) 1,499
EFFECTS OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE [ExgE2HE

RATE CHANGES 77 42
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS NEMZRERIEEEY

AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 7,061 5,520
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS NERZIEERIEEEY

AT END OF THE YEAR 4,682 7,061
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND HE&RREEEYDIT

CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank and cash balances R1T MR & &k 4,681 7,061
Bank and cash balances included AR EHEEEDN

in assets classified as held for sale RITRIR SR 1 —

4,682 7,061

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GEESMER

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE_Z-—Ft+-_A=t—RHIEFE

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM & EFFEL BB ZHER

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of
cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

TRFINAGEERETHMELABEZE
(BREASMIFRSEY)  BETDELR
BHNRERECK(IARRRAERESE) AN
KEGERERERTHIERREZYMESE
Ren8zafE -

Amount Total

Cash due to Amount liabilities

advances ~ Amounts  adirector dueto Convertible from

from due to of the a substantial bonds Lease financing

third parties  associates ~ Company shareholder payable liabilities  activities

FEft Feft HEED

B=H2 EftliE F05-% -£iE Eft Tk g%

Re8A AFRE EENE RRFE k&% HEARH BfEEE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TER TER TER TER TER TER TER

At 1 January 2020 W_Z-2F-A—-H - 1,860 5,801 9,208 102,275 657 119,796

Financing cash flow BEARSTE - 480 1,128 4,898 - (533) 5973

Interest expenses FEHEY - - - 341 194 39 574

Conversion of convertiole BRTARESARA

bonds into shares - - - - (102,469) - (102,469)

Exchange adjustments ERRE - - 137 - - - 137

Set off with trade receivables NBE SERER - - - (9,972) - - (9,972)

Set off with other payables MRt ERER - - - 6,782 - - 6,782
At 31 December 2020 RZZZBF+-A=1-H

and at 1 January 2021 i - 2,340 7,066 11,252 - 163 20,821

Financing cash flow BERENE 8,865 681 (900) (8,975) - 273) (602)

Interest expenses fER% - - - 504 - 78 577

New leases entered IR kS - - - - - 3,189 3,189

Exchange adjustments ERAE - - 88 - - 51 139

Reclassified as held for sale BNARARERE - - - - - (2,810) (2,810)

As at 31 December 2021 RZE=-4+ZA=+-H 8,865 3,021 6,264 2,781 - 393 21,314
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

1. CORPORATION INFORMATION 1. ATE&EH

106 Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
as an exempted company with limited liability and its
shares are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. The addresses of the registered
office and principal place of business of the Company
are disclosed in the corporate information section of
this annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the
presentation and functional currency of the Company.
The functional currency of the subsidiaries of the
Company mainly include Renminbi (‘RMB”) and HKS$.
All values are rounded to nearest thousand unless
otherwise stated.

The principal activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are investment
holdings, provision of business consultation services,
and private investment fund management services,
provision of traditional media and internet media
content production management services and
media content design services, provision of internet
development and maintenance services, and provision
of advertising and marketing promotion services.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”). For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing
Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Cont’a)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity of the Group in
light of the fact that the Group has incurred losses
for number of years and a net loss of HK$16,210,000
during the year ended 31 December 2021 and as
of that date, the Group’s net current liabilities and
capital deficiency as of 31 December 2021 amounted
to HK$8,897,000 and HK$5,332,000 respectively.

In order to improve the Group’s financial position,
to provide liquidity and cashflows and to sustain the
Group’s as a going concern, the management has
taken and/or will take the following measures:

()  The Group is taking measures to tighten cost
controls over various operating costs and
expenses with the aim to attain profitable and
positive cash flow operation;

(i) The Group has negotiated and agreed with Mr.
Xie Xuan, the substantial shareholder of the
Company to provide a 18-month stand-by credit
facility of HK$20,000,000 to the Company; and

(i)  Asian Dynamics International Limited (“ADIL"),
the substantial shareholder of the Company and
Mr. Xie Xuan have agreed to provide continuing
financial support to the Group to meet its
liabilities as they fall due.

The directors of the Company considered that, upon
obtaining the above-mentioned stand-by facilities,
the Group will have sufficient cash resources to
satisfy its future working capital and other financing
requirement. Moreover, the Group has completed
the disposal of some subsidiaries (see note 24) on 5
January 2022 in order to reduce the operating cost
of the Group. The Group’s assets and liabilities will
be reduced by HK$5,854,000 and HK$12,803,000
respectively, which will improve the financial position
of the Group after the disposal of those subsidiaries.
Accordingly, the directors of the Company considered
that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis. The
stand-by facility of HK$20,000,000 from ADIL has
been granted to the Company on 1 April 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

3. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs 3. [EREELTEHMRR L2
(@) Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily (a) MEFEERBEFNSIETEEM

effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2021 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendment to Covid-19-Related Rent
HKFRS 16 Concessions

Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, Reform — Phase 2
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs
in the current year has had no material impact on
the Group’s financial positions and performance
for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—Ft+-_A=t—RHIEFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs
(Cont’d)

(b)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but

not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following
new and amendments to HKFRSs that have
been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to
HKFRS 3

Amendments to
HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendment to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 1 and

HKFRS Practice

Statement 2
Amendments to

HKAS 8
Amendments to

HKAS 12

Amendments to
HKAS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 37

Amendments to
HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the
related Amendments?®

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an
Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture*

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021"

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current
and related amendments
to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)°

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies®

Definition of Accounting
Estimates®

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from
a Single Transaction®

Property, Plant and
Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfiling a Contract?

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-20202
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

3.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs
(Cont’d)
(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (Cont’d)
| Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 April 2021.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2022.
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2028.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

a date to be determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that
the application of all new and amendments
to HKFRSs will have no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
certain financial instruments that are measured at
fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except
for leasing transactions that are accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 16, and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not
fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of
Assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and
best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement
date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly
or indirectly; and

e |Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

(a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statements of the
Company and entities (including structured
entities) controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

° has power over the investee;

® s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’a)

Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

* has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of
the voting rights of an investee, it has power
over the investee when the voting rights are
sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally.
The Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether or not the
Group’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient
to give it power, including:

e the size of the Group’s holding of voting
rights relative to the size and dispersion of
holdings of the other vote holders;

e potential voting rights held by the Group,
other vote holders or other parties;

* rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

* any additional facts and circumstances
that indicate that the Group has, or does
not have, the current ability to direct the
relevant activities at the time that decisions
need to be made, including voting patterns
at previous shareholders’ meetings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’a)

(a)

Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners
of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are
presented separately from the Group’s equity
therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’a) 4. BEXEHBEZ)
(a) Basis of consolidation (Cont'd) (a) “ARBEEE)

114 Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests
in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests
in existing subsidiaries that do not result in
the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes
in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves
between the Group and the non-controlling
interests according to the Group’ s and the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the
fair value of the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary
and non-controlling interests (if any) are
derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (i) the carrying amount of
the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
Company. All amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another category
of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment
retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition for subsequent accounting
under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS
9”) or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a
joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’a)

(b)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for
using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is
measured at fair value, which is calculated as
the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
incurred by the Group to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed are recognised
at their fair value, except that:

e deferred tax assets or liabilities, and
assets or liabilities related to employee
benefit arrangements are recognised and
measured in accordance with HKAS 12
Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to
share-based payment arrangements of
the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered
into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured
in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment at the acquisition date;

e assets (or disposal groups) that are
classified as held for sale in accordance
with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations
are measured in accordance with that
standard; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

116 Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Business combinations (Cont'q)

* J|ease liabilities are recognised and
measured at the present value of the
remaining lease payments (as defined in
HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except
for leases for which (a) the lease term
ends within 12 months of the acquisition
date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low
value. Right-of-use assets are recognised
and measured at the same amount as the
relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect
favourable or unfavourable terms of the
lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and
the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition
date. If, after reassessment, the net amount of
the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree
(if any), the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the relevant subsidiary’s
net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair
value. The choice of measurement basis is made
on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other
types of non-controlling interests are measured
at their fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’a)

(b)

Business combinations (Cont'q)

When the consideration transferred by the
Group in a business combination includes
a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at
its acquisition-date fair value and included
as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair
value of the contingent consideration that
qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement
period adjustments are adjustments that arise
from additional information obtained during the
‘measurement period’ (which cannot exceed one
year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition
date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the
fair value of the contingent consideration that do
not qualify as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration
is classified. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified
as an asset or a liability is remeasured to fair
value at subsequent reporting dates with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in
stages, the Group’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when
the Group obtains control) and the resulting gain
or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income, as appropriate.
Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree
prior to the acquisition date that have previously
been recognised in other comprehensive
income and measured under HKFRS 9 would be
accounted for on the same basis as would be
required if the Group had disposed directly of
the previously held equity interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

4,

(b)

(c)

Business combinations (Cont'q)

If the initial accounting for a business
combination is incomplete by the end of the
reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which accounting is incomplete.
Those provisional amounts are adjusted
retrospectively during the measurement period
(see above), and additional assets or liabilities
are recognised, to reflect new information
obtained about facts and circumstances that
existed at the acquisition date that, if known,
would have affected the amounts recognised at
that date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
is carried at cost as established at the date of
acquisition of the business (see the accounting
policy above) less accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing,
goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units (or group of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill
is monitored for internal management purposes
and not larger than an operating segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’a)

(c)

Goodwill (Cont’d)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, or
more frequently when there is an indication that
the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on
an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that
reporting period. If the recoverable amount is
less than its carrying amount, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other
assets of a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit (or group of
cash-generating units). Any impairment loss for
goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is
not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating
unit or any of the cash-generating unit within
the group of cash-generating units, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in
the determination of the amount of profit or
loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of
an operation within the cash-generating unit
(or a cash-generating unit within a group of
cash-generating units), the amount of goodwill
disposed of is measured on the basis of the
relative values of the operation (or the cash-
generating unit) disposed of and the portion of
the cash-generating unit (or the group of cash-
generating units) retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the
acquisition of an associate is described in note
4(e).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 4. EBEX=E:tBEZ)
(d) Investments in subsidiaries (d) MKBATZIEE

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the
statement of financial position of the Company
(see note 35) at cost less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence. Significant influence
is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is
not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of
associates are incorporated in these
consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances.
Appropriate adjustments have been made to
conform the associate’s accounting policies to
those of the Group. Under the equity method,
an investment in an associate is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or
loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. When the Group’s share of losses
of an associate exceeds the Group’s interest
in that associate (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group’s net investment in the associate),
the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised
only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’a)

(e)

Interests in associates (Cont’a)

An investment in an associate is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on
which the investee becomes an associate. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate,
any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over
the cost of the investment, after reassessment,
is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an
objective evidence that the interest in an
associate may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested
for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36
as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part
of the carrying amount of the investment. Any
reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 4. EXEtBE(#)
(e) Interests in associates (Cont’q) (e) MEAZBAT|ZH#ER(E)

When the Group ceases to have significant
influence over an associate, it is accounted for
as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee
with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest
in the former associate and the retained interest
is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS
9, the Group measures the retained interest
at fair value at that date and the fair value is
regarded as its fair value on initial recognition.
The difference between the carrying amount of
the associate and the fair value of any retained
interest and any proceeds from disposing of
the relevant interest in the associate is included
in the determination of the gain or loss on
disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group
accounts for all amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to
that associate on the same basis as would be
required if that associate had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if
a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal
of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to
profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment)
upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant
associate.

The Group continues to use the equity method
when an investment in an associate becomes
an investment in a joint venture or an investment
in a joint venture becomes an investment in an
associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’a)

(e)

(f

Interests in associates (Cont’a)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest
in an associate but the Group continues to use
the equity method, the Group reclassifies to
profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss
that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction
in ownership interest if that gain or loss would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of
the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate
of the Group, profits and losses resulting
from the transactions with the associate
are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) are
classified as held for sale if their carrying amount
will be recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use.
This condition is regarded as met only when
the asset (or disposal group) is available for
immediate sale in its present condition subject
only to terms that are usual and customary
for sales of such asset (or disposal group)
and its sale is highly probable. Management
must be committed to the sale, which should
be expected to qualify for recognition as a
completed sale within one year from the date of
classification.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan
involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of
the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are
classified as held for sale when the criteria
described above are met, regardless of whether
the Group will retain a non-controlling interest in
the relevant subsidiary after the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 4. EBEX=E:tBEZ)
() Non-current assets held for sale (Cont'd) () FHEHESNERHEEE)

124 Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

When the Group is committed to a sale plan
involving disposal of an investment, or a portion
of an investment, in an associate or joint venture,
the investment or the portion of the investment
that will be disposed of is classified as held
for sale when the criteria described above are
met, and the Group discontinues the use of the
equity method in relation to the portion that is
classified as held for sale from the time when
the investment (or a portion of the investment) is
classified as held for sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups)
classified as held for sale are measured at the
lower of their previous carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell, except for financial
assets within the scope of HKFRS 9, other
receivables which continue to be measured in
accordance with the accounting policies as set
out in respective sections.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible
assets that are held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes. Property, plant and equipment are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Leasehold land and buildings which are held for
own use would continue to be accounted for
under HKAS 16 and would be stated at cost and
are amortised over the period of the lease.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of assets less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’a)

(9)

(h)

Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

The principal annual rates used for this purpose
are as follows:

Leasehold land Over the lease term

and buildings of 54 years
Leasehold 20%—-33% or over the
improvement remaining lease

terms, whichever
is shorter
Furniture and 19%-50%
fixtures
Computer and
equipment
Motor vehicles

19%-33%
20%-33%

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Costs of inventories are
determined on a weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the
sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include
incremental costs directly attributable to the sale
and non-incremental costs which the Group
must incur to make the sale.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’a) 4. BEXEHBEZ)
() Impairment on property, plant and equipment, (i) Y% BERREGERERESER

126 Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property,
plant and equipment, and right-of-use assets to
determine whether there is any indication that
these assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant
and equipment, and right-of-use assets are
estimated individually. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant
cash-generating unit when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group
of cash-generating units to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating
unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’a)

(i

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
and right-of-use assets (Cont’q)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot
be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying
amounts of the corporate assets or portion
of corporate assets allocated to that group of
cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In
allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then
to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or
the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss
that would otherwise have been allocated to the
asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of
the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
(or cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating
unit or a group of cash-generating units) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 4. EX

@)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on
a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in
the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially measured at fair value except for
trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contract with Customers (“HKFRS 157).
Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL”") are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or financial liability and of allocating
interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period,
to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’a)

@)

Financial instruments (Cont ')
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at
amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect
contractual cash flows; and

* the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI):

e the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
selling and collecting contractual cash
flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently
measured at FVTPL, except that at initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group
may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) if that
equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which
HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—Ft+-_A=t—RHIEFE

4. EXEBR#E)

() MBIAGE)
HBEEE
HBEEMNSERE R E

HO AT 2 B A A
ERA R

s REMARUBANRERE
ZEBRAAKREZHBE
=R

s ARABREHNFEAHE
EZBREREMERESN
A RAREEASENE -

HENTMRFZHBEERRER
FEAAREMEZEYE([RAFE
FAAEMEEKE DFE

e REMARKLERKRA
WREREZEBEARR
BZHBEE &

* ANBKRERNEFEAHE
EZReREMAERIEIN
ARERREELASEMNE -

FrA R85 & EELRIR A FER
ARz E - MERRAIRE RIS
FEE - MIFEBFEWHRELERE
BMEBAHMER XA HIK
BHRERZIARE  REXONY
BRAVBEE  ARELTAHD
R EBHZRARE ZERATE
FPREMmEERE(Et2 K

sm1)E5 -

DHEEER)BRAT | —E-—%%8 199



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'c) 4. EXEFBUR(E)

() Financial instruments (Cont'd) () HBIERE)

Financial assets (Cont’d) BEEEE)

Classification and subsequent measurement of HHEEEN TR EZE (&)

financial assets (Cont’d)

A financial asset is held for trading if: B EERTINER T EARHE

BE:

e it has been acquired principally for the e WHEZFEEMNANEHE
purpose of selling in the near term; or HERS 5

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio e RYTHIAKBAAEES
of identified financial instruments that the HEB2EHNVBIAA
Group manages together and has a recent AE—Ho WEAFLHRER
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; G EPERIES 5k
or

e it is a derivative that is not designated and o  WIEREERERE HFIL
effective as a hedging instrument. BEZ0T&TH-

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate PEoN - REE SR RE I E A

a financial asset that is required to be measured BB AR AT EFAEME

at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured EWEE 22 B EER AT ER

at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly ABRETE - AR ABRETHE

reduces an accounting mismatch. PRl KR ST AL ©
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’a)

@)

Financial instruments (Cont ')

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Cont’d)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial
assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. For financial instruments
other than purchased or originated credit-
impaired financial assets, interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from
the next reporting period. If the credit risk
on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer
credit impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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132 Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont ')
Financial assets (Cont’d)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Cont’d)

(i)  Equity instruments designated as at
FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at
FVTOCI are subsequently measured at fair
value with gains and losses arising from
changes in fair value recognised in OCI and
accumulated in the fair value reserve; and
are not subject to impairment assessment.
The cumulative gain or loss will not be
reclassified to profit or loss on disposal
of the equity investments, and will be
transferred to accumulated losses.

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or
loss when the Group’s right to receive
the dividends is established, unless the
dividends clearly represent a recovery
of part of the cost of the investment.
Dividends are included in the “other
revenue and net income” line item in profit
or loss.

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment
under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on
financial assets (including trade and other
receivables, amounts due from an investee
company and associates, deposits and cash
and cash equivalents) which are subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’a)

@)

Financial instruments (Cont ')
Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont’d)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will
result from all possible default events over
the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both
the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for
trade receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless
when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, in which
case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in
the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.

()  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk
of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or
effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 4. EXEEHBEE)
() Financial instruments (Cont’d) () BM¥IEE)

134 Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont’d)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (Cont’d)

In particular, the following information is
taken into account when assessing whether
credit risk has increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

* significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk, e.g.
a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

* existing or forecast adverse changes
in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause
a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant
adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in
the debtor’'s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that
the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

| Annual Report 2021

HMBEEE)

BB E R E(IR1E BB HHE

JBAE QS EHETT RS ) ()

() 1EERRAEEAE)
BFRIR  EHEERRE
BREBEAR AEEGE
BIATER

o WHITAIF(IE)L
NEEEFRERLTE
HHBRBERIL

o SNERMISEVEE AR
FBERL Wﬁﬂfc.,\

FZKEEF - E
1DEL%7%$,HH{?"TT%K¢E
7

o BHIXRB  MBILH
ARSLER B TR RIS F)
BREBHEEABITH
BREEZEITEDK
TEHI5S

s BEBAREXREERL
BHBESL

s BEBAZEE KB
RTREER LR H
REATMES) - %
BBABITEBHEE
ZBENEBRIKIEHZS -

e bl 5T A5 R - i8S KIS
REfEa=1tH AAKEER
EEERRB VT HERIAKRE KIE
A BREAREESREREANE
BEEHRAEER - RltERI



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’a)

@)

Financial instruments (Cont ')
Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont’d)

()  Significant increase in credit risk (Cont’d)

The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used to identify
whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase
in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.

(i) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management,
the Group considers an event of default
occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay
its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collateral
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group
considers that default has occurred when
a financial asset is more than 90 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
(i) Financial instruments (Cont’q)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont’d)

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when
one or more events of default that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(a)

136 Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

significant financial difficulty of the
issuer or the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a
default or past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that
the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

it is becoming probable that the
borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market

for that financial asset because of
financial difficulties.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’a)

@)

Financial instruments (Cont ')

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont’d)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset
when there is information indicating that
the counterparty is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade
receivables, when the amounts are over 2
years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the
Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised
in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function
of the probability of default, loss given
default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at
default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based
on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective
risks of default occurring as the weights.
The Group uses a practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables using
a provision matrix taking into consideration
historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

@)

Financial instruments (Cont ')

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont’d)

v)

138 Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Cont’d)

Generally, the ECL is the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are
due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables
are considered on a collective basis taking
into consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as forward
looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group
takes into consideration the following
characteristics when formulating the

grouping:
e Past-due status;

e Nature, size and industry of debtors;
and

e  External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial
asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’a)

@)

Financial instruments (Cont ')
Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Cont’d)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Cont’d)
The Group recognises an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured
at amortised cost, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity
instrument which the Group has elected on
initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated
in the fair value reserve is not reclassified to
profit or loss, but is transferred to accumulated
losses.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

4,

@)

(k)

14(Q Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

Financial instruments (Cont ')
Financial liabilities and equity (Cont’d)
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of
an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other
payables, amounts due to associates, a director
of the Company and a substantial shareholder,
and lease liabilities are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from
customers for goods sold or services performed
in the ordinary course of business. If collection
of trade receivables are expected in one year
or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current
assets. If not, they are presented as non-current
assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’a)

(0

(m)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
on hand and demand deposits, and short-
term highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred
to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services
that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue
is recognised over time by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by
the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

e the Group’s performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create
an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance
completed to date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
(m) Revenue from contracts with customers
(Cont’d)
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the
distinct good or service.

(i)

(i

General management and consultancy
fee is recognised over the period
specified in the contract, as the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs.

The transaction price received in advance
is recognised as a contract liability on initial
recognition and is released to profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the period of
service.

For media service income, the Group
considers the performance obligation is
the management of business accounts on
various electronic business platforms for
customers and the performance obligation
is satisfied over time as the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs.

For online shop sales on internet platform
included in media service income, the
Group considers the services income are
recognised at point in time when the sales
transaction completed through the online
shop on internet platform.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’a)

(m) Revenue from contracts with customers

(Cont’d)

(i) For software development, the Group
considers the performance obligation is the
development of application program and
the performance obligation is satisfied at
a point in time at which the control of the
program is passed to the customers.

For software maintenance service income,
the Group considers the performance
obligation is the software maintenance
service and the performance obligation
is satisfied over time as the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs.

(iv) Sales of goods are recognised at a point in
time when the customers accept and take
the control of the goods.

(v)  For advertising and marketing promotion
income, the Group considers the
performance obligations are preparing
video and arranging webcast on relevant
business accounts on various internet
platforms. The performance obligations
are satisfied at a point in time at which the
video is uploaded on and the webcast is
held on that relevant business accounts on
various internet platforms.

A contract liability represents the Group’s
obligation to transfer goods or services to a
customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

(m) Revenue from contracts with customers

(Cont’d)
Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration,
the Group estimates the amount of consideration
to which it will be entitled using the most likely
amount, which better predicts the amount of
consideration to which the Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration
is included in the transaction price only to the
extent that it is highly probable that such an
inclusion will not result in a significant revenue
reversal in the future when the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
updates the estimated transaction price
(including updating its assessment of whether an
estimate of variable consideration is constrained)
to represent faithfully the circumstances present
at the end of the reporting period and the
changes in circumstances during the reporting
period.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing
goods or services to a customer, the Group
determines whether the nature of its promise
is a performance obligation to provide the
specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group
is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or
services to be provided by the other party (i.e.
the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the
specified good or service before that good or
service is transferred to a customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’a)

(m) Revenue from contracts with customers

(n)

(Cont’d)
Principal versus agent (Cont’d)

The Group is an agent if its performance
obligation is to arrange for the provision of the
specified good or service by another party.
In this case, the Group does not control the
specified good or service provided by another
party before that good or service is transferred
to the customer. When the Group acts as an
agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of
any fee or commission to which it expects to
be entitled in exchange for arranging for the
specified goods or services to be provided by
the other party.

Employee benefits
(i) Short term employee benefits

Salaries, bonuses, paid leaves and the cost
of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the
period in which the associated services are
rendered by employees. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect would
be material, these amounts are stated at
their present values.

(ii) Retirement benefits schemes

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries
in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”)
are members of central pension schemes
operated by the local governments in
the PRC and these subsidiaries make
mandatory contributions to these central
pension schemes to fund the employees’
retirement benefits. The retirement
contributions paid by the PRC subsidiaries
are based on certain percentages of the
employees’ salaries in accordance with
the relevant regulations in the PRC, and
are charged to profit or loss as incurred.
The Group has no further obligation for
post-retirement benefits upon payment of
the retirement contributions to the central
pension schemes operated by the local
governments in the PRC.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

(n)

(o)

Employee benefits (Cont’d)
(i) Retirement benefits schemes (Cont’d)

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement
benefits scheme (“the MPF Scheme”),
under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance, for all of its
employees in Hong Kong. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into
the MPF Scheme.

(iiij) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when,
and only when, the Group demonstrably
commits itself to terminate employment or
to provide benefits as a result of voluntary
redundancy by having a detailed formal
plan which is without realistic possibility of
withdrawal.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost
of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding
after the related asset is ready for its intended
use or sale is included in the general borrowing
pool for calculation of capitalisation rate
on general borrowings. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’a)

(o)

(p)

(a)

Borrowing costs (Cont’d)

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until
there is reasonable assurance that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them
and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or
loss on a systematic basis over the periods in
which the Group recognises as expenses the
related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group
should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred
income in the consolidated statement of financial
position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful
lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or
losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group
with no future related costs are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Government grants are presented
under “other revenue and net income”.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the
tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from
profit/(loss) before tax because of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’a) 4. BEXEHBEZ)
(q) Taxation (Cont'a) () BIE(E)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary
differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets
is reviewed at the end of the reporting period
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’a)

(a)

r)

Taxation (Cont’d)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its
assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied to
the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in
profit or loss, except when they relate to items
that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current tax and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or
deferred tax arises from the initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business
combination.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'c) 4. EXEFBUR(E)

(N Leases (Cont’d) (n #MEE)
Definition of a lease (Cont’d) HEZEH(Z)

For contracts entered into or modified on or after
the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 or
arising from business combinations, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16
at inception, modification date or acquisition
date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions
of the contract are subsequently changed.
As a practical expedient, leases with similar
characteristics are accounted on a portfolio
basis when the Group reasonably expects
that the effects on the consolidated financial
statements would not differ materially from
individual leases within the portfolio.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-
lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to leases of related
premises that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option. It also applies
the recognition exemption for lease of low-value
assets. Lease payments on short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets are recognised
as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’a)

r)

Leases (Cont’d)

The Group as a lessee (Cont’d)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

e the amount of the initial measurement of
the lease liability;

* any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received;

* any initial direct costs incurred by the
Group; and

* an estimate of costs to be incurred by
the Group in dismantling and removing
the underlying assets, restoring the site
on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less
any accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities other than adjustments to lease
liabilities resulting from Covid-19-related rent
concessions in which the Group applied the
practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is
reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
underlying leased assets at the end of the lease
term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-
of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life
and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a
separate line item on the consolidated statement
of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
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4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

r)

Leases (Cont’d)
The Group as a lessee (Cont’d)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at
fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-
use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the
Group recognises and measures the lease
liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the
present value of lease payments, the Group
uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable;

e variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, initially measured using
the index or rate as at the commencement
date;

* amounts expected to be payable by the
Group under residual value guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option if
the Group is reasonably certain to exercise
the option; and

* payments of penalties for terminating a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities
are adjusted by interest accretion and lease
payments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’a)

r)

(s)

Leases (Cont’d)
The Group as a lessee (Cont’d)
Lease liabilities (Cont’d)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and
makes a corresponding adjustment to the
related right-of-use assets) whenever:

* the lease term has changed or there is a
change in the assessment of exercise of a
purchase option, in which case the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

* the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market
rent review, in which cases the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as
a result of a past event, it is probable that the
Group will be required to settle that obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the
best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.
When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation,
its carrying amount is the present value of those
cash flows (where the effect of the time value of
money is material).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 4. EBEX=E:tBEZ)
(t Foreign currencies () HpEs

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of
the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the retranslation
of monetary items, are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they arise, except
for exchange differences on monetary items
receivable from or payable to a foreign operation
for which settlement is neither planned nor
likely to occur (therefore forming part of the
net investment in the foreign operation), which
are recognised initially in other comprehensive
income and reclassified from equity to profit
or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the
Group’s interests in associates.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group’s foreign operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expenses items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
that period, in which case the exchange rates
at the date of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of translation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’a)

(t)

(u)

Foreign currencies (Cont'd)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that
is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest
in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes
a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of
an interest in an associate that includes a
foreign operation of which the retained interest
becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to partial disposal
of a subsidiary that does not result in the
Group losing control over the subsidiary, the
proportionate share of accumulated exchange
differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or
loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial
disposals of associates that do not result
in the Group losing significant influence),
the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange differences is reclassified to profit or
loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on
identifiable assets acquired arising on an
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and liabilities of that foreign operation
and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing
at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Related parties

A related party is a person or an entity that is
related to the Group, as follows:

(@ A person, or a close member of that
person’s family, is related to the Group if
that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the
Group;

4. EXE

®

(u)

SMNEEGEBROBRAR |

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—Ft+-_A=t—RHIEFE

stBUR (40

s (A1)

WR RSN EBENEE A EE
FOMI BRI - RER
SRY B B SEHME E W B R R 1

%”EE ’ ﬁﬁ%@?iﬁﬁ‘\ﬂ« **E/j ﬁﬁg
NT T EARES(MIBINEE N L

TSR AMFEE)) » EZEH
RERBENREBNARRITAE AE

AR RFTEREREHEFHEE
fA2se -
BEA - st R ER & — R B A &l

XA eEHAREREZNB AT

R HIRE - IR PIFEIE ) RETE
EHENRE T IHERER - AT
ENERMER - LA EMBE
HEBNRE L EBE QR MY
SEHAEBAREBEATEN)M

5 RUHIEBENRTELEZRE

FoEEER -

BB EBEENEWE R &
MEENRHERAFERHBRRIE
ZBINEHNEERAERE - ]£
BERERRNBITERRE -

ELAMEN ZENEM 2 ERE 6@

R o

FEAL
BEATREREEBEHENAL
HER

()  #EA =Sk [F 25l A
SEZES

—T_—%FFH 155



ko

i

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'c) 4. EXEFBUR(E)

(u) Related parties (Cont'a) (u) BAEAL(E)
(a)  (Cont'd) @ (&)

(i) has significant influence over the (iy HAEEBNERTE
Group; or 7k

(i) is a member of the key management (iii) 7%21»‘%.122!&’%2
personnel of the Group or a parent of RAIZEEEERE A
the Group; g

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of b) TEUTEMBRT  FEE

the following conditions applies: EAZRER [H 7 RE s

() the entity and the Group are the () EEHEAEELRR—
members of the same group (which Eldin %(,\\%%l
means that each parent, subsidiary BRI ENGIAEER
and fellow subsidiary is related to the BAREB®S—7HE
others); RaE)

(i) one entity is an associate or joint iy EBRZ—EBEHS
venture of the other entity (or an — BRI ARIKER
associate or joint venture of a member Al BERA A ED
of a group of which the other entity is FIZBERARAE
a member); 2

(i) the entity and the Group are joint (iy HELEAREEAR—
ventures of the same third party; FZHAZAREDLE

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a vy, BERAF=FEEZE
third entity and the other entity is an EhXES—ERBAZE
associate of the third entity; =B EE AT

(v) the entity is a post-employment v) ERALrEEFEAE
benefit plan for the benefit of EEHAER 28 ITH%=
employees of either the Group or an R R BER AR T ET S
entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly v EfHE@FAEAL
controlled by a person identified in (a); PRl REH]

(viii a person identified in (a)(i) has (i) @O)FTREALEHER
significant influence over the entity or BEATENNAZE
is a member of the key management B(ZERZERAR])
personnel of the entity (or of a parent ZEEEBEAS ;

of the entity);

156 Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited | Annual Report 2021



4,

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

(u)

v)

Related parties (Cont ')
(@  (Cont’d)

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Close members of the family of a person
are those family members who may be
expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated
financial statements are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management
for the purposes of allocating resources and
assessing the performance of the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are
not aggregated for financial reporting purposes
unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the
nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 4, management has
made the following judgements that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

(@) Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired
requires an estimation of the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating units to which
goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher
of the value in use or fair value less costs of
disposal. The value in use calculation requires
the Group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the cash-generating units
and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
present value. Where the actual future cash
flows are less than expected, or change in facts
and circumstances which results in downward
revision of future cash flows or upward revision
of discount rate, a material impairment loss or
further impairment loss may arise.

The carrying amount of goodwill net of
impairment as at 31 December 2021 was
HK$5,000,000 (2020: HK$24,041,000).
During the year 2021, impairment loss of
HK$19,043,000 (2020: HK$17,900,000) has
been recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. Details of the recoverable amount
calculation are disclosed in note 16.

(b) Impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate
ECL for the trade receivables. The provision
matrix is based on the Group’s historical default
rates taking into consideration forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort. At
every reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are reassessed and changes in
the forward-looking information are considered.
In addition, trade receivables with significant
balances and credit impaired are assessed for
ECL individually.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Cont’a)

(b)

(c)

Impairment of trade and other receivables
(Cont’d)

The impairment of other receivables and amount
due from associate are assessed on 12-month
ECLs basis to determine whether the credit risk
of a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition. Assessments are done
based on the Group’s historical credit losses
experience, existing market conditions as well
as forward looking estimates at the end of each
reporting period.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes
in estimates. The information about the ECL
and the Group’s trade receivables and other
receivables are disclosed in notes 31(b)(ii) and
21 respectively.

Control over BFER(EM)BERAT
(transliterated as Bohu Holdings (Guangzhou)
Company Limited) (“Bohu Holdings”) and its
subsidiaries

Notes 34 and 36 describe that Bohu Holdings
and its subsidiaries (“Group of Bohu Holdings”)
are subsidiaries of the Group as the Group
has 51% ownership interest of Bohu Holdings
and Bohu Holdings has around 51% to 52%
ownership interest of its subsidiaries including
BEMETFHET AR AR (transliterated as
Guangzhou Bohu Business School Company
Limited) (“Bohu Business School”) which is
principally engaged in internet media services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Cont’a)

(c)

160 Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

Control over BEFER(EM)BR LT
(transliterated as Bohu Holdings (Guangzhou)
Company Limited) (“Bohu Holdings”) and its
subsidiaries (Cont'q)

The directors of the Company assessed whether
the Group has control over the Group of Bohu
Holdings based on whether the Group has
practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of the Group of Bohu Holdings unilaterally. In
making the judgement, the directors of the
Company considered the Group has 51% equity
interest in Bohu Holdings and has ability to direct
the relevant activities in Bohu Holdings, therefore
the Group also has ability to direct the relevant
activities of subsidiaries of Bohu Holdings
through Bohu Holdings as Bohu Holdings owns
more than 50% equity interests of its subsidiaries
and the decisions about the relevant activities of
the Group of Bohu Holdings only require simple
majority vote. After assessment, the directors
of the Company concluded that the Group has
sufficient dominant voting interest to direct the
relevant activities of the Group of Bohu Holdings
and therefore the Group has control over the
Group of Bohu Holdings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE, OTHER REVENUE AND NET
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6. W - R BRI FEER

INCOME
(@) An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year @ AEBFAREDITLOT :
is as follows:
2021 2020
—B-—F _ZT_FTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FH&TT
Advertising and & & S R
marketing promotion income 1,461 -
Consultancy income BRI A 26,019 13,493
Media and marketing service income* 188 Iz & $H AR UL A * 2,261 535
Sales income FHEWA 1,783 114
Software development and R R A AR TS A
maintenance service income 171 212
31,695 14,354
Timing of revenue recognition TR %5 2 B R
A point of time — (& 1 2 4,044 114
Over time — B 27,651 14,240
31,695 14,354
* In the first, interim and the third quarter reports Z R - —FFE—FTERE .

in 2021, the management of the Group, based
on promulgation of the Administration of Online
Transaction (“measures”) which had come
into force on 1 May 2021, considered that the
omni-platform operations of the subsidiaries
in e-commerce sales and media services are
the “Principal” of the transactions processed
by those subsidiaries’ online shops, which are
all within the “operating license” of the Bofu
registered shops, including the sales of goods
to consumers. Therefore, the gross amounts
of those sales transactions are recorded as
revenue under “marketing services and sales
income” when the management prepared those
interim and quarterly reports as described above
at the quarterly report in compliance to the PRC
newly enacted measures.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

6. REVENUE, OTHER REVENUE AND NET 6. Wik Hibsim RGN FE(#)
INCOME (Cont'd)

However, when the management prepared the
consolidated financial statements for the whole year
ended 31 December 2021 for audit, together with
further legal opinion sought to the above-noted
understanding. The opinion revealed that strict
adherence to the HKFRS 15 definition regarding the
interpretation of Principal and Agent classification,
which required control over the goods was not
entirely met, due to the facts that in contemporary
e-commerce practice, and in particular, in the
high turnover volume related to the merchandise
movements over the omni-channels platform operates,
which customarily, merchandises are fulfillment under
drop shipping model from manufacturers’ warehouse
direct, which a business does not obtain control
over the products it sells in stock for environmental
and efficient reasons, and therefore cannot revealed
for certainty that the standard requirements are fully
satisfied. After careful consideration by the Board,
in order to strictly comply with the standards as
stipulated under HKFRS 15 and avoid ambiguity, the
revenue and cost of sales shown in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income were calibrated in order to follow the
accounting standards. The net amount for those sales
transactions (represented as service income) were
reclassified and recorded as revenue and included in
the “media and marketing service income”.

One of contracts for advertising and marketing
promotion income contained variable consideration
which would be recognised as revenue when certain
threshold on number of fans on business accounts on
internet platforms is met. During the year ended 31
December 2021, none of the variable consideration is
recognised as revenue.
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6.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE, OTHER REVENUE AND NET
INCOME (Contd)

(b) An analysis of the Group’s other revenue and
net income for the year is as follows:

6.

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—Ft+-_A=t—RHIEFE

Wras « H AW R NFE (2

(b) RNEEFREMUEZKAFED
o -

2021 2020
—B-—F —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHEIT
Other income Eablg A 224
Interest income SN N 1
Other interest income HianF B UgA 18 40
Government grants ISRy - 212
243 254

The government grants mainly relate to wage support
from the government in Hong Kong for the year
ended 31 December 2020. Under the conditions
of the grants, the Group is required to retain its
local employees even if business is affected by the
COVID-19 outbreak.

Other interest income of the Group is arising from the
amount due from an investee company (note 19).

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

Segment information reported to the chief operating
decision maker, directors of the Company, is the
type of services rendered by the Group’s operating
division for the purposes of resources allocation and
performance assessment. The Group’s operating and
reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

The Group is currently organised into two major
business divisions:

()  consultancy services (“Consultancy Services”);
and

(i) internet and software development and
maintenance services, traditional media and
internet media content production services and
media content design services and provide
marketing services to promote products on
internet platforms for customers (“Media
Services”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

7.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Cont’a)

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and resources between segments, the Group’s senior
executive management monitors the results, assets
and liabilities attributable to each reportable segment
on the following bases:

Segment revenue represents revenue generated from
external customers. There were no inter-segment
sales in the year.

Segment results represent the profit/loss incurred by
each segment without allocation of corporate income
and expense, central administration cost, directors’
salaries, share of results of associates, certain interest
income, other income, loss on deregistration of
subsidiaries, gain on disposal of a subsidiary, finance
costs and income tax expenses.

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets
and current assets other than interests in associates,
financial assets at FVTOCI, amount due from an
investee company and corporate assets.

Segment liabilities include all liabilities other than
amounts due to associates, amount due to a
substantial shareholder, amount due to a director of
the Company, tax payable and corporate liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—Ft+-_A=t—RHIEFE

7. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Cont'd) 7. 9EEEE)
(a) Segment revenues and results () EPUIEE R EE
2021
il Sl
Consultancy Media
Services Services Total
FERRRTS IREERRTS st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FERT FHERT
Advertising and S R R A
marketing promotion income - 1,461 1,461
Consultancy income ESION 26,019 - 26,019
Media and marketing B I S AR A
service income - 2,261 2,261
Sales income SHEA - 1,783 1,783
Software development and BHRAER
maintenance service income HEREAA - 171 171
Segments revenue o EfUEE 26,019 5,676 31,695
Segments results DEEE 5,267 (10,363) (5,096)
Interest income FEMA 1
Other income HAbUg A 242
Unallocated corporate expenses  AD B A FIFX (9,105)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEMB A FIH K 589
Share of profit of associates NG gl 625
Finance costs BMERA (577)
Loss before taxation B AR (13,321)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

7. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Cont'd) 7. OEEEE)
(@) Segment revenues and results (Cont'd) (@) SEpUgEERELS(E)
2020
—ECTF
Consultancy Media

Services Services Total

BB RS BR AR MmEt

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

FAHT FET FET

Consultancy income BEREBA 13,493 - 13,493
Media and marketing R ES I S RS A

service income - 535 535

Sales income HEMA - 114 114

Software development and BHFER

maintenance service income HEE RN - 212 212

Segments revenue DI 13,493 861 14,354

Segments results DEPEE (7,059) (3,142) (10,201)

Interest income FEWA 1

Other income HAb A 213

Unallocated corporate expenses &2 A RIF% (7,270)

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEM B AIH K 4,822

Share of loss of associates il =Nl it (199)

Finance costs A A (574)

Loss before taxation BR7T A& (13,208)
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7.

(b)

=

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—Ft+-_A=t—RHIEFE

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Cont'd) 7. HEEEE)
Segment assets and liabilities (b) PDBEERERE
2021
—EB-—f
Consultancy Media
Services Services Total
AR AR TS IR ARTS st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T TFHET TFHET
Segment assets DHEE 11,625 24,482 36,107
Unallocated assets AOEEE 2,850
Amount due from an investee M —FEREHRQRFIA
company 596
Interests in associates N NI 5,392
Consolidated assets BAeEE 44,945
Segment liabilities DEHEE (3,519) (22,944) (26,463)
Unallocated liabilities VN =L (8,264)
Tax payable FEIHIIE (3,494)
Amounts due to associates e B & R RIFUA (3,021)
Amount due to a substantial JEN—2EEREFUA
shareholder (2,781)
Amount due to a director of the  ERNAQF—ZEEHAE
Company (6,254)
Consolidated liabilities meEaE (50,277)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

7. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Cont'd) 7. DEEE(E)
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (Cont q) (b) SHBEEREME)
2020
—T-EF
Consultancy Media
Services Services Total
EAR RIS A RR HET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Segment assets DHEE 29,082 4,936 34,018
Unallocated assets AOEEE 7,215
Financial assets at FVTOCI BAFEFAEMEE
Wak 2 BB E 30
Amount due from an e — IR B R ABIRIE
investee company 578
Interests in associates NN 4,758
Consolidated assets RARBEE 46,599
Segment liabilities k==L (2,748) (4,585) (7,333)
Unallocated liabilities APEEE (7,100)
Tax payable e 1A (605)
Amounts due to associates JE (B 21X R FRIE (2,340)
Amount due to a substantial B — % EERRFIA
shareholder (11,252
Amount due to a director of the  ENARE—ZEEFHE
Company (7,066)
Consolidated liabilities REBE (35,696)
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7.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Cont’a)

(c)

=}

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Other segment information

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—Ft+-_A=t—RHIEFE

7. SEERG)
(c) HtbsrEpEsl

2021
—E-—%

Consultancy Media

Services Services

FER AR TS IR EEARTS

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHET

Capital expenditure BEARX - 712
Depreciation of property, M - WEREEITE

plant and equipment - 859

Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEEZIE = 450

Loss on disposal of HERE REE A

plant and equipment = 13

Impairment loss on goodwill EEREEE 18,900 143

Written off of rental deposit WHEE SRS - 177

2020
—EEF

Consultancy Media

Services Services

AR AR B8 AR 7%

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHET

Capital expenditure NG - 808
Depreciation of property, ME - BEREHE2ITE

plant and equipment - 372

Loss on disposal of HERE kR EE

plant and equipment - 43

Impairment loss on goodwill e R ERE 17,900 -~

Written off of other receivables TS 5Lt R LK BR X 58 -

EMEEGER)BR AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

7. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Cont’d)
(d) Geographical information

The Group’s operations are mainly located in the
PRC and Hong Kong.

The Group’s revenue from external customers

SEREF (&)

(d)

th 35 E#L

AEEZEBETBEURTEEE

B e

REBRMIBEE D 2 IMNBE P

by geographical location is detailed below: WEFFIBMT -
2021 2020
—B-—F _—_T_THF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT FHETT
PRC s 31,695 14,354
Hong Kong B - -

The Group’s information about its non-current
assets (excluding financial instruments) by
geographical location is detailed below:

AEBFBUESE D 2 IERBE
E(TREMBITAR)FENT

2021 2020
—B-—F _—_T_THF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
T T
PRC s 1,301 1,989
Hong Kong B 8,018 26,063
9,319 28,052
(e) Information about major customers (e) BHRAEXEEFZEH

Revenue from customers of the corresponding
periods individually contributing over 10% of the

RAEREREA - REERFF 2K
sm(EAKE R EE10%) 10

total revenue of the Group are as follows:

TF ¢

2021 2020

-5 —_T-FTHF

Segment HK$’000 HK$’000

DE T T

Customer A Consultancy Services 13,491 12,912
EFA B 1 AR 755

Customer B Consultancy Services 12,528 -
®FB B8 R AR 7%

170 Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited | Annual Report 2021



=}

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—Ft+-_A=t—RHIEFE

FINANCE COSTS 8. BIERF
2021 2020
—B-—F _"_ZT_FTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
T FHIT
Interest on amount due to a substantial  ENARE —BEERE
shareholder of the Company I Z B 504 341
Imputed interest expenses FERTAT AR ES 2 M E
on convertible bonds payable FERAX - 194
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEF A 73 39
577 574

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

The Group’s loss before taxation has been arrived at

BRI 518

REE 2 R AT BRI T 5% 1A

after charging: FYCHE
2021 2020
—¥-—F _"T_TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET
Staff costs (excluding BINA (TRIEESH)
directors’ remuneration)
— wages, salaries and other benefits I8 FekEMEH 7,636 2,937
— retirement benefits —RREFIET IR
scheme contributions 419 129
Auditor’s remuneration % ERRD BN & 1,100 900
Cost of inventories recognised REMZ 2 FENA
as an expense 1,614 79
Depreciation of property, Yz - BENMKZEITE
plant and equipment 881 405
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEECTE 709 269
Short-term lease expenses EHIEER 1,436 333
Legal and professional fees FEMEEER 2,899 2,323
Impairment loss on goodwill B R EEE 19,043 17,900
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
REMUNERATION
(a) Directors’ remuneration

The details of emoluments of each director are
shown below:

Year ended 31 December 2021

10. EERES N

(a)

As directors

ESHM
BEFZMEFBEOT

BFEF-F-—Ff+—-FA=+—HI
EE

As management

{EBES fEBERE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits
and other scheme
benefits contributions
e
Fees 2R BHEH Total
Name of director EENE ik HihigH FEIER @zt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TET TERT TET TERT
Executive directors: BiTEE:
Mr. Xie Xuan HERE 540 - - 540
Dr. Feng Ke BRET 504 - - 504
Mr. Liao Haifei (Note) PR (F) 73 - - 73
Mr. Huang Haitao BRERE 80 - - 80
Independent non-executive BiuFniTESE:
directors:
Mr. Wu Jixue REELE 30 - - 30
Mr. Zheng Hongliang Bamist 18 - - 18
Dr. Wang Yi FHEL 36 - - 36
1,281 - - 1,281

All of the above directors’ remuneration are
recorded as accruals and other payables.

There was no arrangement under which
a director waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year ended 31
December 2021 (2020: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—Ft+-_A=t—RHIEFE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 10. EERESFHM =)
REMUNERATION (Cont’d)
(a) Directors’ remuneration (Cont’q) (a) EEFEN(Z)
Year ended 31 December 2020 BEF-—F-—FE+—HA=+—HI
FE
As directors As management
ERES fERERE
Salaries,  Retirement
allowances benefits
and other scheme
benefits  contributions
ESE
Fees 2R R RARREA Total
Name of director #3274 e HiEF ATEIfER @zt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL TEL THEL TEL

Executive directors: BiTES:

Mr. Xie Xuan Filichies 540 - - 540

Dr. Feng Ke BRET 504 - - 504

Mr. Liao Haifei (Note) B (Fit) 80 - - 80

Mr. Huang Haitao BEBLE 80 - - 80

Independent non-executive BUkRiTES:

directors:

Mr. Wu Jixue DEBs 30 - - 30

Mr. Zheng Hongliang BamxE 18 - - 18

Dr. Wang Vi THiEt 36 - - 36
1,288 - - 1,288

Note:  Resigned on 29 November 2021. Mizx: RZTEZ—F+—A=+h

HEHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

REMUNERATION (Cont’d)

(b) Five highest paid employees
The five highest paid employees during the
year included two (2020: two) directors whose
remuneration is set out in directors’ remuneration
in (a) above. Details of remuneration of the
remaining three (2020: three) non-director
employees are as follows:

10. EERESFHFM2Z)

(b) ABRBEHES
FR ANEEHIESTBEEMM
(ZZE-ZTF : ML) EE - HF
BN EX @B EEFW—5 -
E#=—N(ZZ2=2F : Zf1)IFE
EREZHMFABOT

2021 2020
—F-—F —=-=
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Salaries, allowances and e R EAEF
other benefits 969 898
Retirement benefits IRRBFIFT IR
scheme contributions 37 24
1,006 922
Their emoluments fell within the following band: BEZME N FATEE :
2021 2020
e I
Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 1,000,00078 7T 3 3

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

(@) Income tax in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income represents:

11. FiSHHAX

(a) MNESESERAMEEKRERZEH
#/HA

2021 2020
B —F —ZT-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T

Current tax — Hong Kong BEARIE — B H

Profits Tax IEES

Charge for the year AFEERY 2,889 605
Income tax expenses e iR 2,889 605
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Contd)

(@)

Income tax in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income represents: (Cont'd)

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative
Council passed The Inland Revenue
(Amendment) (No.7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which
introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March
2018 and was gazetted on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime,
the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The
profits of group entities not qualifying for the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue
to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Accordingly, the Hong Kong profits tax of the
qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25%
on the first HK$2 million of the estimated
assessable profits and at 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profits above HK$2
million.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at 25%
on the estimated assessable profit for the year
(2020: 25%).

11. Fi§

(a)

TMEEGER)ERRA |

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—Ft+-_A=t—RHIEFE

B (&)

RiGEEEREMGEERERZ A
®/HAe: (B

R-ZE—-NF=A=-+—H " F
7R ® 3B B017 F B BB
ED(B7THR)BMNERNER]) -
BIAFISHRMAEH - BEER =
E-NF=ZA-+tN\HEFEK
BER TRERTIFE - RAIE
RMRHT AEREEER
2,000,000 7 7T & /&2 F1l 1 %2 8.25%
BB R A - 8 3@ 2,000,000 %8
TCH % RS 1% 16.5% BI T R EF o
THEER2HEFEHMATINE
EEENGFSEERE —FHE
16.5% EFi »

EHit - A EREBERFEFNEG
i Jh 5k & 2,000,000 7 7T il 51 FE 3%
it F|3% 8.25% TR 5T E - MiBE
2,000,000 7 7T B (& 51 FE SR Bt 4 A
A% 16.5% iR+t & -

G gk 15 5T B R B R IR 25% 1Y
MEAEPHECEMEBR( T
T 25%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Cont’d)

11.

(b)

Reconciliation between income tax expenses
and accounting loss per the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income at applicable tax rates

11.

FrisHp (&)

(b)

FARRXEGSERRAMEE
WEsRAERERB RS H &S
iR Z HARIOT -

is as follows:

2021 2020
—B-—F —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
TER FABT
Loss before taxation bREERTIEE (13,321) (13,208)
Notional tax on loss before taxation,  ZMBIEE AR~
calculated at the rates applicable to % #, /&8 2 @A H Rt
profit/loss in the jurisdictions BRI EIERTE
concerned HEBIE (4,065) (2,526)
Income not subject to tax BHR B 2B/ (202) (831)
Expenses not deductible for TR 2
tax purpose 6,270 3,107
(Taxable)/Deductible temporary REER(ERTL) /BT HR
difference not recognised ERr =% (1) 19
Unused tax loss not recognised RNERARB AT IEREE 1,062 1,500
Utilisation of tax losses previously BRARIARER L
not recognised TIEE B — (479)
Tax relief for the year FRZHBER (10) (20)
Income tax at concessionary rate RERBEAE 2 FEH (165) (165)
Income tax expenses for the year FRZABHAYS 2,889 605

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
has unused tax losses of approximately
HK$45,637,000 (2020: HK$42,335,000), of
which tax loss arising in the PRC is approximately
HK$17,877,000 (2020: HK$15,275,000), available
for offsetting against future profits. No deferred
tax asset has been recognised in respect of such
unused tax losses due to the unpredictability of
future profits streams.
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12.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—Ft+-_A=t—RHIEFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Cont’d)

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s remaining
unrecognised tax losses arising in the PRC will expire

11.

FrisHp= (&)

RZB-_—F+_-_A=+—H8 K&£H
RABEEZH T RERKBESEBR

in the following years: AN FERER
2021 2020
—T-—F —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
T FHET
2021 —E-—F = 538
2022 —F-— 1,238 1,199
2023 :2: F 1,797 1,739
2024 —ETmF 7,896 7,643
2025 i 3,088 4,156
2026 B RE 3,858 -
17,877 15,275

Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

At 31 December 2020, the Group has deductible
temporary differences of HK$74,000. No deferred
tax asset has been recognised in relation to such
deductible temporary difference as it is not probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

DIVIDEND

The directors do not recommend the payment of
any dividends for the year ended 31 December 2021
(2020: Nil).

12.

Hip R eBERYEE -

R-ZZE_TE+_A=+—H A&HE
HAEAHURE R Z 5 74,0008 7T © &
RAEMA TR EZREDECHESR
B RE S RERDE MG A AR sE B

IR IR TR 5 o

H& l%\

EETEEMEBE_ZE-_—F+_A
= t+t—HIEFERMEMEE(ZE=F

FE) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

13. LOSS PER SHARE 13. BhzEsHE
(a) Basic loss per share (a) EREXEHE
The calculations of the basic loss per share are FREXRBEIIBREA TEEET
based on the following data: FTE
2021 2020
T _—Z_ZTF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FH#IT FET
Loss attributable to owners of RAREER AEILHEE
the Company (9,927) (12,521)
2021 2020

—B-—F —T-TF

Weighted average number of ordinary R+-A=+—HZ

shares at 31 December LA N IR 200,902,041 200,361,724

(b) Diluted loss per share (b) ShEEESRE
For the years ended 31 December 2021 and He—_ 2 - FR-_TE_TF+=
2020, no diluted loss per share was presented A=T—HLEFE  BESETE
as there were no potential ordinary shares in FEEEE T EE2YFARE S
issue. 18 -

(c) On 27 March 2020, the ordinary shares of () W-ZT-_TE=A=-++H &R
the Company was consolidated on the basis AEBERE Tt BERKEADTIR
of every ten existing shares of a par value AP +REREMBENAEITHIR
of HK$0.1 each in the share capital of the AR A HERNRRRAS —IRF
Company be consolidated into one share with a AREE 1.0 TTHAR G ©

par value of HK$1.0 each in the share capital of
the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—Ft+-_A=t—RHIEFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - BERRE
Leasehold
land and
Computer buildings
Leasehold Furniture and Motor outside
improvement  and fixtures  equipment vehicles  Hong Kong Total
BN
HENERE  GRRKE  EHREH RE HELHRETF by

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFET TFERL TFEL TFEL TFERL TFEL

Cost B
At 1 January 2020 RZE-ZF-A—H 64 271 425 1,061 1,104 2,925
Additions "E 675 64 144 - - 883
Additions from acquisition B
of a subsidiary REIMAE - 190 - - - 190
Disposals RE - (72) - - - (72)
Written off iz - (31) - - - (81)
Exchange difference EXESR 38 12 12 65 68 195
At 31 December 2020 RZZZZF
and at 1 January 2021 +ZA=1+-8k
WZE-—-f-f-H 777 434 581 1,126 1,172 4,000
Additions hE 445 91 176 = = 712
Disposals RE - (88) (22) - - (110)
Reclassified as held for sale ~ EFHBARBEHE (454) 277) - - - (731)
Exchange difference EXZS 3?2 9 9 37 39 126
At 31 December 2021 RZE=—F
+ZA=t+-A 800 169 44 1,163 1,211 4,087
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

14. Y% - BERRE &)

Leasehold
land and
Computer buildings
Leasehold Furniture and Motor outside
improvement  and fixtures  equipment vehicles  Hong Kong Total
BN
HENERE  GRRKE  EHREH RE HELHRETF by
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT THERT THERT THER THER THER
Accumulated Rt RERAEERSE
depreciation and
impairment losses
At 1 January 2020 RZE-ZEF-A—H 64 207 400 1,061 54 1,786
Charge for the year REERR 387 10 37 - 21 405
Eliminated on disposals RERHH - (20) - - - (20)
Eliminated on written off B - (22) - - - (22)
Exchange difference EXESR 19 1 3 65 5 93
At 31 December 2020 RZZ=%
and at 1 January 2021 +ZA=1+-8k
W-E--%-8—-H 420 176 440 1,126 80 2,242
Charge for the year TEERY 547 199 112 - 23 881
Eliminated on disposals REREH - (51) 6) - - (57)
Reclassified as held for sale  EFNEAREFE (189) (161) - - - (350)
Exchange difference EXZS 22 3 37 70
At 31 December 2021 RZE--§
+-A=t-H 800 166 551 1,163 106 2,786
Net carrying amount REFE
At at 31 December 2021 RZEZ-F
+-A=t-H = 3 193 = 1,105 1,301
At at 31 December 2020 RZZZZF
+-A=t-H 357 258 141 - 1,092 1,848
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

The consolidated statement of financial position

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—Ft+-_A=t—RHIEFE

15. EHESE

HEMBRARIIIATERREZE

shows the following amounts relating to leases: %
HK$’000
FHET
Net carrying amount at 1 January 2020 R-E_FTF-HA—BHZEREFE 427
Depreciation charge TERX (269)
Net carrying amount RIZEZHE+-_A=+—HK
at 31 December 2020 and RZZE_—F—AF—HB2
1 January 2021 IREDFEE 158
Additions NE 3,189
Depreciation charge e (709)
Reclassified as held for sale B A IENE (2,290)
Exchange difference fEH =5 40
Net carrying amount RZZEZ—F+=-H=+—H
at 31 December 2021 Z BREFE 388
2021 2020
—B-—F —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T
Expense relating to short-term leases PSRN =g =izl ba 1,436 333
Expense relating to leases of HEBEEENHE
low-value assets, excluding (TERIEEEEEEMN
short-term lease of low value assets RIS ) BRI - 36
Total cash outflow for leases HEMRES R 1,709 902
Additions to right-of-use assets FERAREERE 3,189 -

For both years, the Group leases various offices for
its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for
fixed term of 2-3 years (2020: 2 years). Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
a wide range of different terms and conditions. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length
of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.

RMEHE AEEREXBRES @R
NE - HEAWUBEEESAME=6F(=
T_TF  MF)MEIIL - HERERE
BER - BB ZRBRIRGR R IGSE -
RETHBEFGEIEEAZRRE
B AEERAGHNZEE  LWRES
HIR] BRI T 2 HAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

16. GOODWILL 16. BE
2021 2020
—B-—F _"_ZT_FTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FAT
Cost %N
At 1 January W—H—H 198,822 198,681
Arising on acquisition of a subsidiary WiE— M B A RIFTEL
(Note 34) (M$5E34) - 135
Exchange adjustments e 2= G B 2 6
Reclassified as held for sale B O BRFEEE (143) -
At 31 December W+=-—A=+—H 198,681 198,822
Accumulated impairment losses ZEHREEE
At 1 January Hn—H—H 174,781 156,881
Impairment loss recognised in the year — FADHERREEIE 19,043 17,900
Reclassified as held for sale EMOBAREHEE (143) —
At 31 December R+-A=+—8 193,681 174,781
Net carrying amount REDFE
At 31 December Rt+-—A=+—H 5,000 24,041
Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing HEBRENRSMREUTERZES
purposes to the following groups of cash-generating EEBM((ReEEEEBM])
units (“CGUSs"):
2021 2020
—B-—F _ZT_FTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THER FAT
Consultancy Services A AR 7% 5,000 23,900
Media Services R EERT%S = 141
5,000 24,041

182 Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited | Annual Report 2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16. GOODWILL (Cont’d)

Consultancy Services

The management appointed an independent qualified
professional valuer, Ascent Partners Valuation Service
Limited, to determine the recoverable amount of this
CGU.

The recoverable amount of this CGU is determined
based on a value in use calculation which uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by the directors of the Company covering a five-year
period, and a discount rate of 38.60% per annum
(2020: 28.47%).

For the purpose of impairment assessment, the
management determined that the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (“*CGU”) is
estimated to be approximately to HK$8,031,000
(2020: HK$26,801,000), which is less than the
aggregate carrying amount of the CGU. Accordingly,
an impairment loss of HK$18,900,000 (2020:
HK$17,900,000) in respect of goodwill for this CGU
was recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income during
the year ended 31 December 2021. In the opinion of
the directors of the Company, the impairment loss on
goodwill for Consultancy Services of HK$18,900,000
was recognised due to unfavourable change in the
market and uncertainty on future economy which
affecting the business and operation of consultancy
services segment for recent years. Moreover,
the management had been aware that the major
customers of the Group have an intention to change
the consultancy services into assets management
services. Therefore, lost on major customers in
consultancy services segment is the key factor that
led to the recognition of further impairment loss on
the goodwill of HK$18,900,000 in 2021. Any adverse
change in the assumptions used in the calculation of
recoverable amount would result in further impairment
losses.

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—Ft+-_A=t—RHIEFE

16. BE (&)

R RS

EREZA—EZBISERBEGEER
)Zﬂ't:;ﬁuuu@ﬁﬁﬁ Al LA#}EZ’KEEEE
EEBM 2 AREREE -

IR S EE BN 2 AR E S8 RIEE
BEEET  mEREBENEAARE
%%ttxﬁzﬁﬂ%iﬁ 5 7R e R ETEAE
g ZUBEERERFHMA - BRIR XK
RBEF38.60%(ZE_FF : 28.47%) °

REENENE  BEEBRTRESES
%1&(@@&5%1@)H’aﬁjﬂ&z@é%ﬁﬁ
=t 49 /8,031,000 T(ZE =&
26,801,000/%8 7T ) ° 1&5%%%?%@
MEERE - At =2 =-—F
+ZA=+—HLEFE  HBREELEES
i 2 75 2 5 {8 /&5 18 18,900,000 7% T (=
T oFF 17, 9ooooo,%m>EEA,m
BaiRkEM2EKEPER - AR
BERB BER Eﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁf&ﬁ@ﬁﬁ%%
18,900, ooo,ﬁmﬂmﬂmiﬁﬁfﬁTﬂ “““““
BN AREENTREEE  FELTE
RIS D SP RIS A& - Ihoh - B IR
BrEirEBEERFEEBERR
HERAREETERY - IIH: EEF‘?HE
o T ERPRAREN T _-_—F
HREE 2 E— */F/m@éﬁa 18, 900 000
IR E R - 5TE A Y & 5T A
ZTEJ*“ﬁuﬁfiﬂ??’ruﬁ@}ﬂﬁ%@z%ﬁ%ﬂ
B8 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

16. GOODWILL (Cont’a) 16. BH&E (&)

Consultancy Services (Cont'd)

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation
of this CGU for the year ended 31 December 2021.
The following describes each key assumption on
which management has based its cash flow projection
to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Discount rate — The discount rate is 38.60%, which
is a pre-tax rate which reflects specific risk relating to
the relevant CGU.

Growth rate — No growth rate was used in projected
revenue for the existing or signed projects within
five-year projection period which is based on
past performance, the possible of lost on major
customer in consultancy services segment and
future development plan due to the current unstable
economy.

Change in revenue and direct costs — The changes
are based on the projects on hand, past practices
and management best estimation expectations for
future changes in the market.

Working capital change — the turnover day of trade
receivables and trade payables was 90 days in
determining the working capital changes which are
based on the management best estimation and the
historical record of the CGU.

Media Services

The recoverable amount of CGU-Media Services was
determined based on the value-in-use calculation.
This calculation uses cash flow projection which
represents what management believes is the best
estimate of what CGU-Media Services is able to
achieve in its business life. The management of the
Group determined that full impairment loss was
provided for the year ended 31 December 2021 as
the result of impairment assessment performed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—Ft+-_A=t—RHIEFE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 17. REEATIZHER
2021 2020
—B-—F _—T-_TF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET FET
Unlisted investments JELEMIRE
Share of net assets DMEEEFE 2,630 2,005
Amounts due from associates (Note) JE A & A R ER IR (B RE) 2,762 2,753
5,392 4,758
2021 2020
—F-—F —=-=
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Amounts due to associates (Note) FET B & N R SRIA (MIFE) 3,021 2,340
Note:  Amounts due from/to associates are unsecured MizE : PR FERTERE SN BB A EK IR

and non-interest bearing. The directors of the
Company do not expect that the amount due from
associates will be settled within 1 year from the

Rl - ARAREBEEEHRTERR
iﬁﬂﬂit.ﬁ FRFIE
SH - ARBEERS - AR

EYE N

end of the reporting period. The directors of the **/‘Tﬁﬂy’] BEEMNAER
Company considered that no ECL was recognised RRIE - MY EEREMEREE
on the ground that the associates have sufficient EriE o
ability to repay the amounts due to the Group.
Particulars of the associates are set out in Note 37 to BMENAIFBEENES M BHmERMN:E
the consolidated financial statements. 37 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Cont’d) 17. REIZE AT ZH#ES (&)
Summarised financial information of material BEEBHEAT2HBEREE
associate
Summarised financial information in the Group’s REBEERERNRZHBEERBES
material associate is set out below. The summarised BN o B AR E g HE 2 N 7]
financial information below represents amounts shown LREABVBmESERRER 2 W BmE
in the associate’s financial statements prepared in 2|7 5%E o

accordance with HKFRSs.

Name
&iE
Best Concept Limited
EREEHRAS]
2021 2020
—Fg-—F —=-=

Percentage of ownership interests ARG 40% 40%

HK$’000 HK$’000

T FiET

At 31 December R+=—A=+—H
Non-current assets EREEE 11,901 10,570
Current assets mENEE 3,646 2,986
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (6,750) (6,750)
Current liabilities RBARE (3,407) (2,988)
Net assets BEFE 5,390 3,818
Group’s share of carrying AEEELERZRAEBE

amount of interests 2,156 1,527
Year ended 31 December HE+-_A=1+—HILEFE
Revenue g 552 542
Profit/(Loss) for the year RNEERF(EE) 1,572 (480)
Other comprehensive income Efth 2wl - -
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 2EUA, (B B58 1,572 (480)
Dividend received from associate B BB AR 2 AR B - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—Ft+-_A=t—RHIEFE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Cont’d) 17. REEASIZHER(Z)
The following table shows, in aggregate, the Group’s TRIRANEB EIL ARz E AR ZBT
share of the amounts of all individually immaterial BRI EE RN L BE N T 4058 -
associates that are accounted for using the equity
method.
2021 2020
—B-—F —Z_FF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
T#&T FHETT
At 31 December ®+=—A=+—H~
Carrying amount of interests s 7 REE 474 478
Year ended 31 December HE+Z-A=1+—HIEFE
Aggregate amounts of the Group’s REBEDNZERE QR
share of those associates #aza
— Loss for the year —RFEER (4) (7)
- Other comprehensive income —HEt 2 EE - -
- Total comprehensive loss —2HEEELTE (4) (7)
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 18. RAFHFIAREBEE K2/
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE REE
INCOME
2021 2020
—EB-—F —T_FTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET
Unlisted equity securities, at fair value JEEMRAES (BATFE) - 30
Financial assets at fair value through other BAFEFAEMEAWR T EEE
comprehensive income are equity securities held for TERBERNIEAE ZBRAFZS  WiKA
strategic purposes and stated at fair value. FEIER -
The above unlisted equity investments represent the F3E EmR AR EREAEE —ERE
Group’s 10.35% equity interest in a private entity DA S 2 FAA B B2 A 10.35% KRR
incorporated in Singapore. KgEas ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

18.

19.

20.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (Cont’d)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the
Group had disposed of an unlisted equity security at
the consideration of HK$857,000 for better use of
fund for the Group. A cumulative gain on disposal of
HK$252,000 has been transferred to accumulated
losses.

The consideration was set off with a trade payable
to a professional services provider for financial
advisory and valuation services who is the purchaser
of the unlisted equity security for the amount of
HK$800,000. The remaining balance of HK$57,000
was subsequently settled by cash in March 2021.

AMOUNT DUE FROM AN INVESTEE
COMPANY

Amount due from an investee company is unsecured,
interest bearing at 3% per annum and has no fixed
repayment terms.

18.

19.

BRAFEF AR B2 EWEZH
BEE#)

HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HLHF
E - AREE R E857,00058 T H EIE
ERAES - BT AAERSN
e o HEMRFTIE 252,000 LE
ARSI -

B B NER 3 POk B 75 ] M i (B AR 75
BN — BB ERBEHERGELTRA
7 H B 7 ) B E 5 FE R BR X 800,000
JC° #R 57,0008 TEREN T = —
F=ZANUREEE -

iR EH R ABIRIE

ERREHRARREREER  RE
F 3%t B B EE T ERE

INVENTORIES 20. B8
2021 2020
WS —_T_FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHT
Finished goods K oh 152 582

The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised
as an expense and included in profit or loss is as
follows:

EHERSAXYAABRRZFESED
oy

2021 2020

—B-—F —T-TF

HK$’000 HK$ 000

THET FHBT

Amount of inventories sold EEFESE 1,614 79
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21.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE_Z-_—F+-_A=+—RHILFE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21. B RHEMEYIRR
2021 2020
—B-—F _—T_TF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET FHEIT
Trade receivables B S ERERK 7,414 3,325
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EERERE - -
7,414 3,325

Prepayments, deposits FERHIE - Zek

and other receivables (note) E b AR FR (M) 14,095 4,218
21,509 7,543

Note:As at 31 December 2021, the amount of

approximately HK$1,007,000 (2020: HK$533,000)
represents prepayments, rental deposits and
other deposits. The amount of approximately
HK$11,227,000 represents the amount receivable
from internet platforms (i.e. Tik Tok and Kuaishou) on
which the Group operates online shop through those
internet platforms. The Group act as agent to promote
or sell different products for different suppliers. The
amount receivables mainly represent the online sales
through those internet platforms to be settled. All
of the amount receivables were settled in January
2022. The remaining balance of HK$1,861,000 (2020:
HK$868,000) represents other receivables which are
stated at amortised cost, unsecured, non-interest
bearing and have no fixed repayment terms.

As at 31 December 2020, the amount of
HK$2,817,000 represents the amount due from a
non-controlling interest of Bohu Business School
who is also the legal representative of the Group of
Bohu Holdings which is used for operation of the
Group of Bohu Holdings. The amount due from a
non-controlling interest is unsecured, non-interest
bearing and expected to be settled within 1 year from
the end of the reporting period. For development
and operation of the business in the Group of Bohu
Holdings, the directors of the Company approved to
advance the amounts to the non-controlling interest.
For the benefit of the shareholders of the Group, Mr.
Xie Xuan agreed with the board to provide a guarantee
to the Company for the amount due from a non-
controlling interest.

GEX

RZE-——F+=-A=+—8"
#71,007,000% (= & = T
F : 533,000 7t ) & TE 1F &K -
Hekes REMIES - BUREH
WIEEWASTERFIREYD
11,227,000 7T+ A 5% B B B %
EOWMBIagERLEAE - A%
EEARBAABTRMEEEEE
NEETRMEM - &L EKRE
REBAZSEBPTAEREE
MEFEBFNRIE - FTERKER
HRZBE-_—F—A&KN - 88T %
1,861,000 T(Z T =T F :
868,000 7% 7T ) 48 1= # 8 5K 7 71| BR
M EMERERR - AEER - 28
B EFE SR o

RZZE-_ZFTF+-_A=+—8"
2,817,000 7% JT 4 & U 175 T 75 2 Bt
FEERERNTE  BTRERkA
BT EZEREBMNEENRRK - MZK
BEREARNETIEREEES - EIR
FIEREZORBELEKF £
B RBHRRES AR 1 FRE
B BTREITEREENERRZERE
KBS RNBEEHE LI
B EERERRE - BT AEE
BRzF - HELERNEESS
BN R A FE AR FE IR AR RE S BB IR
HEIELR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d) 21. B RHMEWKIRRK (Z)

The credit terms granted by the Group to customers
are determined on a case-by-case basis with
reference to the size of service contracts, recurrent
services provided to the customers and their credit
history. The credit terms granted are ranged from
cash-on-delivery to 30 days. The Group makes
provision for trade receivables based on specific
review. Provision is made against trade receivables
after considering the amount due, creditability of
customers and other qualitative factors.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables from
consultancy services of the Group at the end of the
reporting period based on the invoice date and net of
allowance for doubtful debts, is as follows:

AEEREPRHZEEHNTISERG
BHRE  MREEPRHERM 2R
EREZFERLZENEREE - &
BAMFTAMETHEER/I0OK -
A& B ER BRI E 5 AR
Bp  AEHEERERIHEHE TP
FEMHEMEERRRYHE S EKREX
TR

AEBRHRERRIZER A B REHR
REGRRBZREBERRE 2B S EK
R BRIR DATAA T

2021 2020
—E-—%F T

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET FHT

0 to 30 days 0E 30K 6,625 SES25)

31 to 60 days 31 260K - =

61 to 90 days 61E90K - =

O ver 90 days #8318 90 X - -
Total trade receivables from consultancy HREEEMRSE 2 Z 5

services FEULBR TR 42 =8 6,625 3,325

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables from
media services of the Group at the end of the
reporting period based on the invoice date and net of
allowance for doubtful debts, is as follows:

AEBNHRERRILER A B RELHR
RIZIRBME 2 R B R RIRTSE 5 B WA
RZREDITANT

2021 2020

—¥-—F _—T_ZTF

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET FHT

0 to 30 days 0&E 30K 789 -

31 to 60 days 31 260K - =

61 to 90 days 61 290K - =

Over 90 days 838 90 X - -
Total trade receivables from media REEEREE S

services FEN AR TR B RE 789 -

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables 2 5 W IR AR ER AR B SR M5
are set out in note 31(b)(ii). 31 (b)(ii) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—Ft+-_A=t—RHIEFE

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 22. INE&RINE%EEY
2021 2020
—T-—F _—_T_-FF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
T FHET
Cash and bank balances R& RIRITAE 8 4,681 7,061

Bank balances comprise deposits with bank held by
the Group with an original maturity of three months or
less.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

()  During the year ended 31 December 2020,
the Group had signed settlement agreements
between ADIL, the substantial shareholder of the
Company, and customers. Under the settlement
agreements, the Group had instructed the
customers to transfer the trade receivables for
the total amount of HK$9,972,000 directly to
ADIL as settlement of the amount due to ADIL
without recourse (note 30 (b)).

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2020, a
PRC business partner (“BP”) had signed a loan
transfer agreement with ADIL and the Group.
Under the loan transfer agreement, the amount
due to the BP amounting to HK$6,782,000
was transferred to amount due to a substantial
shareholder.

ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE
AND LIABILITIES DIRECTLY ASSOCIATED
WITH ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR
SALE

On 1 December 2021, Yaxin Trading (Guangzhou)
Company Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Group entered into a share purchase agreement to
sell all of the existing 51% interest of Bohu Holdings
(“the Disposal Group”) to the non-controlling
interest of Bohu Holdings at the consideration of
RMB1 (equivalent to HK$1). According to the share
purchase agreement, the transaction is subject to the
relevant PRC’s government approval. Accordingly,
the following assets and liabilities of the Disposal
Group have been classified as held for sale as at 31
December 2021. The completion of the transaction
took place on 5 January 2022. The Disposal Group
belonged to Media Services segment before the
disposal.

23.

24,
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F i 4% 59,972,000 8 THE 5
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FEF ADIL 7 #:38 R 518 (i 35 30
(b)) °
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24 ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 24. PEAHEHESERBESES
AND LIABILITIES DIRECTLY ASSOCIATED FESHESEERMEMMER
WITH ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR (&)

SALE (Cont’d)
The assets and liabilities associated with the Disposal R-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HEDEA
Group classified as held for sale as at 31 December BIEHENHEAREEHNEERE
2021 are as follows: BT :
Note 2021
PsE —T-—f§
HK$’000
FHT
Property, plant and equipment Yz - B NEE 14 381
Right-of-use assets CREEE 15 2,290
Other receivables H bW AR X 3,182
Cash and cash equivalents RENMRESEED 1
Assets classified as held for sale DERFEHEEE 5,854
Other payables E A FETER R 6,312
Lease liabilities HEBRE 2,810
Deferred income FEIEUTA 3,681
Liabilities directly associated HAOMARKIEHEEAERRE

with assets classified as held for sale BENEaE 12,803

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25. B RHEMEMIRR

2021 2020

—¥-—fF =T=TF

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET TFAT

Trade payables (Note (a)) B SRR (M @) 3,536 2,319

Accruals BIRE A 6,832 5,667
Cash advances from third parties F=F 2 BB (K 0)

(Note (b)) 8,865 -
Other payables Hoh FERTER R 2,298 6,106
Contract liabilities (Note (c)) aHaE M) = 178

21,531 14,270
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25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Cont’d) 25. B REMEMRRZ)
Note: P 5E
(a): The trade payables are due when invoices are (@) BEFEMNEFNHREZEEIL -
presented.
(0):  The cash advances from third parties are unsecured, b): B=FAzHeRFAEER 258E8
non-interest bearing and have no fixed repyament 4 [ E B o
terms.
(c):  The following table shows how much of the revenue (c): TRERICHRANKTZHEZLHEL
recognised relates to carried-forward contract EANBERHA -
liabilities.
2021 2020
—®B-—F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Balance at 1 January W—HA— B 178 392
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of A4 A RER UL E B
recognising revenue during the year mAHEaERD (171) (225)
Exchange difference EHERE (7) 11
- 178
An ageing analysis of the trade payables of the Group AEERREARCEFEMNERER
at the end of the reporting period based on the BERABCRESITIT
invoice date is as follows:
2021 2020

W= _—_T_FTF
HK$’000 HK$’000

T#&T FHT
Less than 90 days P90 K 2,017 2,319
90 to 180 days 90ZE 180K - =
Over 180 days BB 180K 1,519 =
Total trade payables B e R B 3,536 2,319
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26. LEASE LIABILITIES 26. HEEE
2021 2020
—T-—F —T-TF
HK$'000  HK$'000
TER FHTT
Lease liabilities payable: FEREEEE
Within one year —FR 244 163
Within a period of more than one year HiEm—FEIRMENRN
but not more than two years HAfH 149 -
393 163
Less: Amount due for settlement within & : B 128 A REE
12 months shown under MR RBAE 2 FIB
current liabilities (244) (163)
Amount due for settlement after B2 @ A 1&EE
12 months shown under NAERBAE
non-current liabilities 2RI 149 -
The Group’s lease liabilities are for terms of 2-3 years AEBNHERGBAEME=F(ZZ=
(2020: 2 years). TFE:WE) o
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates FEN== DAY =N \E\{ij}D%SFi’ji EE el
applied to lease liabilities were ranged from 2% to EENF2%E5.38% (ZF_FF : Nt
5.38% (2020: from 2% to 5.38%). F2%%E5.38%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021

value of HK$24,719,000 were issued on 8 January 2020
upon fully conversion of the convertible bonds amounting to
HK$102,469,000 during the year ended 31 December 2020.

Note 2:

On 27 March 2020, the Company completed a share
consolidation on the basis that every ten existing shares of
HK$0.1 of the Company combined into one consolidated
share of HK$1.0 effective on 27 March 2020.

BE_Z-_—F+-_A=+—RHILFE
27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. X
As at 31 December 2021 As at 31 December 2020
RZB=-%+-A=t+-H WZZE-2F+-A=1—H
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
L] \fE e ffE
HK$’000 HK$'000
THT FiEx
Authorised: ETE
At the beginning of the year, EA?%)J iﬂ&@@ 0ET
ordinary shares of HK$1.0 (ZZZ2F:01%7)
(2020: HK$0.1) each LBk 1,000,000,000 1,000,000 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
Share consolidation (note 2) 1%’:\.13% fizE2) - - (9,000,000,000)
Share subdivision (note 4) RipFA(HisE4) 9,000,000,000 - - -
At the end of the year, EAHE iﬂ&@@o B
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 (Z22F5:1.0%T)
(2020: HK$1.0) each VERR 10,000,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEIRAR
At the beginning of the year, EAﬂﬂ iﬂﬁ@@1 03T
ordinary shares of HK$1.0 (ZZ-ZF:01%7)
(2020: HK$0.1) each TER 200,902,041 200,902 1,761,825,563 176,183
Conversion of convertible bonds Wﬁﬂ%ﬁ%Z@ﬁﬁ
(note 1) (Wi 1) - - 247,194,848 24,719
Share consolidation (note 2) &G (HEE2) - - (1,808,118,370) -
Capital reduction (note 3) HURR AR (i 3E3) - (180,811) - -
At the end of the year, EA%K iH&L@@O 18T
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 (ZB-ZE:10%T)
(2020: HK$1.0) each MERR 200,902,041 20,091 200,902,041 200,902
Note 1: MT§£1 0
Total number of 247,194,848 ordinary shares with nominal BE_Z_ZF+_A=1+—HILFE XK

S @F?;ﬁlﬁ?@%ﬁ%ﬁ}%102,469,000/’§TE
WA mkESR R_T_ZF—H/\H
1746 $£247,194,848 R EBKR - HER
24,719,000 & T °

GETE

RZZB-ZF=FA-++H ARFTKR
T‘/\@% HEER T TFE=FA_+tHAX
Tt+ﬁ§01ﬁ§7ﬁl’ﬁﬁ‘ﬁﬂ§i1”\@¥% A
1.078TTH & FAX ()
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27.

28.

SHARE CAPITAL (Cont’d)
Note 3:

Capital reduction involved the reduction of the nominal value
of each issued consolidated share from HK$1.0 to HK$0.1
effective on 14 January 2021. The credit arising from
the capital reduction amounted to HK$180,811,000 was
transferred to the capital reserve of the Company.

Note 4:

Immediately following the capital reduction, each of the
authorised but unissued consolidated share of nominal
value of HK$1.0 each was subdivided into ten new shares
of HK$0.1 each effective on 14 January 2021.

*

Details of the share consolidation, capital reduction
and share subdivision are stated in the Company’s
circular dated 28 February 2020.

RESERVES

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands, share premium, capital reserve and
contributed surplus are distributable to shareholders,
subject to the condition that the Company cannot
declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out
of share premium, capital reserve and contributed
surplus if:

() itis, or after the payment be, unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due; or

(i) the realisable value of its assets would be
thereby less than the aggregate of its liabilities
and its issued share capital account.

The capital reserve of the Group represents the
amount of capital reduction transferred from the
share capital on 14 January 2021 and the difference
between the nominal value of the ordinary shares
issued by the Company and the aggregate of the
share capital and share premium of subsidiaries
acquired through an exchange of shares as at the
date of the group reorganisation and the waive of
loans by a related party on 1 February 2004.

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising on translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations and is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set out in
note 4(t).
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29.

30.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company does not currently have any employee
share option scheme in effect.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Balances and transactions between the Company
and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the
Company, have been eliminated on consolidation and
are not disclosed in this note. In addition to those
disclosed in other notes to the consolidated financial
statements, details of transactions between the
Group and other related parties are as follows:

(@ Amount due to a director of the Company,
Mr. Xie Xuan, of HK$6,254,000 (2020:
HK$7,066,000) is unsecured, non-interest
bearing and is not due for repayment within the
next twelve months from the end of the reporting
period.

(b)  Amount due to a substantial shareholder of
the Company, ADIL, of HK$2,781,000 (2020:
HK$11,252,000) is unsecured, interest bearing
at the annual rate of 5% and is not due for
repayment within the next twelve months from
the end of the reporting period.

Interest expenses to the substantial shareholder
for the year ended 31 December 2021 amounted
to HK$504,000 included in the amount due to a
substantial shareholder (2020: HK$341,000).

() On 11 November 2020, Mr. Xie Xuan, director
of the Company acquired 12% shareholding
of a PRC company — RL(E/M&EHR A A
(transliterated as Yifan (Guangzhou) Investment
Company Limited) (“Yifan (Guangzhou)”) and Mr.
Xie Xuan had fully disposed the shareholding in
Yifan (Guangzhou) on 16 March 2021. During
the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021,
the Group’s subsidiary received consultancy
income from Yifan (Guangzhou) of RMB800,000
(equivalent to HK$900,000) and RMB2,600,000
(equivalent to HK$3,132,000) respectively.
No significant balance in respect of the above
transactions were carried forward at the end of
the reporting period in respect of the current
year (2020: Nil).

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—Ft+-_A=t—RHIEFE

29. BERR#E

ARE BRI EE N B THERES -

30. EXFEANLES
ARrEEMB AR (RARAZEEA
TIZEBRERFEREEIK B BT
- BEARRAMEABRE - BRR&GE M
BRREMMEREREEIN  NEE
HEMBAEALZRBFHBWT

@ ERARAREZEEHEILEZRE
56,254,000 T (ZE _ZF :
7,066,000 7T ) T EEIF - R E K
BARSREARE R+ A
AEE o

(b)) EBREARAG—BEZREADLK
1B £2,781,000%8 (= T = F
F 111,252,000/ 7T ) Jh KR
BFFEE%FHE M EBNHRE
RABEARE 128 A AEE -

BE-_T-_—F+=-H=+—H
EFE A FEEREZFE
F % 504,000 L(ZE = Z F :
341,000 L) REN —BEER
HRERIATIEE o
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30. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30. EXEEANTRX 5 (&)

31.

198

(Cont’d)
(d The remuneration of directors and other d BEERHMOFEEEEKENTF
members of key management during the year is NZEHT -
as follows:
2021 2020
—B-—F —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FHET
Short-term benefits 2 2R 48 ) 2,211 2,202
The remuneration of directors and key ZEENFETHRAE ZEH WY N
executives is determined by the remuneration FEGKEBZIAZKRIAEMGBEE
committee having regard to the performance of B -
individuals and market trends.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 31. HBITH
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) MBI EZIER
2021 2020
—T-—F _—_TFF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
THET FET
Financial assets MBEE
Financial assets at FVTOCI BAFEFAEMEE RS
2B ERE - 30
At amortised cost birg: £ )N
Amount due from J?E%Z-Féﬂiiéf
an investee company HRAFK 596 578
Amounts due from associates Fﬂﬁlﬁé“ﬁfé@ IE 2,762 2,753
Trade and other receivables fﬁ%&ﬁﬁﬂﬁgwﬁ% 21,314 7,393
Cash and cash equivalents He MREEEY 4,681 7,061
Rental deposit Heke 72 —
29,425 17,815
Financial liabilities HMBaRE
At amortised cost bivg: $ic) DN
Trade and other payables 5 R EMEMIRR 21,531 14,092
Amounts due to associates EEHH@%%’D\ AFRIE 3,021 2,340
Amount due to a director FERAR
of the Company *%%%%’Jﬁ 6,254 7,066
Amount due to N —REE
a substantial shareholder f& B FI8 2,781 11,252
Lease liabilities HEEE 393 163
33,980 34,913
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'q)

(b)

Financial risk management and policies

Details of the Group’s financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (foreign currency risk and
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management of the Group
manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.

(i)

Market risk
Foreign currency risk

The Company’s functional currency is Hong
Kong dollar and the functional currencies
of the majority of the subsidiaries are Hong
Kong dollar and Renminbi. The Group’s
transactions, trade receivables and trade
payables are mainly denominated in these
currencies.

Entities within the Group are exposed
to foreign exchange risk from future
commercial transactions and monetary
assets and liabilities that are denominated
in a currency that is not the entities’
functional currencies. However, as the
net foreign exchange exposure is not
significant, the Group does not actively
hedge this foreign exchange exposure
and no foreign currency risk sensitivity is
disclosed.

The Group periodically reviews monetary
assets and liabilities held in currencies
other than the functional currency to ensure
that net exposure is kept at an acceptable
level, and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'q)

(b) Financial risk management and policies
(Cont’d)

(i)

(ii)

Market risk (Cont’d)
Interest rate risks

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk
relates primarily to fixed rate borrowings
from the substantial shareholder (see Note
30(b)). The Group’s cash flow interest rate
risk relates primarily to bank balances (see
Note 22). The management of the Group
considers the Group’s exposure of the
bank balances to interest rate risk is not
significant as they have a short maturity
period.

Credit risk management

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due
to failure to perform an obligation by the
counterparties, is the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets
as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk in
relation to trade and other receivables,
the management of the Group has
strengthened the credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
management of the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual
trade debt at each reporting date to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard,
the management of the Group considers
that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'q)

(b) Financial risk management and policies
(Cont’d)

(ii)

Credit risk management (Cont’d)

The credit risk on cash and cash
equivalents is limited because the majority
of the counterparties are reputable banks
or banks with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies.

For internal credit risk management, the
management of the Group periodically
reviews the financial information of the
associates, investee company and other
receivables to assess whether credit risk
has increased significantly. The directors
of the Group consider the ECL on these
balances are not significant.

Debtors’ aging

As part of the Group’s credit risk
management, the Group uses debtors’
aging to assess the impairment for its
customers in relation to its operations
because these customers share common
risk characteristics that are representative
of the customers’ abilities to pay all
amounts due in accordance with the
contractual terms. The following table
provides information about the exposure to
credit risk for trade receivables which are
assessed based on provision matrix as at
31 December 2021 within lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Contd) 31. BBEIRE)
(b) Financial risk management and policies (b) HAEEMREERBIE(E)
(Cont’d)
(i) Credit risk management (Cont’d) (i) 1EEEMGEEE)
Gross carrying amount REAE
2021 2020
—Bo-f k- a2
Gross Gross
carrying carrying
amount amount
of trade of trade
receivables receivables
from from
Average consultancy  Expected Average  consultancy Expected
loss rate services  credit loss loss rate services  credit loss
*B RE
BRREZ BRR% 2
B SRR B REWER
Bl ok RESE BHEEBE To5ExX FEBE BHEEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiER TER TEL THL
Current (not past due) MA(TABE)
1-30 days past due BE1Z30K 0% 6,625 - 0% 3,325 -
31-60 days past due BH31ZE60K - - - - - -
61-90 days past due BH61Z90K - - - - - -
More than 90 days past due B EHEBEIOX - - - - - -
6,625 = 3,325 -
2021 2020
—BC-§ —85%%
Gross Gross
carrying carrying
amount amount
of trade of trade
receivables receivables
Average frommedia  Expected Average  from media Expected
loss rate services  credit loss loss rate services  credit loss
RE RE
REREZ RERE
B SRR B MR
FHBRE FEgE BHEESE TOIEBEx REAHE BHACERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiERT TER THT THL
Current (not past due) B (kB E)
1-30 days past due BH1ZE30K 0% 789 - 0% - -
31-60 days past due Ak i RYEY P - - - - - -
61-90 days past due #BH6120K - - - - - -
More than 90 days past due @ #EREI0K - - - - - -
789 - - -
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)
(b) Financial risk management and policies
(Cont’d)
(i) Credit risk management (Cont’d)

The estimated loss rates are estimated
based on historical observed default rates
over the expected life of the debtors and
are adjusted for forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or
effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure relevant information
about specific debtors is updated.

The following table shows the movement
in lifetime ECL that has been recognised
for trade receivables under the simplified
approach.

=}

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—Ft+-_A=t—RHIEFE

31. MBEIRW)
(b) BABSEMEERBIR(T)

(i) EERBEE(E)
BABERERBEBESR
BEHEARBRFRZEOR
fhat AMBABRKAHL
REZTRFEAHERNZAE
HERMELAR - ERETE
B o8 BRDEME

EEFBAZREER -

TRETRIEGETAER
ZEBPRWER 2 = BTE

Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)
2HREEEER
(E&iRE)
HK$'000

AT

As at 1 January 2020
Derecognised on disposal of a subsidiary

R=F-25-A-H
W& — B A R A& LR

1,790
(1,790)

As at 31 December 2020, 1 January 2021 and
31 December 2021

R-F-B£+-A=+-8"

—F--5-f-Bk
—¥-—-%+ZH=+-H =

TMEEGER)ERRA |
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'q)

(b) Financial risk management and policies
(Cont’d)

(ii)

(iii)

204 Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

Credit risk management (Cont’d)

At the end of the reporting period,
HK$6,625,000 (2020: HK$3,325,000)
of the total trade and other receivables
were due from the Group’s two largest
customers (2020: largest customer) within
the consultancy services segment.

During the years ended 31 December 2021
and 2020, no write-off of trade receivables
was recorded.

Liquidity risk management

In the management of the liquidity risk,
the Group monitors and maintains a level
of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance
the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
Group relies on issuing of shares and
borrowings from related parties as a
significant sources of funding.

The following tables detail the Group’s
remaining contractual maturity for their
financial liabilities which are based on
the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities and the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay.

| Annual Report 2021

31. MBI R#)

(b)

B ERERRBE(Z)
(i) EERBEE(E)

(iii)

REEBR - BERRE DS
DRERAEBME &K
BER(ZE-TF: BAE
FIBSREMEBWERA
#6,625,0008 L (Z T =&
F : 3,325,00087T) o

HE_ZS-—FK_F-F
F+-_A=+—BItFE "
BEEES B 5 e U BR TS -

REE2EEEE

AEEBERRDEER
B 2EfReRAEEFE
W ZKF - BERTHEER
EBRABBBEZKE  ABA
AREBZZ2EMRT  LHD
ReRn8RB o E - BT
B RREBEALZEER
RAKEZTBEESHR -

TERFNAEEZHBHAR
ZHTAKEEMBER KD
ERPBAaBEzRABRRS
ME RN E B R ERKER
Z &R AHMEHE -



31.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b)

(c)

Financial risk management and policies
(Cont’d)

(iii) Liquidity risk management (Cont’d)

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—Ft+-_A=t—RHIEFE

31. MBI R#)

(b) HMBEBREBRBIK(Z)

(iii) REELEGEE(E)

More than
On demand 3 months Total
or less than but less undiscounted Total
3 months than 1 year More than cash flows carrying
HEXY, ZEANE 1year KR amount
DR=ER BOR-5 BiE-5 ReREEE FasE
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
2021 Z§C-f TEn TR TEn TEn TEn
Trade and other payables BAREMEMNERN 21,531 - - 21,531 21,531
Amounts due to associates ERBENATE 3,021 - - 3,021 3,021
Amount due to a director of the Company ERZARF-22 538 - - 6,254 6,254 6,254
Amount due to a substantial shareholder  FEff—£ X ER Rz - - 2,937 2,037 2,781
Lease liabilities %E‘E,\TE 65 194 151 410 393
24,617 194 9,342 34,153 33,980
2020 k-
Trade and other payables EHREMEAERR 14,002 - - 14,002 14,002
Amounts due to associates ERBEATNE 2,340 - - 2,340 2,340
Amount dlue to a director of the Company ERAAF-22 538 - - 7,066 7,066 7,066
Amount due to a substantial shareholder  Eff—% T ERE A - - 11,975 11,975 11,252
Lease liabilities HERR n % - 166 163
16,503 % 19,041 35,639 34,913
In the opinion of the directors, the Group EEZRE REBEGEVBR
should have adequate resources to meet KW sEopTE 2 HE . K&
its obligation in the forthcoming year on the BEHEERCTERNRERET
basis set out in Note 2 to the consolidated HEE-
financial statements.
Fair values () A¥FE

The directors of the Company have considered
that the carrying amounts of all financial assets
and liabilities, approximate their fair values at 31
December 2021 and 31 December 2020.

The following table sets out the carrying value of
financial instruments measured at fair value at 31
December 2021 and 31 December 2020 using
the three-level hierarchy as defined in HKFRS
13.

ARRBEERRMBMBHEERA
BZRAEBEEN T —F+—
A=+— E&_$_7$+ A
=t+—BZAVERSE

TREFIEAFEAEZHIETA
RZZE=_—F+=-A=t+—HEK=
T-_ZTF+_A=+—HZKMA
B EhFEAEBMERE LS
135 R E 2 = EE#R -

TMEEWEBR)BRAR | —Z-—FF8 905



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

31.

(c)

31. MBI R#)

Fair values (Cont'd) (c) AFE{EE)

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active F—4: BERGT=H8HAER
markets for identical assets or liabilities ZIEREEXBREZE
that the entity can access at the BMSWmECREHE):
measurement date;

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices FoHBRE—RZ2AFER
included within Level 1 that are I BERBEBEZER
observable for the asset or liability, B R E A
either directly or indirectly; and B Rk

Level 3: inputs are unobservable inputs for the E=f: BEIBBEITITHE
asset or liability. A BUE -

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
-1 -4 $5=83 @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET AT TAT TET

2021 B 3

Recurring fair value measurement & EEATE &

Assets BE

Financial assets at BATE AL

FVTOCI PR HEEE = - - -

2020 —ECEE

Recurring fair value measurement  EHMEATLE &

Assets BE

Financial assets at RAFE AL

FVTOCI 2EMRHKEE = - 30 30

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and
31 December 2020, there were no transfers
between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into
or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to
recognise transfers between levels of fair value
hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in
which they occur.

The fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI as at
31 December 2021 has been arrived at on the
basis of a valuation using asset based approach.
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HE_ZT-_—Ft+-_A=t—HRK
:§:§¢+ A=+t—HI%
B BB RF-_RzZALEE
% M—%&%fﬁﬁﬁikii
HE=F - AEBEBRRRERSH
RHBE R FERE R RE R ER
R

RZEZ—F+_A=1+—H2&
ANFEFAEMEERE 2 T HE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—Ft+-_A=t—RHIEFE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'q) 31. BBEIRE)
(c) Fair values (Cont'd) (c) AFEEE)
At 31 December 2020, if the equity price R-ZE-_ZTF+-_A=+—H" &
had increased/decreased 10% with all other DESH A AT ARG - MR
variables held constant, the Group's other BEFTHK10% BIRERZ
comprehensive income and fair value reserve H 2 miles kA FERKEBL N
would be increased/decreased by approximately SR #93,00087T o EF TN
HK$3,000. The 10% increase/decrease 10% B ERETEREREE T —
represents management’s assessment of the EFEHRER 2 BEARTGEHER
likely maximum change in equity value over the ZHREEE -
period until the end of next annual reporting
period.
Financial assets at FVTOCI FELFAET AR M2 EK BT
BE
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
ks bl 3 —TTF
+=A=+—H +=-A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
T FHETT
Opening fair value HYIRAYE 30 931
Disposals BE - (857)
Change in fair value NEE (30) (44)
Closing fair value HRAFE - 30
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

32. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 32. EXEM

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the directors of the Company may adjust the
dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders and issue of new shares. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes
during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio,
which is net debt divided by the total capital plus net
debt. Net debt includes trade and other payables,
amounts due to associates, amount due to a director
of the Company, amount due to a substantial
shareholder and lease liabilities less cash and cash
equivalents. Capital includes equity attributable to the

AEBEREERNLERE - WHEELER
M2 EBEEREEIELTE - B
RFABREAERE  AARIES RSN
TR TFRECRENRE RETREE
RREBETHRG - REEZT=Z—FK
TECEFF+_A=F+—HLEFER"
EREE  BERHIEF#HIFTE -

AEENBEERBLERERER
FaBEFRRAEENNERFE - &
BEBRERE S REMEMNERR - BN
BEQBIFIE BNARRESRHA
BN —RTERRFAREEAERR
EhBREEFEY EABRARBHEE
AP MR s - RIE HR

owners of the Company and non-controlling interests. CEEBBHENMT
The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:
2021 2020

—F-—%§ ~—T-T
— — —

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET T
Trade and other payables 5 R EMEMNIRRK 21,531 14,092
Amounts due to associates FE{ST B & A B FIR 3,021 2,340
Amount due to a director of the Company FEN AR T —ZESZIA 6,254 7,066
Amount due to a substantial shareholder JEft—R& = EJREZIE 2,781 11,252
Lease liabilities HEARE 393 163
Less: Cash and cash equivalents wRE RIREEEY (4,681) (7,061)
Net debt (EVE ] 29,299 27,852
Equity attributable to: B AT FE(ERERS
- owners of the Company —ARRDRHEEA (1,492) 9,104
— non-controlling interests — It RS (3,840) 1,799
Total (capital deficiency)/equity (BAEH) iR (5,332) 10,903
Capital and net debt BRI ERFE 23,967 38,755
Gearing ratio BEAMEBLEX 122.25% 71.87%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—Ft+-_A=t—RHIEFE

33. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 33. HE—FEMEBASE

On 19 October 2021, the Group entered into an R-ZE-_—F+A+hH AEEHE—
agreement with an independent third party to dispose BRI E=ARI N —MIRBRAREEE
of its entire 100% equity interests in ACR Trading BEREME 10,0008 THEHEEINE
Investment Limited (“ACRTI”), which incorporated in B AKSZ A ACR Trading Investment
Hong Kong, for a cash consideration of HK$10,000 Limited (TACRTI]) #)100% A% # » T3
for nominal value due to negative asset value as of BEAREBER_ZE-_—F+/A+AN
19 October 2021 following the streamlining of the ASREEE RHER_TE_—F
corporate business. The transaction was completed TATNIBEKX -

on 19 October 2021.

Consideration receivable: JEUARAE -
HK$ 000
FET
Cash consideration receivable: FEWER S RAE - 10
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control LEEGE 7 EERABSIT
was lost:
HK$ 000
T
Trade receivables B Z AR 1
Trade payables B SRR (580)
Net liability disposed of EREaEFHE (579)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HE—FNBAR 2 W
HK$’000
FET
Consideration receivables FEUIRAE 10
Less: Net liability of a subsidiary B —ENB AR BEFRE (579)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHRB ARz K 589
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEAZESRAFE
HK$’000
T
Consideration received in cash BWRE RS
and cash equivalents LEDRE =

DHEEER)BRAT | —E-—%%8 9209



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

33. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Cont’d)

On 16 November 2020, the Group entered into an
agreement with an independent third party to dispose
of its entire 100% equity interests in ACR Capital
Management Limited (“ACRCM?”), which incorporated
in Samoa, for a cash consideration of US$1 (equivalent
to HK$8) for nominal value due to negative asset value
as of 16 November 2020 following the streamlining
of the corporate business. The transaction was
completed on 16 November 2020.

Consideration received/receivable:

33. HE—EMBAT (&)

RZEZTF+—A+"H KAEEHE
—RBUE=HEN—OENREE
BEEREeREBEB1ZTEERSEIL)LE
HeHNEERHS MR EMNE
EEEERAR(IEMNEEEERRA
A EI100% A& - THREBE AR EB
BR-_E_EF+— AT HHEFEE
EEB - RHIERZE_ZTF+—A+~
H5ER °

B ERARE :

HK$’000
THET

Cash consideration received/receivable: B EUWIRER(E - -

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control

REZHIRZEERBBEDT

2410 Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

was lost:
HK$ 000
T
Trade receivables B SRR 1,790
Allowance for credit losses EEEIEEH (1,790)
Tax and other payables I8 K H Ath FE T BR 3K (4,822)
Net liability disposed of EHEBEFE (4,822)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HE B AT Uk
HK$ 000
FET
Consideration received and receivables B B E =
Less: Net liability of a subsidiary B —HENB AR BEFRE (4,822)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HRB AR K 4,822
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34.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—Ft+-_A=t—RHIEFE

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Cont’d) 33. HE—REMBASZ)
Net cash outflows arising on disposal: HEEEZRESTHFE
HK$’000
FHETT
Consideration received in cash BWERERRS
and cash equivalents LEMRE -
Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of & : DHEZRE MRS ZEY -
Net cash outflows arising on disposal HE—EHEBARMELZ
of a subsidiary e FE -
ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 34. KEE—EMBAT

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
entered into two sales and purchase agreements
with two independent third parties, Mr. Tang Chao
and BUTE (BM) ZERAEBR QA (transliterated as
Sandage (Guangzhou) Holdings Company Limited)
(“Sandage”) in relation to the acquisition of 51%
equity interest of Bohu Holdings and its subsidiaries,
which are incorporated in PRC at a consideration
of RMB1 each. Bohu Holdings and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in internet media services in
PRC. The completion date of the acquisition was 23
September 2020.

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date

HE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HLHF
G AEBEMEZBIYE=AEBELE
FEIT S (B ZER AR A & (AT
BT D) BEULBE R P B SR AR ST A IR TR R
NEK BRI S1%RET LM EE
wE REZABAREAT - HFTIER
LEKBARRPRESHEL BAE
R - WEXKAPA-Z=_ZTFA
A=-+=8-

RSB BB EN & E NPT ERH A

of acquisition: f&
Fair value
AF{E
HK$’000
THERT
Plant and equipment TR K 75 A 190
Other receivables H b e U BR X 2,752
Cash and cash equivalents HeRREEEY 22
Other payables E A FERT AR X (70)
Identifiable net assets Al BB EFE 2,894

The receivables acquired with a fair value of
HK$2,752,000 at the date of acquisition had gross
contractual amounts of HK$2,752,000.

TMEEGER)ERRA |

WEZREKERREKBRAR 2 AT
B 52,752,000 T A REREAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

34. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Cont'd) 34. WEE—EMBAS(#)
The non-controlling interests (49%) in Bohu Holdings A UEE B BR e RR A 45 T 1 AR JE 5 AR A 2
recognised at the acquisition date was measured by (49%) I2ZE G T IERF A ENE
reference to the proportionate share of recognised REFEHLPIETE -

amounts of net liabilities of Bohu Holdings.

Goodwill arising on acquisition WEEELE ZEHE
HK$’000
FHET
Consideration transferred R RE =
Add: Non-controlling interests ho: SEPERRRE R 3,029

Less: Recognised amount of B BRI EFE

identifiable net assets acquired ZERTRE (2,894)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WHEEL e 135

242 Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited

As a result of the acquisition, the Group expected
to increase its sources of income for the Group in
future. Goodwill of approximately HK$135,000 arising
from the acquisition is attributable to the workforce
and economies of scale expected from operations of
the Group and Bohu Holdings. None of the goodwill
arising on the acquisition is expected to be deductible
for tax purposes.

Transaction cost of the acquisition is immaterial.

RRKE  NEBETEBRAREATEE
EMERARR - WHEEEZHELY
135,000 LB T A K B R iEF1EK
EBTEHNBE N ERELE - BiERK
AL 2 AR BIER SR ©

WIEHRZ HRAL FEK -

Net cash inflow arising from acquisition KMEEEZFIREKEAN
HK$’000
T
Cash and cash equivalent HeERREEEY 22
Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group WEEH A EEEENE

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January
2020, the total revenue of the Group for the year
would be HK$14,354,000, and loss for the year
would have been HK$14,324,000. The pro-forma
information is for illustrative purpose only and is not
necessarily an indication of revenue and result of
operations of the Group that actually would have
been achieved had the acquisition been completed on
1 January 2020, nor is it intended to be a projection
of future results.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ok,
e IRFRMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE_Z-_—F+-_A=+—RHILFE
35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 35. XATUBRRAE
THE COMPANY
2021 2020
B —F —ZT-FTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHEIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FERHEE
Interests in subsidiaries RHB AT 2R 2,656 1,968
CURRENT ASSETS RENEE
Other receivables E b U AR X 156 —
CURRENT LIABILITIES RENEE
Other payables EAth FE (T AR 5,394 4,734
Amounts due to subsidiaries JEAT B A Rl IE 23,400 17,896
28,794 22,630
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RENBEFE (28,638) (22,630)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEERREEE
CURRENT LIABILITIES (25,982) (20,662)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERHER
Amount due to a director JEN —REEFA 72 69
Amount due to a B — R EBRREFIE
substantial shareholder 2,800 11,271
2,872 11,340
NET LIABILITIES BEiBE (28,854) (32,002)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAXREHH
Share capital N 20,091 200,902
Reserves (Note) O ED) (48,945) (232,904)
TOTAL CAPITAL DEFICIENCY EAEAEE (28,854) (32,002)

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of

R-ZF-_—_FNAtHAEESSHE

Directors on 14 April 2022. RARRET)E -
Xie Xuan Feng Ke B BE
Director Director EBFE EBE

SHEEGER)ERAR | —2-—558 9213



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 35. AATUBRRF &)
THE COMPANY (Cont’d)
Convertible
bonds
Share Capital equity Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
TR ES
[Rbyia(E BXGE ke Zitisie @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TR TER IR TER
At 1 January 2020 W-Z-TF—-A—-H 304,371 13,882 3,091 (617,044) (295,700
Loss for the year KEEER - - - (14,954) (14,954)
Conversion of convertible  EBRANARRERARH
bonds into shares 80,841 - (3,091) - 77,750
At 31 December 2020 RZZE-%
and at 1 January 2021 +ZRA=+—-HE
RZZ-_—-%—A—H 385,212 13,882 - (631,998) (232,904)
Profit for the year KEFEH - - - 3,148 3,148
Capital reduction BRAHIR - 180,811 = = 180,811
At 31 December 2021 W-Z-—F
+-A=1-H 385,212 194,693 - (628,850) (48,945)
Note: MisE -
The capital reserve of the Company represents the KRB ZEREFBIREARNNCHETERRZ
difference between the nominal value of the ordinary HEEREREAHAE HBFBIBRRMOIE 2
shares issued by the Company and the net asset value of MBARZEEREZEZR -
a subsidiary acquired through an exchange of shares as at
the date of the group reorganisation.
At the end of the reporting period, in the opinion of the RBERR - ARREERE ' A AF L E
directors of the Company, the Company did not have any EEAIESIRTARARRZHEHE(ZZZ

reserves available for distribution to shareholders of the TE M) o
Company (2020: Nil).

214 Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited | Annual Report 2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as

FEMBIRRMEE o

For the y

HE-T

36. MIEBAT

ear ended 31 December 2021
—Z—F+ZA=+—HIEFE

TEMBATHENT :

follows:
Issued and fully Proportion of interest
Place of paid share held by the Company
. . . , AATRHEELLG
incorporation/ capital/registered
Name operation capital Directly  Indirectly Principal activities
E ML, ERTREAR
21 EEHE B%/BREX E# A IEEH
Asian Information Resources The British Virgin US$200 100% - Investment holding
(BVI) Limited* Islands 200% 7T BAEER
RERAES
Asian Information Hong Kong HK$11,228,290 - 100%  Investment holding
Resources Limited* B 11,228,290/ 7T REZRR
SMASBRAR"
Asian Information Resources Hong Kong HK$2 - 100%  Investment holding and
Finance Limited 0 2B provision of treasure
functions to group
companies
REZREARERT
REERRY
Asian Information Resources Hong Kong HK$2 = 100%  Provision of administration
Investment Limited ) 278 TT services to group
companies
REERARHE
TBRS
Asian Information Resources Hong Kong HK$10,000 = 100%  Investment holding
Marketing Limited BiE 10,000 7T REER
Biztech Company Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 - 100%  Investment holding
BEMRARAF BB 100,000 7T REER
Guangzhou Wavecom The PRC RMB36,000,000 = 100%  Investment holding
Communications HE AR 36,000,000 REZK
and Advertising
Limited™*
BNEREEREERA R
ACR Capital The British Virgin USs$1 = 100%  Provision of business
Management Limited** Islands and e management and
Hong Kong consulting services
RERZESREE in Asia Pacific region
REAEREER
BB RERRE
Shenzhen Yaxin Equity The PRC US$2,000,000 = 100%  Provision of investment
Investment Management HE 2,000,000 % 7T management and
Company Limited* consulting services
RY| B ERER R REREEERBERERE
ERERAF

EMEEGER)BR AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE-Z-—F+-A=+—HILFE

36. SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (Cont’d)

Issued and fully

36. MIBAT (&)

TEMBASFENT : (&)

Proportion of interest

Place of paid share h;g%g';;égi@;{
incorporation/ capital/registered

Name operation capital Directly Indirectly Principal activities
M, ERTRAR

&% EEWE B%/BREX Ef A IEEH

Shenzhen Yaxin Hengze The PRC RMB30,000,000 - 100%  Inactive
Enterprise Management F AR30,000,000 7T Glms e
Partnership (Limited
Partnership)*

R BEEECEER
BIREE (BRAK) *

Yaxin Trading (Guangzhou) The PRC RMB13,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding and
Company Limited** F AR #13,000,000 T provision of internet

TEHE (BM) development and
BB AR maintenance services,

investment management
and consultancy services
RERR KRR B
FEREERS
BREEERERRS

Bohu Holdings (Guangzhou) The PRC RMB10,000,000 = 51%  Investment holding
Company Limited* FE AR%10,000,000 7T REER

BIER(BEM)BRAR

Guangzhou Bohu Business The PRC RMB10,000,000 = 26.01% Internet media services
School Company Limited* F AR#10,000,000 7T (Note) EESEEHERY

BNEFEERER AR (FsE)

Jiangsu Bohu Culture The PRC RMB50,000,000 - 51%  E-commerce and internet
Development F AE%50,000,0007T (2020: Nil)  sales services
Company Limited* (Z22%F: E7EBREBEHERS
(“Jiangsu Bohu") z)

IHRT U ERERAA
([I#ET))

Guangzhou Bohu e-commerce  The PRC RMB1,000,000 = 51%  E-commerce and internet
Company Limited* F AR%1,000,0007C (2020: sales services

BNETEFRABERAR" 26.01%) BEFEBREBBHERS

(ZZ=%4F:
26.01%)

* Companies not audited by CHENG & CHENG

LIMITED.

t Subsidiaries are wholly foreign owned enterprises
established in the PRC.

English name for PRC companies is for translation purpose

only.

Note: The directors of the Company considered that the
Group has sufficient dominant voting interest to direct
the relevant activities of Bohu Business School and
therefore the Group has control over it (see note 5(c)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)
Commitments in respect of subsidiaries

The Group has the following commitments relating to
its subsidiaries:

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—Ft+-_A=t—RHIEFE

36. MIBAT(#)

BEAM BB B
REEBEME R FH AT AN

2021 2020

—BC—F —ZT-FTHF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Capital commitment B A 35,398 12,265
Summarised financial information of material EXHBATSIZHMEEEHEE

subsidiaries

Summarised financial information in respect of
each of the Group’s subsidiaries that has material
noncontrolling interests is set out below. The
summarised financial information below represents
amounts before intragroup eliminations.

AEEBRAERFERERZEHEBA
Al ERBEREINMT - THIMH
BN BESEANLHEA 2

Bohu Holdings

BEER
2021 2020
—B-—F _—T-_TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FAT
Group of Bohu Holdings BT E
Current assets MENEE 7,255 3,302
Non-current assets IEmBNEE 2,671 256
Current liabilities mEAE (15,625) (2,380)
Net (liability)/assets (BB BEFE (5,699) 1,178
Equity attributable to owners RABHEE AEIEER
of the Company (2,735) (621)
Non-controlling interests BT EREE RES
of Bohu Holdings (579) -
Non-controlling interests of the Group &4 A% 5= B 2 FEIE A S
of Bohu Holdings (2,385) 1,799
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'q) 36. MBAT (&)
Summarised financial information of material EXMBATIZHBEEHEE(Z)

36.

218

subsidiaries (Cont ')

Bohu Holdings

BEER
2021 2020
—B-—&F —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FAT
Revenue Wz 42 85
Loss for the year FEEE (6,790) (1,746)
Loss attributable to owners KRG AEIGEE
of the Company (2,048) (454)
Loss attributable to the non-controlling & 12 i% 2 ZEHE A 25
interests of Bohu Holdings FEIRES1R (569) -
Loss attributable to the non-controlling & T42A% BB A 7] 2 JEFE i 5
interests of Bohu Holdings’ FE1G B8
subsidiaries (4,173) (1,292)
Loss for the year FEBE (6,790) (1,746)
Other comprehensive loss attributable 7N B1HEA A FELS
to owners of the Company HEh2mEiE (58) (160)
Other comprehensive loss attributable &5 8% ~ FEFZERR #E 25
to the non-controlling interests e EMEEEE
of Bohu Holdings (11) =
Other comprehensive loss attributable &5 Bk B A 7] 2 FEIERRAE RS
to the non-controlling interests EIEEMEEEE
of Bohu Holdings’ subsidiaries (18) 62
Other comprehensive loss for the year AN E Hith 2 E &8 (87) (98)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

36. SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Summarised financial information of material

subsidiaries (Cont ')

For the year ended

31 December 2021

HE_Z-—Ft+-_A=t—RHIEFE

36. MIBAT(#)

EXMBATZHMBERRE(E)

Bohu Holdings

BEER
2021 2020
—¥-—F _"T_TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FAT
Total comprehensive loss attributable R EHER A
to owners of the Company FHEEBEE (2,106) (614)
Total comprehensive loss attributable BRI R
to the non-controlling interests [EIE R EEIRERE
of Bohu Holdings (580) -
Total comprehensive loss attributable TR B 2 AR
to the non-controlling interests of ElEEEERERE
the Group of Bohu Holdings (4,191) (1,230)
Total comprehensive loss for the year AFEEHGELE (6,877) (1,844)
Dividend paid to non-controlling BT ER 2
interests of Bohu Holdings FEIE AR 2R BV AR B = =
Net cash inflow from operating activities &&EBAEIRS RAFEE 1,672 111
Net cash outflow from investing activities #&/EE TSR &R H F5E (4,508) (45)
Net cash inflow from financing activities EY&/EBFISIRE R AEEE 2,770 =
Net cash (outflow)/inflow Be(RL)/ RAFRE (66) 66

SHAE(ER)ARAR | —%

——FEH 9219
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

36. SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

36.

Summarised financial information of material

subsidiaries (Cont ')

FtBAE (&)
EXMBATZHMBERRE(E)

Jiangsu Bohu

LR IET

2021 2020
—B-—F _—_T_THF
HK$’000 HK$’000

FH#IT T
Current assets MENE E 17,967 —
Non-current assets EMENEE 67 —
Current liabilities REAE (18,717) -
Net liabilities BEFE (683) —
Equity attributable to owners PAN/NETE S DN ey ey
of the Company (348) -
Non-controlling interests TLERE T 2 SRR I A
of Jiangsu Bohu (335) -

Jiangsu Bohu

LR ET

2021 2020
—EB-—F —ZT-FTF
HK$’000 HK$ 000

THER FAT

Revenue Iz 1,971 —
Loss for the year FEEE (671) =
Loss attributable to owners KRAEIHEB AEGEE

of the Company (342) -
Loss attributable to the non-controlling JIEI&ET < FEFERAE =

interests of Jiangsu Bohu FE1hE51E (329) -
Loss for the year FEHB (671) -
Other comprehensive loss attributable XA &7 A A JEL

to owners of the Company H b2 mEEE (6) -
Other comprehensive loss attributable T & T~ FEiEAt RS

to the non-controlling interests FEMEE M2 EEE

of Jiangsu Bohu (6) -
Other comprehensive loss for the year NG Hth 2 E &8 (12) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—Ft+-_A=t—RHIEFE
36. SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d) 36. MBAT (&)
Summarised financial information of material EXMBASIZHMBEEHEE(E)
subsidiaries (Cont ')
Jiangsu Bohu
IERIBT
2021 2020
—B-—F _—_T_TF
HK$’000 HK$’000

THET T

Total comprehensive loss attributable 242 5B AFENL

to owners of the Company FHEEB%E (348) -
Total comprehensive loss attributable L& 2 FEEE A AE 5

to the non-controlling interests e EEERE

of Jiangsu Bohu (335) -
Total comprehensive loss for the year A& 2 mHEEESE (683) -
Dividend paid to non-controlling SRIEET 2

interests of Jiangsu Bohu SRR HIAR R = =
Net cash outflow from operating LEEESMEREe R FR

activities (2,627) -
Net cash outflow from KEFEBMERSME TR

investing activities (8,644) -
Net cash inflow from financing BB ERE TSR R AFEE

activities 13,335 —
Net cash inflow REMANFHE 2,064 -

SHEEGER)ERART | —2-—FE8 299



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—F+-_A=t—RHIEFE

36. SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd) 36. fBAT (&)

Summarised financial information of material
subsidiaries (Cont ')
The table below shows details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Group that has material non-
controlling interests:

EXMBATIZHMBERBE(E)

TRIVREBERFERERNAEE
FEEHERAMBARIFS

Place of
incorporation Proportion of ownership
and principal interests and voting
place rights held by (Loss)/Profit allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary of business non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
MR FERERRE RARRR AR FERERN
HEADLR TRESHE RSN & (B8) /%H ZitHnRES
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
i b “RoEE Z85=-% 3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
FEL TEn FERL T
Group of Bohu Holdings RTAREE PRC# 49% 49% (4,742) (1,29 (2,964) 1,821
Jiangsu Bohu TEET PRC 49% - (329) - (335) -
Individually immaterial subsidiaries  [ERIFEAKBLE (541) 22)
(3,840) 1,799

Acquisition of non-controlling interests in
subsidiaries

During the year, the Group had some group
restructuring in Bohu Holdings and its subsidiaries.
The Group had acquired 51% equity interest of
Bohu Media (Guangzhou) Company Limited (“Bohu
Media”) from its subsidiary — Bohu Holdings and
acquired 48% equity interest of Bohu Media from
the non-controlling interests of Bohu Holdings at the
consideration of RMB1 (equivalent to HK$1). And,
the Group acquired the remaining 1% equity interest
of Bohu Media through Bohu e-commerce. After
transaction was completed, the Group’s effective
interest on Bohu Media was changed from originally
26.01% to 99.51%.

And, the Group had acquired 51% equity interest
of Bohu e-commerce from its subsidiary — Bohu
Holdings at the consideration of RMB1 (equivalent to
HK$1). After transaction was completed, the Group’s
effective interest on Bohu e-commerce was changed
from originally 26.01% to 51%.

92929 Asian Capital Resources (Holdings) Limited | Annual Report 2021
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36.

37.

38.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Acquisition of non-controlling interests in
subsidiaries (Cont’d)

An amount of HK$700,000 (being the proportionate
share of the carrying amount of net liabilities of Bohu
Media and Bohu e-commerce) has been transferred
from non-controlling interests. The difference of
HK$700,000 between the decrease in deficit of the
non-controlling interests and the consideration paid
has been debited to accumulated losses.

ASSOCIATES
Particulars of the associates are as follows:

HEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z-—Ft+-_A=t—RHIEFE

36. MEBAT (#)
B T 8 = B AR ()

700,000 7T B & 58 (Al tE 199145 Bohu
Media X BT EFHEFEHBEFERA
B)E 5 IFIER S ER - RIS
TRFR A BB AR E 2 700,000 %
TR EEERTARGTER °

I

ay

37. BEAT
i /NG == (I N

i

Proportion of interest

Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid held by the Company
NS i
operation share capital FATREZREHH
Name EEd e ST Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
21 EEnE REERE EE HE TEEHR
Best Concept Limited Hong Kong HK$10 - 40%  Property investment
EFaRERARF BE 1087 MERE
ACR Singpoli Capital The British Virgin US$100 = 50% Inactive
Management Ltd. Islands 100%E T mEB
KBRS
ACR Sihai Capital Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 50%  Inactive
Management Limited = 1,000,000/ 7¢ mEG

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These consolidated financial statements were
approved and authorised for issue by the Company’s
Board of Directors on 14 April 2022.

38. BAFERFT 24
WEGAUBRERENR -_E-__FWA
T BEARARESS I AT -
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The table set out below summaries the results and the TREMASEERN BT AEMREE 28
assets, liabilities and non- controlling interests of the BE - BERIEEREZ - HirE NEE XA
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the EFEL T 2 RE MK B EWIEL
Group's published consolidated financial statements of the = BZM Rz 2 HBH -

respective years. This summary is not part of the audited

financial statements.

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
ZBI—F —T-TF —TNF T\ —FLF
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FHET TET TET TET TET

Results E-$
Revenue Wz 31,695 14,354 17,998 25,800 22,050
Loss attributable to AKRaHEB A

owners of FE(EE1E

the Company (9,927) (12,521)  (56,268) (57,383)  (40,872)

Assets and liabilities ZBEREE

Total assets BELRRE 44,945 46,599 59,135 148,276 196,145
Total liabilities BEeE (50,277)  (35,696) (139,270) (172,438) (166,929)
Net (iabilities)/assets (afE) AEFE (5,332) 10,903  (80,135) (24,162) 29,216
Non-controlling interests ~ 3F# AR 25 3,840 (1,799) 1 1 1
(Capital deficiency)/ NAEIHEB AEL

Equity attributable (BAREAL, s

to the owners of

the Company (1,492) 9,104 (80,134) (24,161) 29,217
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